TESI DI DOTTORATO

Faenia Vaia

Response solutions for quasi-periodically forced systems with arbitrary nonlinearities and frequencies in the presence of strong dissipation

Dottorato in Matematica, Roma Tre (2020). <http://www.bdim.eu/item?id=tesi_2020_VaiaFaenia_1>

L'utilizzo e la stampa di questo documento digitale è consentito liberamente per motivi di ricerca e studio. Non è consentito l'utilizzo dello stesso per motivi commerciali. Tutte le copie di questo documento devono riportare questo avvertimento.

bdim (Biblioteca Digitale Italiana di Matematica) SIMAI & UMI http://www.bdim.eu/



Dipartimento di Matematica e Fisica

Response solutions for quasi-periodically forced systems with arbitrary nonlinearities and frequencies in the presence of strong dissipation

Tesi di dottorato in matematica XXXII ciclo

Candidato: Faenia Vaia

Firma:_____

Relatore di tesi: Prof. Guido Gentile

Firma:_____

Coordinatore: Prof. Angelo Felice Lopez

Firma:_____

Anno Accademico 2018-2019, Dipartimento di Matematica e Fisica, Università degli Studi Roma Tre Largo San Leonardo Murialdo 1, 00146, Roma

Contents

1	Intr	roduction	3
	1.1	Hypotheses on the system	4
	1.2	A brief review on the literature	5
	1.3	Main results	6
	1.4	Some related results	8
2	Set	ting of the problem	11
	2.1	Tree formalism	12
3	Pro	of of Theorem 1	17
	3.1	Bounds on the propagators	17
	3.2	An estimate for $\mathscr{V}(\vartheta)$	20
	3.3	Convergence of the renormalized expansion	25
	3.4	The renormalized expansion as a solution of (1.1)	26
	3.5	The bifurcation equation	28
4	A r	eview on continued fractions	32
	4.1	Some properties of the convergents	34
	4.2	Best rational approximations	38
	4.3	Diophantine vectors and continued fractions	40
	4.4	The Bryuno function	41
5	Pro	of of Theorem 2	46
	5.1	Preliminaries for the proof of Theorem 2	46
	5.2	A bound for $\mathscr{V}(\vartheta)$ in the case of a generic odd $\mathfrak{n} \geq 3$	50
	5.3	Convergence of the Renormalized Expansion	61
	5.4	The bifurcation equation	63
	5.5	Final comments	67

Α	Theorem 2: the case $n = 3$	70
В	Zeroes of even order	80
Bil	oliography	81

Chapter 1

Introduction

Consider a one-dimensional system subject to a mechanical force g, in the presence of large dissipation and of a quasi-periodic forcing term f. The system is described by the following singular ordinary differential equation in \mathbb{R} :

$$\varepsilon \ddot{x} + \dot{x} + \varepsilon g(x) = \varepsilon f(\omega t), \tag{1.1}$$

where ε is a small real positive parameter and $\omega \in \mathbb{R}^d$, $d \in \mathbb{N}$, is the frequency vector of the forcing. We are interested in systems with large dissipation: the inverse of the perturbation parameter $\gamma = 1/\varepsilon$ stands for the damping coefficient that is large if ε is supposed to be small. Therefore we can rewrite (1.1) as

$$\ddot{x} + \gamma \dot{x} + g(x) = f(\omega t). \tag{1.2}$$

Contrary to [68], since ε is small, no smallness condition is assumed on the forces f and g: we just assume $g : \mathbb{R} \to \mathbb{R}$ and $f : \mathbb{T}^d \to \mathbb{R}$ to be real analytic functions with $t \to f(\boldsymbol{\omega} t)$ quasi-periodic in time. Denote by Σ_{ξ} the strip on \mathbb{T}^d of width ξ where the quasi-periodic forcing term f is analytic. Here and in the following \mathbb{T}^d denotes the d-dimensional torus, i.e. $\mathbb{T}^d = (\mathbb{R}/2\pi\mathbb{Z})^d$.

Systems of the form (1.1) have a great relevance in at least four different contexts of classical mechanics and electronic engineering.

- 1. The dynamics of a point mass moving in one dimension subject to a nonlinear force, by taking suitable mass units, is described by the second order equation $\ddot{x} + g(x) = 0$; by adding a dissipation term proportional to the velocity and a forcing term, one obtains equation (1.1) – see [8, 20, 41, 47, 48, 73] and the references therein.
- 2. Equation (1.1) with $g(x) = x^{\mu}$, provided $\mu > 1$ and x(t) > 0 for all t, describes a simple electronic circuit known as the resistor-inductor-varactor circuit. The varactor is a particular type of diode, which is a nonlinear electronic device analogous to a nonlinear spring, where x is the extension and typically $\mu \in [1.5, 2.5]$. The

mechanical analogies of the resistor and the inductor are, respectively, a source of linear damping and a constant mass. The full model for this circuit, i.e. one in which the restriction x > 0 is removed, possesses a nonlinearity of a different form: $c_1 \exp(c_2|x|), c_1, c_2$ constants, for $x \leq 0$ and has been extensively studied, see for instance [4, 5, 6, 61, 62, 69, 70].

- 3. Studies of ship roll and capsize motivated the investigations of the behaviour of the ODE $\ddot{x} + \gamma \dot{x} + x x^2 = F \sin(\omega t)$, with F > 0, which is equation (1.1) with $f(\omega t) = F \sin(\omega t)$ and $g(x) = x x^2$, see [23, 67].
- 4. Stationary wave solutions of a perturbed Korteweg-de Vries (kdV) equation are described by a special case of equation (1.2), see [15]. In fact, consider a perturbed (KdV) equation $u_{\tau} + cu_{\xi} + \beta u_{\xi\xi\xi} = f(u, \xi V\tau)_{\xi}$, where $f(u, \xi V\tau) = f_0 \cos(\omega(\xi V\tau))_{\xi}$ and the subscripts refer to partial differentiation. Then by taking the standard transformation $\xi' \rightarrow \xi V\tau$, $\tau' \rightarrow \tau$, one obtains $\beta u_{\xi'\xi'} vu + u^2/2 = f_0 \cos \omega \xi' + C$ in the steady state $(u_{\tau'} = 0)$, with $v = V \pm c$ and C a constant of integration. Finally, re-naming ξ' as t, we again obtain equation (1.2) with $f(\omega t) = (C + f_0 \cos(\omega t))/\beta$, $\gamma = 0$ and $g(u) = (-vu + u^2/2)/\beta$.

We also refer to [3, 26, 32, 33, 40, 72] and references quoted therein for a more detailed physical motivation.

1.1 Hypotheses on the system

We want to prove the existence of response solutions for (1.1), i.e. quasi-periodic solutions with the same frequency vector as the forcing term. Notice that if $\varepsilon = 0$, any constant $c \in \mathbb{R}$ is a solution to (1.1). In particular we want to study whether it is possible to choose the constant c in such a way that, for small value of ε , response solutions exist and go to c as ε tends to zero. In general, this cannot be achieved without requiring some non-degeneracy condition involving the functions f and g.

Hypothesis 1 (Non-degeneracy condition). There exists $c \in \mathbb{R}$ such that x = c is a zero of odd order \mathfrak{n} of the equation

$$g(x) = f_0, \tag{1.3}$$

where $f_{\mathbf{0}}$ is the average of the function f on the d-dimensional torus. Equivalently, one has $g(c) = f_{\mathbf{0}}, \frac{d^{\mathfrak{n}}g(c)}{dx^{\mathfrak{n}}} \neq 0$ and $\frac{d^{j}g(c)}{dx^{j}} = 0$ for $j = 1, \ldots, \mathfrak{n} - 1$.

Remark 1.1. Hypothesis 1 is a necessary condition: indeed if this hypothesis is not satisfied, in general there is no response solution reducing to c as ε tends to zero, see Lemma B.1 in Appendix B for a detailed proof.

Hypothesis 2 (Non-resonance condition). The frequency vector $\boldsymbol{\omega}$ has rationally independent components, that is $\boldsymbol{\omega} \cdot \boldsymbol{\nu} \neq 0 \quad \forall \boldsymbol{\nu} \in \mathbb{Z}^d_* := \mathbb{Z}^d \setminus \{\mathbf{0}\}.$

Remark 1.2. Hypothesis 2 is not restrictive: in fact if $\boldsymbol{\omega}$ is resonant, one can always reduce to the case of $\boldsymbol{\omega}$ with rationally independent components by changing the value of the dimension d, in the following way. If $\boldsymbol{\omega} \in \mathbb{R}^d$ is resonant with multiplicity r < d, i.e if there is a rank r subgroup G of \mathbb{Z}^d such that $\boldsymbol{\omega} \cdot \boldsymbol{\nu} = 0$ for all $\boldsymbol{\nu} \in G$ and $\boldsymbol{\omega} \cdot \boldsymbol{\nu} \neq 0$ for all $\boldsymbol{\nu} \in \mathbb{Z}^d \setminus G$, then, after a transformation, $\boldsymbol{\omega}$ can be written as $\boldsymbol{\omega} = (\boldsymbol{\omega}', \mathbf{0})$, such that $\boldsymbol{\omega}' \in \mathbb{R}^{d'}$, with d' = d - r, has rationally independent components and the function f may be seen as a function on $\mathbb{T}^{d'}$ of the form $f(\boldsymbol{\omega}t) = \tilde{f}(\boldsymbol{\omega}'t)$.

1.2 A brief review on the literature

The existence of response solutions to (1.1) are widely studied in literature when the frequency vector $\boldsymbol{\omega}$ satisfies a non-resonance condition stronger than Hypothesis 2. In order to clarify what follows, we recall the definitions of Diophantine vectors and Bryuno vectors (see [19]).

We say that $\boldsymbol{\omega} \in \mathbb{R}^d$ is a Diophantine vector if it satisfies the standard Diophantine condition $|\boldsymbol{\omega} \cdot \boldsymbol{\nu}| \geq C_0 |\boldsymbol{\nu}|^{-\tau}$, where $|\boldsymbol{\nu}| \equiv |\boldsymbol{\nu}|_1 = |\nu_1| + \cdots + |\nu_d|$, for all $\boldsymbol{\nu} \in \mathbb{Z}^d_*$ and for some positive constants C_0, τ with $\tau > d-1$. Here and henceforth we denote by \cdot the standard scalar product in \mathbb{R}^d .

Define

$$\mathfrak{B}(\boldsymbol{\omega}) := \sum_{k=0}^{\infty} \frac{1}{2^k} \log \frac{1}{\alpha_k(\boldsymbol{\omega})}, \quad \alpha_k(\boldsymbol{\omega}) := \inf\{|\boldsymbol{\omega} \cdot \boldsymbol{\nu}| : \boldsymbol{\nu} \in \mathbb{Z}^d \text{ such that } 0 < |\boldsymbol{\nu}| \le 2^k\}.$$
(1.4)

The vector $\boldsymbol{\omega} \in \mathbb{R}^d$ satisfies the Bryuno condition if $\mathfrak{B}(\boldsymbol{\omega}) < \infty$. Notice that the Diophantine condition is stronger than the Bryuno one: in fact if $\boldsymbol{\omega}$ is a Diophantine vector, then it also satisfies the Bryuno condition, whereas the converse is false, see Section 4.4 of [60] for an example of a Bryuno number which is not Diophantine.

In [41] a special case of (1.1), with $g(x) = x^2$, was considered. Response solutions were proved to exist in the case of analytic periodic forcing term (d = 1) by requiring only Hypothesis 1 with $\mathfrak{n} = 1$ and in the case of quasi-periodic forcing term by adding a Diophantine condition on $\boldsymbol{\omega}$ to deal with the small divisors problem. In [42] the same results were extended to equation (1.1) with g an analytic function satisfying Hypothesis 1 and in [9], by adding the constraint g'(c) > 0, it was proved that the solution describes a local attractor in the phase plane (x, \dot{x}) , which implies that there is a unique response solution to (1.1) in a neighbourhood of (c, 0). In [42] it was also proved that such solutions are Borel summable at the origin when the frequency vector is either any one-dimensional number (periodic case) or a two-dimensional vector satisfying the Diophantine condition with $\tau = 1$.

In [44, 46] response solutions were proved to exist under Hypothesis 1 with n > 1 and with ω satisfying the Bryuno condition.

In [20, 29] the hypothesis on the frequency vector considered in [44, 46] was weakened

further: define the sequence $\varepsilon_k(\omega)$ as $\varepsilon_k(\omega) := \frac{1}{2^k} \log \frac{1}{\alpha_k(\omega)}$, with $\alpha_k(\omega)$ as in (1.4) and assume that $\varepsilon_k(\omega)$ converges to zero (as $k \to \infty$). In particular in [20] Hypothesis 1 with $\mathfrak{n} = 1$ was considered and response solutions were produced through fixed point methods. Under this mild non-resonance condition, the response solution is C^{∞} in ε and analytic in a domain of the complex plane with boundary tangent to the origin, see [20, 28, 29].

If we consider Hypothesis 1 with $\mathfrak{n} = 1$, the existence of response solutions to (1.1) can be also obtained by only assuming Hypothesis 2 on the frequency vector $\boldsymbol{\omega}$, see [47] for the one dimensional case of (1.1), that is $x \in \mathbb{R}$, [48] for the extension of the results in [47] to the *m*-dimensional case $x \in \mathbb{R}^m$ and [73] for the cases of analytic, finitely differentiable and low regularity forcing (see below). Without any other condition on $\boldsymbol{\omega}$, only a continuous dependence of the solution on ε and analyticity in ε in a conical domain of the complex plane can be proved [20, 28, 47, 73].

In [47] the existence of response solutions was also demonstrated for more general equation

$$\varepsilon \ddot{x} + \dot{x} + \varepsilon h(x, \omega t) = 0 \tag{1.5}$$

with $h : \mathbb{R} \times \mathbb{T}^d \to \mathbb{R}$ a real analytic function, by assuming only Hypothesis 2 on $\boldsymbol{\omega}$ and requiring $h_{\mathbf{0}}(x)$ to have a simple zero c, that is the equivalent version of Hypothesis 1 with $\mathbf{n} = 1$; then this result was extended to the *m*-dimensional case in [48].

In [73] response solutions of (1.1) were proved to exist under weaker regularity assumptions on f and g: in the case of highly differentiable functions f and g, such as $f \in H^m$, with m > d/2, and $g \in C^{m+l}$, with $l = 1, 2, \ldots$, existence of the response solution is obtained under very weak assumptions of regularity on the forcing and on the mechanical force, such as f in the L^2 space and g Lipschitz continuous. The solutions were produced through methods of fixed point theorem, which also requires a smallness assumption either for f or for the nonlinear part of g.

1.3 Main results

This work aims to be a generalisation of [47], where the case of $\mathfrak{n} = 1$ is treated; we want to show a similar result of existence for (1.1) under the weaker Hypothesis 1 with $\mathfrak{n} > 1$. First of all, we confine ourselves to the case of f a trigonometric polynomial and we prove the following Theorem.

Theorem 1. Consider the ordinary differential equation (1.1) with f a trigonometric polynomial and assume Hypothesis 1 with $\mathfrak{n} > 1$. For any frequency vector $\boldsymbol{\omega} \in \mathbb{R}^d$ satisfying Hypothesis 2, there exists $\varepsilon_0 > 0$ such that for all $|\varepsilon| < \varepsilon_0$ there is at least one quasi-periodic solution $x(t) = c + X(\boldsymbol{\omega}t, \varepsilon)$ to (1.1) such that $X(\boldsymbol{\psi}, \varepsilon)$ is analytic in $\boldsymbol{\psi}$ and goes to zero as $\varepsilon \to 0$.

The same result is already contained in [29], but our proof is slightly simpler. In [29] the solution of (1.1) is written as a power series in a suitable parameter different from ε . In

order to bound the small divisors, a quantity α , depending on the order \mathfrak{n} (see Hypothesis 1) and on the degree N of the trigonometric polynomial, is introduced: $\alpha := \min\{|\boldsymbol{\omega} \cdot \boldsymbol{\nu}| : 0 < |\boldsymbol{\nu}| \leq (\mathfrak{n} + 1)N\}$. Then the power series is proved to be convergent provided $|\varepsilon| < \varepsilon_0$, with ε_0 small enough proportional to α : this requires a careful estimate of the relation between end nodes and lines (which are defined in Chapter 2) with propagators which can be bounded proportionally to α (we refer to Section II of [29] for details). Here we write the solution as a series which is not a power series expansion and use inductive estimates to prove that it converges provided $|\varepsilon| < \varepsilon_0$, with ε_0 small enough. To do that, we use renormalization group ideas and multiscale decomposition techniques: with respect to [29] we weaken the dependence on the degree N of the parameter α to which ε_0 is proportional by requiring $\alpha := \min\{|\boldsymbol{\omega} \cdot \boldsymbol{\nu}| : 0 < |\boldsymbol{\nu}| \leq \mathfrak{n}N\}$.

The generalisation of Theorem 1 to the case of f an analytic function is not as simple as one could think. In order to deal with the small divisors problem, we will confine ourselves to the two-dimensional case of frequency vectors and we will need the properties of continued fractions. We refer to [55, 57, 59, 63, 64] for a general overview on continued fractions. Without lost of generality, we will assume $\boldsymbol{\omega}$ to be of the form $\boldsymbol{\omega} := (1, \alpha)$, with $\alpha \in \mathbb{R} \setminus \mathbb{Q}$ (according to Hypothesis 2). Let A be a set, we denote by \overline{A} the closure of A.

Theorem 2. Consider the ordinary differential equation (1.1) with $\boldsymbol{\omega} = (1, \alpha)$, $\alpha \in \mathbb{R} \setminus \mathbb{Q}$, and assume Hypothesis 1 with $\mathfrak{n} > 1$. Let p_n/q_n be the convergents of α . Let C_2 be the fixed positive constant

$$C_2 = \frac{n+1}{4(n^2 + 2n - 1)}\xi,$$
(1.6)

and let C_1 be an arbitrary positive constant. Then there exist $\varepsilon_0 \in \mathbb{R}$ and $N_1, N_2 \in \mathbb{N}$, with ε_0 small and positive, such that

$$\frac{1}{(C_1 q_{N_1})^{\mathfrak{n}+1}} \le \varepsilon_0,\tag{1.7}$$

$$\frac{1}{(C_1 q_n)^{n+1}} \ge e^{-C_2 q_n}, \qquad \text{for } n \ge N_2 \tag{1.8}$$

and, by defining $N := \max\{N_1, N_2\}$ and I_n as the interval

$$I_n := \left[e^{-C_2 q_n}, (C_1 q_n)^{-\mathfrak{n} - 1} \right], \qquad \text{for } n \ge N,$$
(1.9)

for all $\varepsilon \in \overline{\bigcup_{n \ge N} I_n}$ there is at least one quasi-periodic solution $x(t) = c + X(\boldsymbol{\omega}t, \varepsilon)$ to (1.1), such that $X(\boldsymbol{\psi}, \varepsilon)$ is analytic in $\boldsymbol{\psi}$ in the strip $\Sigma_{\xi'}$ (with $\xi' < \xi/4$), is continuous in the sense of Whitney in ε , and goes to zero as $\varepsilon \to 0$.

We refer to [75] for the continuity –and differentiability– in the sense of Whitney, but in general if A is a closed set in the Euclidean space E and f(x) is a function defined and continuous in A, then this function can be extended so as to be continuous throughout E; see also [31], §125. See also refs. [7, 37] for a similar use of the notion of continuity in the sense of Whitney in different contexts. We will find a connection between the frequency and the perturbation parameter: the existence of response solutions can be proved for any frequency vector with some restriction in ε or for any ε but with some restriction on ω . As we can see from (1.9), once fixed N as in Theorem 2, the solution does not exist for all $|\varepsilon| < \varepsilon_0$: if we do not assume any condition on the frequency vector, there is in general no relation between $\frac{1}{(C_1q_{n+1})^{n+1}}$ and $e^{-C_2q_n}$, we refer to Chapter 4 for more details on the properties of q_n . It can happen that $\frac{1}{(C_1q_{n+1})^{n+1}} < e^{-C_2q_n}$. Therefore we might obtain response solutions to exist in a set with holes: the size of the holes depends on the frequency vector, in particular on the irrational number α and, as a consequence, on the convergents p_n/q_n .

The rest of the work is organised as follows: in Chapter 2 we set up the problem in the case of f a trigonometric polynomial and in Chapter 3 we prove the existence of response solutions to (1.1) under such an assumption on f. In Chapter 4 we highlight the main properties of continued fraction that we use to prove Theorem 2 in Chapters 5.1 and 5. For concreteness, a specific case of odd \mathfrak{n} ($\mathfrak{n} = 3$) is treated in Appendix A.

1.4 Some related results

Existence of quasi-periodic and almost-periodic solutions to ordinary differential equations – we refer to [11, 24, 35] for an introduction to almost periodic functions – in problems where no hypothesis is made on the frequencies has not been studied in the literature as extensively as in the case in which one requires some non-resonance condition such as the Diophantine or the Bryuno condition. For instance, in the framework of KAM theory, it is well known that, in general, the invariant tori of the unperturbed system which are close to resonances break up when the perturbation is switched on, see for example [13, 38]. Therefore, if one is looking for results holding for all frequencies one has to consider either conservative systems away from the KAM regime – see for instance [10, 11, 12] – or non-conservative systems.

Typically response solutions arise by bifurcation. Bifurcation phenomena have been widely investigated in the literature – for instance we could mention [16, 17, 51, 52], based on the singularity theory method. The method has been applied to the study of stable quasi-periodic solutions for periodically and quasi-periodically forced systems, especially in the conservative case – for example see [18, 53, 54]. In particular, quasi-periodically forced Hamiltonian oscillators are considered in [18], where the persistence of quasi-periodic solutions is studied in the case of resonance between the Diophantine frequency vector of the forcing and the proper normal-internal frequency: first, the Hamiltonian of the oscillator is written as a perturbation of an integrable one, which describes a suitable one-dimensional system (backbone system) and a collection of rotators; then, under some non-degeneracy assumptions, the behaviour of the full system is investigated according to the bifurcations of the backbone system.

In order to guarantee the existence of response solutions, a non-degeneracy condition is generally assumed on the unperturbed solution, usually a condition of hyperbolicity or exponential dichotomy – see for instance [14, 27, 34, 77]. For example in [14] an invariant torus bifurcates from the equilibrium point under a suitable assumption of hyperbolicity. Our point of view is different since the unperturbed bifurcating solution is not given a priori and it does not satisfy any stability or hyperbolicity condition: in fact, any constant c is a solution to (1.1) when $\varepsilon = 0$ and the existence of response solutions is proved for a special value of the constant, which is the odd order zero of the equation $g(x) = f_0$.

In [22, 50] the authors proved the existence of an almost periodic solution for the differential equation

$$\dot{x} = f(t, x, y, \varepsilon), \qquad \varepsilon \dot{y} = g(t, x, y, \varepsilon),$$
(1.10)

with $\varepsilon > 0$, $(x, y) \in \mathbb{R}^n \times \mathbb{R}^m$ and f, g almost periodic in time, by requiring some assumptions on the unperturbed almost periodic solution of the unperturbed system

$$\dot{x} = f(t, x, y, 0), \qquad 0 = g(t, x, y, 0)$$
(1.11)

and by requiring that the linearised equation associated to the system possesses an exponential dichotomy. Notice that equation (1.1) is a particular case of (1.10), but the point of view considered in [22, 50] is different since the problem is of hyperbolic type and no small divisors appear. In both papers the vectors f, g with the respective Jacobian matrices are supposed to be almost-periodic in time, continuous in (x, y, ε) and bounded. Analogous results for equations of the form (1.10) are also provided in [66] always in the almost periodic context, and in [1, 34, 36, 71, 76], in the periodic context. The assumption of exponential dichotomy on the linearised system was also applied to the studies of almost periodic solutions to regularly perturbed linear and nonlinear systems; see for example [27, 34, 56, 77].

As we said in the previous section, we will use the continued fraction theory to bound the small divisors in the case of analytic f: the continued fractions are widely used when the frequency is a Liouvillean vector, see for instance [58, 74]. In [58] the authors look for a response solution to the equation

$$\ddot{x} + \lambda^2 x = \varepsilon F(\boldsymbol{\omega}t, x, \dot{x}), \quad x \in \mathbb{R}, \quad \boldsymbol{\omega} = (1, \alpha), \ \alpha \in \mathbb{R} \setminus \mathbb{Q}, \tag{1.12}$$

where ε , λ are positive parameters and $F : \mathbb{T}^2 \times \mathbb{R} \times \mathbb{R} \to \mathbb{R}$ is a real analytic function satisfying the reversibility condition

$$F(\boldsymbol{\psi}, x, y) = F(-\boldsymbol{\psi}, x, -y). \tag{1.13}$$

Without assuming $\boldsymbol{\omega}$ to satisfy any strong non-resonant (Diophantine or Bryuno) conditions, the authors proved that for any closed interval $\mathcal{O} \subset \mathbb{R} \setminus \{0\}$ and any sufficiently small $\gamma > 0$, there exist $\varepsilon_0 > 0$ and a Cantor set $\mathcal{O}_{\gamma} \subset \mathcal{O}$ with Lebesgue measure $meas(\mathcal{O} \setminus \mathcal{O}_{\gamma}) = O(\gamma)$, such that if $0 < \varepsilon < \varepsilon_0$ and $\lambda \in \mathcal{O}_{\gamma}$, the quasi-periodically forced nonlinear oscillator described by (1.12) admits a response solution. The system considered in [74] is different with respect to (1.12) since the function F does not depend on \dot{x} . Both [58, 74] use the continued fractions theory and exploits the so-called CD-bridge between the denominators of the best rational approximation of a continued fraction, introduced by A. Avila, B. Fayad and R. Krikorian in [2]. With respect to [74], a modified KAM scheme is proposed in [58] to deal with the small divisors problem: in particular in [58], the authors impose the second Melnikov's condition for a Liouvillean frequency vector $\boldsymbol{\omega}$ by varying some parameters in \mathcal{O} . Notice that our problem is not the same as (1.12) since our system does not verify the reversibility condition in (1.13) and is a singular differential equation.

Chapter 2

Setting of the problem

Let us denote by $\Delta(c, \rho)$ the disk of center c and radius ρ in the complex plane.

By the assumption of analyticity on g, for any $c \in \mathbb{R}$ there exists $\rho_0 > 0$ such that $x \to g(x)$ is analytic in $\Delta(c, \rho_0)$. Then for all $\rho < \rho_0$, if we take c as in Hypothesis 1 and if we define $\Gamma := \max\{|g(x)| : x \in \Delta(c, \rho)\}$, one has

$$g(x) = g(c) + \sum_{p=\mathfrak{n}}^{\infty} g_p (x-c)^p, \quad g_p := \frac{1}{p!} \frac{\partial^p g}{\partial x^p}(c), \quad |g_p| \le \Gamma \rho^{-p},$$
 (2.1)

where we have used Cauchy's estimates for analytic functions.

Let us suppose that the quasi-periodic forcing term f is a trigonometric polynomial of degree N, that means $f_{\boldsymbol{\nu}} = 0$ for all $\boldsymbol{\nu} \in \mathbb{Z}^d$ such that $|\boldsymbol{\nu}| > N$. Hence if we define $\Phi := \max\{|f_{\boldsymbol{\nu}}| : |\boldsymbol{\nu}| \leq N\}$, we have

$$f(\boldsymbol{\psi}) = \sum_{\boldsymbol{\nu} \in \mathbb{Z}^d} f_{\boldsymbol{\nu}} e^{\mathbf{i}\boldsymbol{\nu} \cdot \boldsymbol{\psi}}, \qquad |f_{\boldsymbol{\nu}}| \le \Phi.$$
(2.2)

We shall see later how to modify the forthcoming analysis in order to discuss the case in which f is an analytic function containing all the harmonics.

Define

$$\alpha := \min_{0 < |\boldsymbol{\nu}| \le \mathfrak{n}N} |\boldsymbol{\omega} \cdot \boldsymbol{\nu}|; \tag{2.3}$$

by the assumption of irrationality on $\boldsymbol{\omega}$, cf. Hypothesis 2, one has $\alpha > 0$.

We are interested in the existence of response solutions to (1.1), i.e. solutions of the form

$$x(t,\varepsilon) = c + \zeta + X(\boldsymbol{\omega}t;\varepsilon,\zeta,c), \qquad (2.4)$$

where ζ is a value that has to be fixed and $\psi \to X(\psi; \varepsilon, \zeta)$ is a zero-average function. Since we are looking for quasi-periodic solutions $X(\psi; \varepsilon, \zeta)$, analytic in ψ , we can write (1.1) in Fourier space as

$$(\mathrm{i}\boldsymbol{\omega}\cdot\boldsymbol{\nu})(1+\mathrm{i}\varepsilon\boldsymbol{\omega}\cdot\boldsymbol{\nu})X_{\boldsymbol{\nu}}+\varepsilon[g(c+\zeta+X)]_{\boldsymbol{\nu}}=\varepsilon f_{\boldsymbol{\nu}}\qquad\boldsymbol{\nu}\neq\mathbf{0},$$
(2.5)

with

$$X(\boldsymbol{\omega}t;\varepsilon,\zeta,c) = \sum_{\boldsymbol{\nu}\in\mathbb{Z}^d_*} X_{\boldsymbol{\nu}} e^{\mathrm{i}\boldsymbol{\omega}\cdot\boldsymbol{\nu}t} \qquad X_{\boldsymbol{\nu}} \equiv X_{\boldsymbol{\nu}}(\varepsilon,\zeta,c),$$

where $\mathbb{Z}^d_* := \mathbb{Z}^d \setminus \{0\}$, provided for $\boldsymbol{\nu} = \mathbf{0}$ one has

$$[g(c+\zeta+X)]_{0} = f_{0}.$$
 (2.6)

We call (2.5) the range equation and (2.6) the bifurcation equation, see also [25, 49, 65]. We first study the range equation looking for a solution to (2.5), depending on the parameter ζ that is supposed to be close enough to zero. Then we analyse the bifurcation equation (2.6) and we try to fix ζ in order to make this equation to be satisfied as well.

In order to write the perturbation expansion of the response solutions, we use some graphical objects, that we call *trees*, which we describe below.

2.1 Tree formalism

A rooted tree ϑ is a graph with no cycle, such that all the lines are oriented toward a unique point, that we call root, which has only one incident line, the root line. All the points in ϑ , except the root, are called nodes. The orientation of the lines in ϑ induces a partial ordering relation (\preceq) between the nodes. Given two nodes v and w, we shall write $w \prec v$ every time v is along the path (of lines) which connects w to the root; we shall write $w \prec \ell$ if $w \preceq v$, where v is the unique node that the line ℓ enters, see figure 2.1. For any node v, denote by p_v the number of lines entering v.

Given a rooted tree ϑ , we call first node the node the root line exits and we denote by $N(\vartheta)$ the set of nodes, by $E(\vartheta)$ the set of end nodes, i.e. nodes v with $p_v = 0$, by $V(\vartheta) = N(\vartheta) \setminus E(\vartheta)$ the set of internal nodes and by $L(\vartheta)$ the set of lines. We impose the constraint $p_v \ge \mathfrak{n}, \forall v \in V(\vartheta)$. If for any discrete set A we denote by |A| its cardinality, we define the order of ϑ as $k \equiv k(\vartheta) := |N(\vartheta)|$. See [45] for a general overview on the tree formalism.

Given a rooted tree ϑ , for any node $w \in N(\vartheta)$ the line exiting w can be considered as the root line of a tree θ_w formed by the nodes $v \in N(\vartheta)$ such that $v \leq w$, by the lines which join such nodes and by the root line itself. Such a tree is called a *subtree* of ϑ with first node w.

We associate with each end node $v \in E(\vartheta)$ a mode label $\boldsymbol{\nu}_v \in \mathbb{Z}^d$ and we split $E(\vartheta)$ in two complementary sets: $E_0(\vartheta) = \{v \in E(\vartheta) : \boldsymbol{\nu}_v = \mathbf{0}\}$ and $E_1(\vartheta) = \{v \in E(\vartheta) : \boldsymbol{\nu}_v \neq \mathbf{0}\}$, in such a way that $E(\vartheta) = E_0(\vartheta) \sqcup E_1(\vartheta)$. With each line $\ell \in L(\vartheta)$ we associate a momentum $\boldsymbol{\nu}_\ell \in \mathbb{Z}^d$ with the conservation law

$$\boldsymbol{\nu}_{\ell} = \sum_{\substack{w \in E_1(\vartheta) \\ w \prec \ell}} \boldsymbol{\nu}_w, \tag{2.7}$$



Figure 2.1: An example of tree with 10 vertices, 7 end nodes $v_3, v_5, v_6, v_7, v_8, v_9, v_{10}$ and 3 internal nodes v_1, v_2, v_4 . According to the definition of *partial* ordering relation, $v_5 \prec v_2$ but there is no relation between v_5 and v_4 .

i.e. the momentum of the line ℓ is the sum of the mode labels associated with the end nodes preceding ℓ . Equivalently, by induction, the momentum of the line ℓ is the sum of the momenta of the lines entering v, if v is the node the line ℓ exits.

With each line $\ell \in L(\vartheta)$ we also assign a scale label $\widetilde{n}_{\ell} \in \{0, 1\}$. Generally one can consider the scale label as a number in \mathbb{Z} (we refer to [45] for a general overview on multiscale analysis) but, for the problem we are studying, we just need the scale label to be either zero or one.

Definition 2.1 (Labelled trees). We call labelled rooted tree a rooted tree with the labels associated with $N(\vartheta)$ and $L(\vartheta)$.

Definition 2.2 (Equivalent trees). We call equivalent two labelled rooted trees which can be transformed into each other by continuously deforming the lines in such a way that they do not cross each other.

In the following we shall consider only inequivalent labelled rooted trees and we denote by $\mathcal{T}_{k,\nu}$ the set of non-equivalent trees of order k and momentum ν associated with the root line.

Definition 2.3 (Cluster). A cluster T on scale \tilde{n} is a maximal set of nodes and lines connecting them such that all the lines have scales $\tilde{n}' \leq \tilde{n}$ and there is at least one line with scale \tilde{n} . The lines entering the cluster T and the possible unique line coming out from it (if existing at all) are called the external lines of the cluster T. Given a cluster T on scale \tilde{n} , we shall call $\tilde{n}_T := \tilde{n}$ the scale of the cluster. We call V(T), E(T) and L(T) the set of internal nodes, of end nodes and of lines of the cluster T respectively, with the convention that the external lines of T do not belong to L(T). In particular we denote with $E_1(T)$ and $E_0(T)$ the following sets: $E_1(T) := \{v \in E(T) : \boldsymbol{\nu}_v \neq \boldsymbol{0}\}$ and $E_0(T) := E(T) \setminus E_1(T)$.

According to the definition of scale label, we have two possibilities for \tilde{n}_T (i.e. $\{0,1\}$): notice that we will only deal with clusters on scale 0, because the only possible cluster on scale 1 is the whole tree $\mathcal{T}_{k,\nu}$ where there is at least one line on scale 1.

Definition 2.4 (Self-energy cluster and renormalized tree). We call self-energy cluster any cluster T (on scale 0) such that T has only one entering line that has the same momentum of exiting line. We denote by $\mathfrak{T}_{k,\nu}$ the set of renormalized trees in $\mathcal{T}_{k,\nu}$, i.e. of trees that do not contain any self-energy clusters and by \mathfrak{R}_0 the set of self-energy clusters (all on scale 0 by construction).

Notice that, by Definition 2.4, the mode labels associated with the end nodes in a self-energy cluster T are such that

$$\sum_{v \in E(T)} \boldsymbol{\nu}_v = \boldsymbol{0}$$

Let us introduce a *sharp partition of unity*: let χ and Ψ be functions defined on \mathbb{R}_+ , such that

$$\chi(x) := \begin{cases} 1 & \text{for } x < \frac{\alpha}{2}, \\ 0 & \text{for } x \ge \frac{\alpha}{2}, \end{cases} \quad \Psi(x) := \begin{cases} 0 & \text{for } x < \frac{\alpha}{2}, \\ 1 & \text{for } x \ge \frac{\alpha}{2}, \end{cases}$$
(2.8)

with α as in (2.3). Note that $\chi(x) + \Psi(x) = 1$, for all $x \in \mathbb{R}_+$.

We associate with each node $v \in N(\vartheta)$ a node factor

$$F_{v} := \begin{cases} -\varepsilon g_{p_{v}}, & v \in V(\vartheta), \\ \varepsilon f_{\boldsymbol{\nu}_{v}}, & v \in E_{1}(\vartheta), \\ \zeta, & v \in E_{0}(\vartheta), \end{cases}$$
(2.9)

and with each line $\ell \in L(\vartheta)$ a propagator

$$G_{\ell} \equiv G^{[\widetilde{n}_{\ell}]}(\boldsymbol{\omega} \cdot \boldsymbol{\nu}_{\ell}; \varepsilon, \zeta, c), \quad \widetilde{n}_{\ell} \in \{0, 1\},$$
(2.10)

where the functions $G^{[\tilde{n}_{\ell}]}(\boldsymbol{\omega} \cdot \boldsymbol{\nu}_{\ell}; \varepsilon, \zeta, c)$ are defined as follows. For $\boldsymbol{\nu}_{\ell} \neq \mathbf{0}$

$$G^{[0]}(\boldsymbol{\omega} \cdot \boldsymbol{\nu}_{\ell}; \varepsilon, \zeta, c) := \frac{\Psi(|\boldsymbol{\omega} \cdot \boldsymbol{\nu}_{\ell}|)}{\mathrm{i}\boldsymbol{\omega} \cdot \boldsymbol{\nu}_{\ell}(1 + \mathrm{i}\varepsilon\boldsymbol{\omega} \cdot \boldsymbol{\nu}_{\ell})},$$

$$G^{[1]}(\boldsymbol{\omega} \cdot \boldsymbol{\nu}_{\ell}; \varepsilon, \zeta, c) := \frac{\chi(|\boldsymbol{\omega} \cdot \boldsymbol{\nu}_{\ell}|)}{\mathrm{i}\boldsymbol{\omega} \cdot \boldsymbol{\nu}_{\ell}(1 + \mathrm{i}\varepsilon\boldsymbol{\omega} \cdot \boldsymbol{\nu}_{\ell}) - \mathcal{M}(\boldsymbol{\omega} \cdot \boldsymbol{\nu}_{\ell}; \varepsilon, \zeta, c)},$$
(2.11)

with

$$\mathcal{M}(\boldsymbol{\omega} \cdot \boldsymbol{\nu}_{\ell}; \varepsilon, \zeta, c) := \chi(|\boldsymbol{\omega} \cdot \boldsymbol{\nu}_{\ell}|) M(\boldsymbol{\omega} \cdot \boldsymbol{\nu}_{\ell}; \varepsilon, \zeta, c), \qquad (2.12a)$$

$$M(\boldsymbol{\omega} \cdot \boldsymbol{\nu}_{\ell}; \varepsilon, \zeta, c) := \sum_{T \in \mathfrak{R}_0} \mathscr{V}(T, \boldsymbol{\omega} \cdot \boldsymbol{\nu}_{\ell}; \varepsilon, \zeta, c), \qquad (2.12b)$$

$$\mathscr{V}(T, \boldsymbol{\omega} \cdot \boldsymbol{\nu}; \varepsilon, \zeta, c) := \left(\prod_{\ell \in L(T)} G_{\ell}\right) \left(\prod_{v \in V(T)} F_{v}\right),$$
(2.12c)

where $\mathscr{V}(T, \boldsymbol{\omega} \cdot \boldsymbol{\nu}_{\ell}; \varepsilon, \zeta, c)$ is called the value of the self-energy cluster T.

For $\boldsymbol{\nu}_{\ell} = \mathbf{0}$, we set $G_{\ell} = 1$ and for convenience we assign these lines the scale 0 only, that is $G^{[0]}(0; \varepsilon, \zeta, c) = G_{\ell} = 1$.

Remark 2.5. With the sharp partition considered above, a momentum ν identifies uniquely the scale \tilde{n} .

In order to simplify the notation we omit the dependence on the parameters ε, ζ, c in (2.10), (2.11), (2.12a), (2.12b) and (2.12c), hence, from now on, we will just write $G^{[0]}(\boldsymbol{\omega} \cdot \boldsymbol{\nu}), G^{[1]}(\boldsymbol{\omega} \cdot \boldsymbol{\nu}), \mathcal{M}(\boldsymbol{\omega} \cdot \boldsymbol{\nu}), \mathcal{M}(\boldsymbol{\omega} \cdot \boldsymbol{\nu}), \mathcal{V}(T, \boldsymbol{\omega} \cdot \boldsymbol{\nu}).$

Remark 2.6. Since we are considering only cluster on scale 0, the product over the lines in (2.12c) involves only propagators on scale 0, that means the formula of $\mathscr{V}(T, \boldsymbol{\omega} \cdot \boldsymbol{\nu})$ can be rewritten as

$$\mathscr{V}(T,\boldsymbol{\omega}\cdot\boldsymbol{\nu}) = \left(\prod_{\ell\in L(T)} G^{[0]}(\boldsymbol{\omega}\cdot\boldsymbol{\nu}_{\ell})\right) \left(\prod_{v\in V(T)} F_{v}\right).$$

Therefore the expressions of $\mathcal{M}(\boldsymbol{\omega} \cdot \boldsymbol{\nu})$ in (2.12a) and of $\mathscr{V}(T, \boldsymbol{\omega} \cdot \boldsymbol{\nu})$ in (2.12c) are well posed.

Now define the value of the renormalized tree ϑ as

$$\mathscr{V}(\vartheta) \equiv \mathscr{V}(\vartheta; \varepsilon, \zeta, c) := \left(\prod_{\ell \in L(\vartheta)} G_{\ell}\right) \left(\prod_{v \in V(\vartheta)} F_{v}\right)$$
(2.13)

and set

$$X_{\boldsymbol{\nu}}^{[k]} := \sum_{\vartheta \in \mathfrak{T}_{k,\boldsymbol{\nu}}} \mathscr{V}(\vartheta), \qquad (2.14)$$

- -

where $\mathfrak{T}_{k,\nu}$ denotes the set of all renormalized trees of order k and momentum ν associated with the root line, see Definition 2.4.

Finally we can define the *renormalized series* or *renormalized expansion* as

$$\bar{X}(\boldsymbol{\psi}) \equiv \bar{X}(\boldsymbol{\psi};\varepsilon,\zeta,c) := \sum_{\boldsymbol{\nu}\in Z^d_*} e^{\mathrm{i}\boldsymbol{\nu}\cdot\boldsymbol{\psi}}\bar{X}_{\boldsymbol{\nu}}, \quad \bar{X}_{\boldsymbol{\nu}} := \sum_{k=1}^{\infty} X^{[k]}_{\boldsymbol{\nu}}.$$
 (2.15)

Remark 2.7. In order to simplify the notation, we do not write the dependence on ε, c and ζ of the coefficients $X_{\nu}^{[k]}$ in (2.15).

Our goal is to prove that the series $\bar{X}(\psi; \varepsilon, \zeta, c)$ in (2.15) converges and solves the range equation (2.5), i.e.

$$i\boldsymbol{\omega}\cdot\boldsymbol{\nu}(1+i\boldsymbol{\omega}\cdot\boldsymbol{\nu})\bar{X}_{\boldsymbol{\nu}} = \varepsilon \left[f - g(c+\zeta+\bar{X})\right]_{\boldsymbol{\nu}},\tag{2.16}$$

for all $\boldsymbol{\nu} \neq 0$.

Chapter 3

Proof of Theorem 1

Let α be as in (2.3) and set η as $\eta := \max\{|\varepsilon|, |\zeta|\} = \max\{\varepsilon, |\zeta|\}$, since ε is real and positive.

3.1 Bounds on the propagators

Lemma 3.1. Given a tree ϑ , consider a self-energy cluster T in ϑ with momentum ν associated with its external lines and with order k_T . Then one has

$$|\mathscr{V}(T,\boldsymbol{\omega}\cdot\boldsymbol{\nu})| \le \rho\Gamma\,\bar{C}^{k_T}\,\varepsilon\,\eta^{k_T-1},\tag{3.1}$$

where \bar{C} is defined as

$$\bar{C} := \rho^{-1} \max\left\{\frac{2\Gamma}{\alpha}, \frac{2\Phi}{\alpha}, 1\right\},\tag{3.2}$$

with Γ, ρ as in (2.1) and Φ, α respectively as in (2.2), (2.3).

Proof. As we have discussed in Remark 2.6, we only deal with self-energy clusters on scale 0; hence we have

$$|\mathscr{V}(T, \boldsymbol{\omega} \cdot \boldsymbol{\nu})| \leq \prod_{\ell \in L(T)} |G^{[0]}(\boldsymbol{\omega} \cdot \boldsymbol{\nu}_{\ell})| \prod_{v \in V(T)} |F_v|.$$

If $\nu_{\ell} \neq 0$ and $\tilde{n}_{\ell} = 0$, by the sharp partition considered in (2.8), it follows that

$$|G^{[0]}(\boldsymbol{\omega}\cdot\boldsymbol{
u}_\ell)|\leq rac{1}{|\boldsymbol{\omega}\cdot\boldsymbol{
u}_\ell|}\leq rac{2}{lpha},$$

instead if $\boldsymbol{\nu}_{\ell} = \mathbf{0}$, one has $G^{[0]}(0) = 1$.

Therefore it follows that

$$\begin{aligned} |\mathscr{V}(T, \boldsymbol{\omega} \cdot \boldsymbol{\nu})| &\leq \Gamma^{|V(T)|} \Phi^{|E_1(T)|} \rho^{-(k_T - 1)} \left(\frac{2}{\alpha}\right)^{|V(T)| - 1 + |E_1(T)|} \varepsilon \, \eta^{|V(T)| - 1 + |E_1(T)| + |E_0(T)|} \\ &\leq \rho \Gamma \bar{C}^{k_T} \varepsilon \, \eta^{k_T - 1}, \end{aligned}$$

with \overline{C} as in (3.2).

Remark 3.2. The lines exiting end nodes in $E_1(\vartheta)$ are on scale 0 since f is a trigonometric polynomial. In fact, if we consider $v \in E_1(\vartheta)$ and the corresponding exiting line ℓ , by the definition of node factor (2.9) it follows that $|\boldsymbol{\nu}_{\ell}| \leq N$. Therefore, by using the definition of α in (2.3) we see $|\boldsymbol{\omega} \cdot \boldsymbol{\nu}_{\ell}| \geq \alpha > \frac{\alpha}{2}$, that implies the line ℓ to be on scale 0. This can be generalised as long as $|\boldsymbol{\nu}_{\ell}| \leq \mathfrak{n}N$.

Lemma 3.3. Given a tree ϑ , consider a self-energy cluster T in ϑ with momentum $\boldsymbol{\nu}$ associated with its external lines. For η small enough, one has

$$|\mathcal{M}(\boldsymbol{\omega}\cdot\boldsymbol{\nu})| \ge A\,\varepsilon\,\eta^{\mathfrak{n}-1},\tag{3.3}$$

with $\mathcal{M}(\boldsymbol{\omega} \cdot \boldsymbol{\nu})$ defined in (2.12a) and A a suitable positive constant depending on $\Phi, \Gamma, \rho, \alpha$, *i.e.* $A \equiv A(\Phi, \Gamma, \rho, \alpha)$, with Γ, ρ as in (2.1) and Φ, α respectively as in (2.2), (2.3).

Proof. A cluster T must contain at least \mathfrak{n} nodes, i.e. $k_T \geq \mathfrak{n}$. Indeed let us consider a tree with order $k \geq \mathfrak{n} + 1$, in which the root line, ℓ_0 , exits a node $v_0 \in V(\vartheta)$. By construction $p_{v_0} \geq \mathfrak{n}$, therefore a cluster T, if exists, must contain at least $\mathfrak{n} - 1$ lines on scale 0 entering v_0 and hence $\mathfrak{n} - 1$ nodes besides v_0 .

In particular, by the analysis above, we notice that if a self-energy cluster has only \mathfrak{n} nodes, then $\mathfrak{n} - 1$ of such nodes are in $E(\vartheta)$ and the external lines of the cluster exit/enter the same node, see Figure 3.1.



Figure 3.1: A cluster with n = 3 nodes.

We denote by $\mathcal{M}_{\mathfrak{n}}(\boldsymbol{\omega} \cdot \boldsymbol{\nu})$ the contributions to $\mathcal{M}(\boldsymbol{\omega} \cdot \boldsymbol{\nu})$ corresponding to self-energy clusters with \mathfrak{n} nodes and we denote by $\Delta \mathcal{M}(\boldsymbol{\omega} \cdot \boldsymbol{\nu})$ the other summands of $\mathcal{M}(\boldsymbol{\omega} \cdot \boldsymbol{\nu})$, see (2.12a) and (2.12b). Notice that $\mathcal{M}_{\mathfrak{n}}(\boldsymbol{\omega} \cdot \boldsymbol{\nu}) = \mathcal{M}_{\mathfrak{n}}(0)$, i.e. $\mathcal{M}_{\mathfrak{n}}(\boldsymbol{\omega} \cdot \boldsymbol{\nu})$ does not depend on $\boldsymbol{\nu}$ and is real. Hence we have

$$|\mathcal{M}_{\mathfrak{n}}(\boldsymbol{\omega}\cdot\boldsymbol{\nu})| \ge A_0 \varepsilon \Big[(X^{[1]} + \zeta)^{\mathfrak{n}-1} \Big]_{\mathbf{0}}, \tag{3.4}$$

for a suitable positive constant A_0 depending on $\Phi, \Gamma, \rho, \alpha$. The right hand term of (3.4) represents the contribution of the self-energy clusters with \mathfrak{n} nodes.

If $\zeta = o(\varepsilon)$, then

$$\left[(X^{[1]} + \zeta)^{\mathfrak{n}-1} \right]_{\mathbf{0}} \ge A_1 \varepsilon^{\mathfrak{n}-1},$$

for a suitable positive constant A_1 depending on Φ, α .

Analogously, if $\varepsilon = o(\zeta)$, then

$$\left[\left(X^{[1]} + \zeta \right)^{\mathfrak{n}-1} \right]_{\mathbf{0}} \ge A_2 \zeta^{\mathfrak{n}-1},$$

for a suitable positive constant A_2 depending on Φ, α .

If $\zeta = a\varepsilon + o(\varepsilon)$, with $a \neq 0$, then

$$\left[(X^{[1]} + \zeta)^{\mathfrak{n}-1} \right]_{\mathbf{0}} = \left[(X^{[1]} + a\varepsilon + o(\varepsilon))^{\mathfrak{n}-1} \right]_{\mathbf{0}} \\ \geq \left[(u^{[1]} + a)^{\mathfrak{n}-1} \right]_{\mathbf{0}} \varepsilon^{\mathfrak{n}-1} + o(\varepsilon^{\mathfrak{n}-1}) \\ \geq A_3 \varepsilon^{\mathfrak{n}-1},$$

with A_3 positive constant and where we have defined the function $u_{\nu}^{[1]}$ in such a way that $X_{\nu}^{[1]} = \varepsilon u_{\nu}^{[1]}$.

Hence we conclude that

$$|\mathcal{M}_{\mathfrak{n}}(\boldsymbol{\omega}\cdot\boldsymbol{\nu})| \ge \widetilde{A}_0 \varepsilon \eta^{\mathfrak{n}-1},\tag{3.5}$$

for a suitable positive constant \widetilde{A}_0 depending on A_0 , A_1 , A_2 , A_3 .

Therefore, from (3.5) and Lemma 3.1 applied to $\Delta \mathcal{M}(\boldsymbol{\omega} \cdot \boldsymbol{\nu})$, we have:

$$|\Delta \mathcal{M}(\boldsymbol{\omega} \cdot \boldsymbol{\nu})| < \widetilde{a}_1 \varepsilon \eta^{\mathfrak{n}} < \frac{|\mathcal{M}(\boldsymbol{\omega} \cdot \boldsymbol{\nu})|}{4}, \qquad (3.6)$$

for a suitable positive constant \tilde{a}_1 and for ε, η small enough.

Hence we obtain (3.3):

$$\begin{split} |\mathcal{M}(\boldsymbol{\omega} \cdot \boldsymbol{\nu})| &\geq |\mathcal{M}_{\mathfrak{n}}(\boldsymbol{\omega} \cdot \boldsymbol{\nu})| - |\Delta \mathcal{M}(\boldsymbol{\omega} \cdot \boldsymbol{\nu})| \\ &\geq \widetilde{a}_0 \varepsilon \eta^{\mathfrak{n}-1} - \widetilde{a}_1 \varepsilon \eta^{\mathfrak{n}} \\ &\geq A \varepsilon \eta^{\mathfrak{n}-1} \end{split}$$

for a suitable positive constants \tilde{a}_0 and \tilde{a}_1 depending on \tilde{A}_0 , ρ and \bar{C} and $A = \tilde{a}_0/2$. \Box

Lemma 3.4. For any $\ell \in L(\vartheta)$, one has

$$\begin{cases} |G^{[1]}(\boldsymbol{\omega} \cdot \boldsymbol{\nu}_{\ell})| \leq 4A^{-1}\varepsilon^{-1}\eta^{-\mathfrak{n}+1}, & \text{if } \boldsymbol{\nu}_{\ell} \neq \mathbf{0} \text{ and } \widetilde{n}_{\ell} = 1; \\ |G^{[0]}(\boldsymbol{\omega} \cdot \boldsymbol{\nu}_{\ell})| \leq \frac{2}{\alpha}, & \text{if } \boldsymbol{\nu}_{\ell} \neq \mathbf{0} \text{ and } \widetilde{n}_{\ell} = 0; \\ |G^{[0]}(\boldsymbol{\omega} \cdot \boldsymbol{\nu}_{\ell})| = 1, & \text{if } \boldsymbol{\nu}_{\ell} = \mathbf{0}; \end{cases}$$
(3.7)

where A is as in Lemma 3.3.

Proof. If $\boldsymbol{\nu}_{\ell} \neq \mathbf{0}$ and $\widetilde{n}_{\ell} = 1$, one has

$$|\mathrm{i}\boldsymbol{\omega}\cdot\boldsymbol{\nu}_{\ell}(1+\mathrm{i}\varepsilon\boldsymbol{\omega}\cdot\boldsymbol{\nu}_{\ell})-\mathcal{M}(\boldsymbol{\omega}\cdot\boldsymbol{\nu}_{\ell})|\geq rac{A\,\varepsilon\,\eta^{\mathfrak{n}-1}}{4}.$$

This can be proved as follows. Let $x = \boldsymbol{\omega} \cdot \boldsymbol{\nu}$. If $\varepsilon x^2 < \frac{|\mathcal{M}(x)|}{2}$, then

$$\begin{aligned} |\mathrm{i}x - (\varepsilon x^{2} + \mathcal{M}(x))| &\geq |\mathrm{i}x - (\varepsilon x^{2} + \mathcal{M}_{\mathfrak{n}}(0)) - \Delta \mathcal{M}(x))| \\ &\geq |\mathrm{i}x - (\varepsilon x^{2} + \mathcal{M}_{\mathfrak{n}}(0))| - |\Delta \mathcal{M}(x))| \\ &\geq |\varepsilon x^{2} + \mathcal{M}_{\mathfrak{n}}(0)| - |\Delta \mathcal{M}(x)| \\ &\geq \frac{|\mathcal{M}(x)|}{2} - \frac{|\mathcal{M}(x)|}{4} \geq \frac{A \varepsilon \eta^{\mathfrak{n}-1}}{4}, \end{aligned}$$

where we have used the bound (3.6) on $\Delta \mathcal{M}(x)$ and Lemma 3.3. If $\varepsilon x^2 > \frac{|\mathcal{M}(x)|}{2}$, again by using (3.6) and Lemma 3.3, one has

$$\begin{aligned} |\mathrm{i}x - (\varepsilon x^{2} + \mathcal{M}(x))| &\geq |\mathrm{i}x - (\varepsilon x^{2} + \mathcal{M}_{\mathfrak{n}}(0))| - |\Delta \mathcal{M}(x))| \\ &\geq |x| - |\Delta \mathcal{M}(x)| > \frac{\sqrt{A}}{4} \eta^{(\mathfrak{n}-1)/2} > \frac{A}{4} \varepsilon \eta^{\mathfrak{n}-1}, \end{aligned}$$

for η and ε small enough. Then the bound of $|G^{[1]}(\boldsymbol{\omega} \cdot \boldsymbol{\nu}_{\ell})|$ follows directly from the definition (2.11).

If $\nu_{\ell} \neq 0$ and $\tilde{n}_{\ell} = 0$, by the sharp decomposition considered in (2.8), it follows that

$$|G^{[0]}(\boldsymbol{\omega}\cdot\boldsymbol{
u}_\ell)|\leq rac{1}{|\boldsymbol{\omega}\cdot\boldsymbol{
u}_\ell|}\leq rac{2}{lpha}$$

If $\boldsymbol{\nu}_{\ell} = \mathbf{0}$, the last equation follows directly from the definition of $G^{[0]}(0)$.

3.2 An estimate for $\mathscr{V}(\vartheta)$

Set

$$C := \rho^{-1} \max\left\{\frac{2\Gamma}{\alpha}, \frac{\Phi}{\alpha}, \frac{4\Gamma}{A}, 1\right\}$$
(3.8)

where ρ, Γ are as in (2.1), Φ is as in (2.2), α as in (2.3) and A is the constant defined in Lemma 3.3.

The following results provide an estimate for $\mathscr{V}(\vartheta)$, with ϑ a renormalized tree.

Lemma 3.5. Let ϑ be a tree of order k = 1, that is $\vartheta \in \mathfrak{T}_{1,\nu}$. Then

$$|\mathscr{V}(\vartheta)| \le \rho C \begin{cases} \varepsilon, & \text{if } \nu \neq \mathbf{0}; \\ |\zeta|, & \text{if } \nu = \mathbf{0}. \end{cases}$$
(3.9)

Notice that when the order of the tree is 1, then $\mathcal{T}_{1,\nu} \equiv \mathfrak{T}_{1,\nu}$.



Figure 3.2: An example of trees with k = 1.

Proof. Let k = 1, that means there is only one node, v_0 , that is in particular an end node. There are two possibilities: $v_0 \in E_0(\vartheta)$ or $v_0 \in E_1(\vartheta)$, see Figure 3.2.

Since we are in the situation described in Remark 3.2, there are no small divisors associated with the root line. Hence if $\nu \neq 0$, the value of the tree is bounded by

$$|\mathscr{V}(\vartheta)| \le \Phi \frac{\varepsilon}{\alpha} \le \rho C \varepsilon, \tag{3.10}$$

while if $\boldsymbol{\nu} = 0$, one has

$$|\mathscr{V}(\vartheta)| = |\zeta| \le \rho C |\zeta|, \tag{3.11}$$

with C as in (3.8).

Remark 3.6. Since we are interested in studying the range equation, we require that the momentum of the root line is not zero. By construction, the momentum of every internal line is different from 0, as well.

Remark 3.7. In Remark 3.2, we have seen that if $|\boldsymbol{\nu}_{\ell}| \leq \mathfrak{n}N$, then $\tilde{n}_{\ell} = 0$. This also means that if a line $\ell \in L(\vartheta)$ is on scale 1 then $|\boldsymbol{\nu}_{\ell}| > \mathfrak{n}N$. Therefore if we consider an internal line ℓ , that by construction is such that $\boldsymbol{\nu}_{\ell} \neq 0$, see Remark 3.6, these are the possible cases:

- a) $|\boldsymbol{\nu}_{\ell}| \leq \mathfrak{n}N \quad (\Rightarrow \widetilde{n}_{\ell} = 0);$
- b) $|\boldsymbol{\nu}_{\ell}| > \mathfrak{n}N$ and $\widetilde{n}_{\ell} = 0;$
- c) $|\boldsymbol{\nu}_{\ell}| > \mathfrak{n}N$ and $\widetilde{n}_{\ell} = 1$.

Lemma 3.8. Let $\vartheta \in \mathfrak{T}_{k,\nu}$ be a renormalized tree of order $k \geq \mathfrak{n} + 1$ and momentum of the root line $\nu \neq 0$. Then

$$|\mathscr{V}(\vartheta)| \le \rho C^k \eta^{\gamma k + \beta} \qquad \gamma := \frac{1}{2\mathfrak{n} + 1}, \quad \beta := \frac{3\mathfrak{n}}{2\mathfrak{n} + 1}, \tag{3.12}$$

with ρ and C as in (2.1) and (3.8) respectively.

Proof. Let $\vartheta \in \mathfrak{T}_{k,\nu}$ with $k \ge \mathfrak{n} + 1$ and let v_0 be the first node, that is the node the root line exits. For any renormalized tree, we have the following structure:

- $\vartheta_1 \in \mathfrak{T}_{k_1, \boldsymbol{\nu}_{\ell_1}}, \ldots, \vartheta_m \in \mathfrak{T}_{k_m, \boldsymbol{\nu}_{\ell_m}}$ are *m* renormalized trees of order $k_j > 1$ with $j = 1, \ldots, m$ entering v_0 ;
- ℓ'_1, \ldots, ℓ'_s are s lines exiting end nodes in $E_1(\vartheta)$ and entering v_0 ;
- $\ell_1'', \ldots, \ell_r''$ are r lines exiting end nodes in $E_0(\vartheta)$ and entering v_0 ;
- $m + r + s \ge \mathfrak{n};$
- $m, r, s \ge 0;$
- $k = k_1 + \dots + k_m + r + s + 1;$
- $\boldsymbol{\nu} = \sum_{j=1}^{m} \boldsymbol{\nu}_{\ell_j} + \sum_{j=1}^{s} \boldsymbol{\nu}_{\ell'_j}.$

Each ϑ_j , for $j = 1, \ldots, m$, is represented by the graph element in Figure 3.3 as a line with label ν_{ℓ_j} exiting a ball with label (k_j) .





Then we can graphically represent the tree ϑ described above as depicted in Figure 3.4.

By induction, we assume that for any 1 < k' < k, (3.12) holds with k' instead of k. Moreover we use the first of (3.9) to bound the value of any element in Figure 3.4 composed by an end node $v'_j \in E_1(\vartheta)$ and the respective exiting line ℓ'_j and the second of (3.9) to bound the value of any element in Figure 3.4 formed by an end node $v''_j \in E_0(\vartheta)$ and the respective exiting line ℓ''_j .

We want to prove the bound in (3.12) for every possible choice of the momentum of the root line, as described in Remark 3.7.

Let us study the case a) of Remark 3.7, i.e. the case in which the root line has momentum $|\nu| \leq \mathfrak{n}N$.

By induction we have

$$\begin{aligned} |\mathscr{V}(\vartheta)| &\leq \rho^{m+r+s} C^{k-1} \frac{2\Gamma}{\alpha} \rho^{-(m+r+s)} \eta^{\frac{3mn+\sum_{i=1}^{m}k_i}{2n+1}} |\zeta|^r \varepsilon^{s+1} \\ &\leq 2\Gamma \alpha^{-1} C^{k-1} \eta^{\frac{k+3n}{2n+1}} \eta^{\frac{-s-r-1+3(m-1)n}{2n+1}+r+s+1} \\ &\leq \rho C^k \widetilde{C}_0^{-1} \eta^{\frac{k+3n}{2n+1}} \eta^{\frac{mn+2n(m+r+s)-n}{2n+1}}, \end{aligned}$$
(3.13)



Figure 3.4: Tree of order k representing the described structure.

where we have used Lemma 3.4 to bound the propagator of the root line and where we have defined

$$\widetilde{C}_0 := \max\left\{1, \frac{\Phi}{2\Gamma}, \frac{2\alpha}{A}, \frac{\alpha}{2\Gamma}\right\}.$$

Notice that $\widetilde{C}_0^{-1} \leq 1$.

As we can easily check, the bound in (3.12) holds, indeed:

$$\frac{m\mathfrak{n}+2\mathfrak{n}(m+r+s)-\mathfrak{n}}{2\mathfrak{n}+1} \ge \frac{2\mathfrak{n}^2-\mathfrak{n}}{2\mathfrak{n}+1} > 0.$$

The second case of Remark 3.7, b), is analogous to the case a), since the behaviour of the value of the tree is still described by (3.13).

In the case c), the root line is on scale 1. By induction and by Lemma 3.4 we have:

$$\begin{aligned} |\mathscr{V}(\vartheta)| &\leq \rho^{m+r+s} C^{k-1} \frac{4\Gamma}{A\varepsilon \eta^{\mathfrak{n}-1}} \rho^{-(m+r+s)} \eta^{\frac{3m\mathfrak{n}+\sum_{i=1}^{m}k_i}{2\mathfrak{n}+1}} |\zeta|^r \varepsilon^{s+1} \\ &\leq \rho C^k \, \widetilde{C}_1^{-1} \, \eta^{\frac{k+3\mathfrak{n}}{2\mathfrak{n}+1}} \, \eta^{\Delta(m,r,s)}, \end{aligned} \tag{3.14}$$

where we have defined \widetilde{C}_1 and $\Delta(m,r,s)$ as

$$\widetilde{C}_{1} := \max\left\{\frac{A}{2\alpha}, \frac{\Phi A}{4\Gamma\alpha}, 1, \frac{A}{4\Gamma}\right\} \ge 1,$$

$$\Delta(m, r, s) := \frac{m\mathfrak{n} + 2\mathfrak{n}(m + r + s) - 2\mathfrak{n}^{2} - 2\mathfrak{n}}{2\mathfrak{n} + 1}.$$
(3.15)

If $m + r + s \ge n + 1$ the thesis follows trivially as

$$\frac{m\mathfrak{n} + 2\mathfrak{n}(m+r+s) - 2\mathfrak{n}^2 - 2\mathfrak{n}}{2\mathfrak{n} + 1} \ge \frac{m\mathfrak{n}}{2\mathfrak{n} + 1} \ge 0.$$

If $m + r + s = \mathfrak{n}$ the argument is more delicate. In this case, $\Delta(m, r, s)$ reduces to

$$\Delta(m,r,s) = \frac{m\mathfrak{n} - 2\mathfrak{n}}{2\mathfrak{n} + 1},$$

where we have used $m + r + s = \mathfrak{n}$ in (3.15), so that the bound (3.12) trivially holds if $m \ge 2$, since $\Delta(m, r, s) \ge 0$ in such a case, whereas $\Delta(m, r, s)$ is negative if m = 0, 1. Since the root line is on scale 1, by construction $m \ge 1$. In fact, if m = 0 and hence $s + r = \mathfrak{n}$, we have

$$|\boldsymbol{\nu}| \leq \sum_{j=1}^{s} |\boldsymbol{\nu}_{\ell'_j}| \leq sN \leq \mathfrak{n}N,$$

that implies the root line is on scale 0, but this is not the case we are considering.

Thus, we have to study the case m = 1, i.e. when there is only one subtree $\vartheta_1 \in \mathfrak{T}_{k_1, \nu_{\ell_1}}$, with $k_1 > 1$, entering ν_0 . If m = 1, or equivalently $s + r = \mathfrak{n} - 1$, the scale of the line exiting the tree ϑ_1 cannot be 1, i.e. $\tilde{n}_{\ell_1} = 0$, as one can show by reasoning as follows. If both ℓ_0 , ℓ_1 are on scale 1, one has $|\boldsymbol{\omega} \cdot \boldsymbol{\nu}_{\ell_0}| < \frac{\alpha}{2}$ and $|\boldsymbol{\omega} \cdot \boldsymbol{\nu}_{\ell_1}| < \frac{\alpha}{2}$. Moreover we have $|\sum_{j=1}^{s} \boldsymbol{\nu}_{\ell'_j}| \leq \sum_{j=1}^{s} |\boldsymbol{\nu}_{\ell'_j}| \leq sN \leq \mathfrak{n}N$, that implies $|\boldsymbol{\omega} \cdot (\sum_{j=1}^{s} \boldsymbol{\nu}_{\ell'_j})| \geq \alpha$. Besides by construction

$$\alpha \leq |\boldsymbol{\omega} \cdot \left(\sum_{j=1}^{s} \boldsymbol{\nu}_{\ell_{j}'}\right)| = |\boldsymbol{\omega} \cdot (\boldsymbol{\nu}_{\ell_{0}} - \boldsymbol{\nu}_{\ell_{1}})| \leq |\boldsymbol{\omega} \cdot \boldsymbol{\nu}_{\ell_{0}}| + |\boldsymbol{\omega} \cdot \boldsymbol{\nu}_{\ell_{1}}| < \frac{\alpha}{2} + \frac{\alpha}{2} = \alpha,$$

that is impossible.

The analysis of the first case a) and the previous observation suggest that the bound for ϑ_1 can be improved. Suppose m' trees and s' + r' lines enter the first node of ϑ_1 , that we call v_1 . We denote by:

- $\vartheta'_1 \in \mathfrak{T}_{k'_1, \boldsymbol{\nu}_{\tilde{\ell}_1}}, \ldots, \vartheta'_{m'} \in \mathfrak{T}_{k'_{m'}, \boldsymbol{\nu}_{\tilde{\ell}_{m'}}}$, with $k'_j > 1$ for $j = 1, \ldots, m'$, the m' renormalized trees entering v_1 ;
- $\tilde{\ell}'_1, \ldots, \tilde{\ell}'_{s'}$ the s' lines exiting end nodes in E_1 and entering v_1 ;
- $\tilde{\ell}''_1, \ldots, \tilde{\ell}''_{r'}$ the r' lines exiting end nodes in E_0 and entering v_1 ;

with the following constraints:

- $\boldsymbol{\nu}_{\ell_1} = \sum_{j=1}^{m'} \boldsymbol{\nu}_{\widetilde{\ell}_j} + \sum_{j=1}^{s} \boldsymbol{\nu}_{\widetilde{\ell}'_j} \neq \mathbf{0};$
- $m' + r' + s' \ge \mathfrak{n};$

- $m', r', s' \ge 0;$
- $k_1 = \sum_{i=1}^{m'} k'_i + s' + r' + 1.$

Then, by induction and by reasoning as in obtaining (3.13), it follows that

$$\begin{aligned} |\mathscr{V}(\vartheta_1)| &\leq \rho C^{k_1} \eta^{\frac{3m'\mathfrak{n} + \sum_{i=1}^{m'} k'_i}{2\mathfrak{n}+1}} |\zeta|^{r'} \varepsilon^{s'+1} \\ &\leq \rho C^{k_1} \eta^{\frac{k_1 + 3m'\mathfrak{n} + 2r'\mathfrak{n} + 2s'\mathfrak{n} + 2\mathfrak{n}}{2\mathfrak{n}+1}} \\ &\leq \rho C^{k_1} \eta^{\frac{k_1 + 2\mathfrak{n}^2 + 2\mathfrak{n}}{2\mathfrak{n}+1}}, \end{aligned}$$

where in the last bound we have used that

$$\frac{k_1 + m'\mathfrak{n} + 2\mathfrak{n}(r' + s' + m') + 2\mathfrak{n}}{2\mathfrak{n} + 1} \geq \frac{k_1 + 2\mathfrak{n}^2 + 2\mathfrak{n}}{2\mathfrak{n} + 1}$$

Then, by using that $k_1 = k - r - s - 1 = k - \mathfrak{n}$, for m = 1 (3.14) can be improved into

$$\begin{aligned} |\mathscr{V}(\vartheta)| &\leq \rho^{1+r+s} C^{k_1+r+s} \, \rho^{-(1+r+s)} \, \eta^{\frac{k_1+2n^2+2n}{2n+1}} \, |\zeta|^r \, \varepsilon^{s+1} \, \frac{4\Gamma}{A\varepsilon \eta^{\mathfrak{n}-1}} \\ &\leq \rho C^k \widetilde{C}_1^{-1} \eta^{\frac{k_1+2n^2+2n}{2n+1}} = \rho C^k \widetilde{C}_1^{-1} \eta^{\frac{k+3n}{2n+1}} \eta^{\frac{2n^2-2n}{2n+1}} \end{aligned}$$

and the thesis follows since $\widetilde{C}_1^{-1}\eta^{\frac{2n^2-2n}{2n+1}} \leq 1$, for η small enough.

3.3 Convergence of the renormalized expansion

Lemma 3.9. For any $k \geq 1$ and $\boldsymbol{\nu} \in \mathbb{Z}^d_*$ one has

$$|X_{\nu}^{[k]}| \le \rho B^k \eta^{\frac{k+3n}{2n+1}},\tag{3.16}$$

where $B \equiv B(\Gamma, \rho, \Phi, A, N, \alpha)$ is a positive constant proportional to C, with C defined as in (3.8).

Proof. To bound the coefficients $X_{\boldsymbol{\nu}}^{[k]}$ defined in (2.14), we use the estimate in (3.12) and we sum over all trees in $\mathfrak{T}_{k,\boldsymbol{\nu}}$. Then notice that the sum over the mode labels $\boldsymbol{\nu} \in \mathbb{Z}^d$ in (2.14) can be bounded by $(2N+1)^{dk}$ and the assertion follows.

We have proved that the series described in (2.15) converges.

Corollary 3.10. The function $\bar{X}(\psi; \varepsilon, \zeta, c)$ is analytic in ψ in any strip Σ_{ξ} , provided η small enough (depending on ξ).

Proof. If we consider the set of renormalized trees in $\mathfrak{T}_{k,\nu}$, in particular we have that $|\nu| \leq kN$. Hence we rewrite (2.15) as

$$\sum_{k=1}^{\infty} \sum_{|\boldsymbol{\nu}| \le kN} X_{\boldsymbol{\nu}}^{[k]} e^{\mathbf{i}\boldsymbol{\nu}\cdot\boldsymbol{\psi}}$$

and by using the bound on the Fourier coefficients given by Lemma 3.9, we have

$$\Big|\sum_{k=1}^{\infty}\sum_{|\boldsymbol{\nu}|\leq kN} X_{\boldsymbol{\nu}}^{[k]} e^{\mathbf{i}\boldsymbol{\nu}\cdot\boldsymbol{\psi}}\Big| \leq \rho N \sum_{k=1}^{\infty} kB^k \eta^{\frac{k+3\mathfrak{n}}{2\mathfrak{n}+1}} e^{kN\xi},$$

that is convergent since η is supposed to be small. This also gives a lower bound of the radius of convergence.

3.4 The renormalized expansion as a solution of (1.1)

After proving that the renormalized expansion $\overline{X} \equiv \overline{X}(\psi; \varepsilon, \zeta, c)$, defined as in (2.15), converges, we still have to check that it is a solution of (1.1), i.e. that (2.16) is satisfied.

Write

$$\bar{X}_{\boldsymbol{\nu}} = \sum_{\tilde{n}=0}^{1} \bar{X}_{\boldsymbol{\nu},\tilde{n}}, \qquad \bar{X}_{\boldsymbol{\nu},\tilde{n}} = \sum_{k=1}^{\infty} \varepsilon^{k} \sum_{\vartheta \in \mathfrak{T}_{k,\boldsymbol{\nu},\tilde{n}}} \mathscr{V}(\vartheta), \qquad (3.17)$$

where $\mathfrak{T}_{k,\boldsymbol{\nu},\widetilde{n}}$ is the subset of $\mathfrak{T}_{k,\boldsymbol{\nu}}$ of the renormalized trees with root line on scale \widetilde{n} . Define

$$D_{\widetilde{n}}(x;\varepsilon,\zeta,c) := \mathrm{i}x(1+\mathrm{i}\varepsilon x) - \mathcal{M}^{[\widetilde{n}-1]}(x;\varepsilon,\zeta,c), \qquad \text{for } \widetilde{n} = 0,1, \qquad (3.18a)$$

$$\mathcal{G}(x;\varepsilon,\zeta,c) := \frac{1}{\mathrm{i}x(1+\mathrm{i}x)},\tag{3.18b}$$

with the convention that $\mathcal{M}^{[-1]}(x;\varepsilon,\zeta,c) = 0$ and $\mathcal{M}^{[0]}(x;\varepsilon,\zeta,c) = \mathcal{M}(x;\varepsilon,\zeta,c)$, with $\mathcal{M}(x;\varepsilon,\zeta,c)$ defined as in (2.12a). Again, in order to simplify the notation we write just $D_{\tilde{n}}(x), \mathcal{M}^{[\tilde{n}-1]}(x), \mathcal{G}(x)$ instead of $D_{\tilde{n}}(x;\varepsilon,\zeta,c), \mathcal{M}^{[\tilde{n}-1]}(x;\varepsilon,\zeta,c), \mathcal{G}(x;\varepsilon,\zeta,c)$.

According to this notation $G^{[0]}(x) = \Psi(|x|)/D_0(x)$ and $G^{[1]}(x) = \chi(|x|)/D_1(x)$, where $G^{[0]}(x)$ and $G^{[1]}(x)$ are defined as in (2.11).

If we define

$$\Omega(\boldsymbol{\nu};\varepsilon,\zeta,c) := \mathcal{G}(\boldsymbol{\omega}\cdot\boldsymbol{\nu})\varepsilon[f - g(c + \zeta + \bar{X}(\cdot;\varepsilon,\zeta,c))]_{\boldsymbol{\nu}}, \qquad (3.19)$$

then we have to prove that $\Omega(\boldsymbol{\nu}; \varepsilon, \zeta, c) = \bar{X}_{\boldsymbol{\nu}}$ for $\boldsymbol{\nu} \neq 0$.

Now we write explicitly the right hand side of (3.19)

$$\begin{aligned}
\mathcal{G}(\boldsymbol{\omega}\cdot\boldsymbol{\nu})\varepsilon[f-g(c+\zeta+\bar{X}(\cdot;\varepsilon,\zeta,c))]_{\boldsymbol{\nu}} &= \\
&= \mathcal{G}(\boldsymbol{\omega}\cdot\boldsymbol{\nu})(\Psi(|\boldsymbol{\omega}\cdot\boldsymbol{\nu}|)+\chi(|\boldsymbol{\omega}\cdot\boldsymbol{\nu}|))\varepsilon[f-g(c+\zeta+\bar{X}(\cdot;\varepsilon,\zeta,c))]_{\boldsymbol{\nu}} \\
&= \mathcal{G}(\boldsymbol{\omega}\cdot\boldsymbol{\nu})(D_{0}(\boldsymbol{\omega}\cdot\boldsymbol{\nu})G^{[0]}(\boldsymbol{\omega}\cdot\boldsymbol{\nu})+ \\
&+ D_{1}(\boldsymbol{\omega}\cdot\boldsymbol{\nu})G^{[1]}(\boldsymbol{\omega}\cdot\boldsymbol{\nu}))\varepsilon[f-g(c+\zeta+\bar{X}(\cdot,\varepsilon,\zeta,c))]_{\boldsymbol{\nu}}.
\end{aligned}$$
(3.20)

We now observe that

$$\begin{split} G^{[0]}(\boldsymbol{\omega}\cdot\boldsymbol{\nu})\,\varepsilon\,[f-g(c+\zeta+\bar{X}(\cdot,\varepsilon,\zeta,c))]_{\boldsymbol{\nu}} &= \sum_{k=1}^{\infty}\varepsilon^k\sum_{\vartheta\in\mathfrak{T}_{k,\boldsymbol{\nu},0}}\,\mathscr{V}(\vartheta),\\ G^{[1]}(\boldsymbol{\omega}\cdot\boldsymbol{\nu})\,\varepsilon\,[f-g(c+\zeta+\bar{X}(\cdot,\varepsilon,\zeta,c))]_{\boldsymbol{\nu}} &= \sum_{k=1}^{\infty}\varepsilon^k\sum_{\vartheta\in\mathfrak{T}_{k,\boldsymbol{\nu},1}^*}\,\mathscr{V}(\vartheta), \end{split}$$

where $\mathfrak{T}_{k,\nu,1}^*$ differs from $\mathfrak{T}_{k,\nu,1}$ as it contains also trees which can have one renormalized self-energy cluster on scale 0 with exiting line ℓ_0 , if ℓ_0 denotes the root line of ϑ . In fact if we analyse the contribution $G^{[1]}(\boldsymbol{\omega}\cdot\boldsymbol{\nu}) \varepsilon [f - g(c + \zeta + \bar{X}(\cdot,\varepsilon,\zeta,c))]_{\boldsymbol{\nu}}$, we notice it differs from $\bar{X}_{\nu,1}$, in as much it also contains an additional contribution that represents the self-energy cluster on scale 0 mentioned above:

$$\begin{aligned} G^{[1]}(\boldsymbol{\omega}\cdot\boldsymbol{\nu})\,\varepsilon\,[f-g(c+\zeta+\bar{X}(\cdot,\varepsilon,\zeta,c))]_{\boldsymbol{\nu}} &= \\ &= \sum_{k=1}^{\infty}\varepsilon^k\sum_{\vartheta\in\mathfrak{T}_{k,\boldsymbol{\nu},1}}\mathscr{V}(\vartheta) + G^{[1]}(\boldsymbol{\omega}\cdot\boldsymbol{\nu})M(\boldsymbol{\omega}\cdot\boldsymbol{\nu})\sum_{k=1}^{\infty}\varepsilon^k\sum_{\vartheta\in\mathfrak{T}_{k,\boldsymbol{\nu},1}}\mathscr{V}(\vartheta). \end{aligned}$$

By inserting this expression in (3.20), we obtain

$$\begin{split} \Omega(\boldsymbol{\nu};\varepsilon,\zeta,c) &= \mathcal{G}(\boldsymbol{\omega}\cdot\boldsymbol{\nu})\varepsilon[f-g(c+\zeta+\bar{X}(\cdot,\varepsilon,\zeta,c))]_{\boldsymbol{\nu}} = \\ &= \mathcal{G}(\boldsymbol{\omega}\cdot\boldsymbol{\nu})\Big(D_{0}(\boldsymbol{\omega}\cdot\boldsymbol{\nu})\sum_{k=1}^{\infty}\varepsilon^{k}\sum_{\vartheta\in\mathfrak{T}_{k,\boldsymbol{\nu},0}}\mathscr{V}(\vartheta) + D_{1}(\boldsymbol{\omega}\cdot\boldsymbol{\nu})\sum_{k=1}^{\infty}\varepsilon^{k}\sum_{\vartheta\in\mathfrak{T}_{k,\boldsymbol{\nu},1}}\mathscr{V}(\vartheta) + \\ &+ D_{1}(\boldsymbol{\omega}\cdot\boldsymbol{\nu})G^{[1]}(\boldsymbol{\omega}\cdot\boldsymbol{\nu})M(\boldsymbol{\omega}\cdot\boldsymbol{\nu})\sum_{k=1}^{\infty}\varepsilon^{k}\sum_{\vartheta\in\mathfrak{T}_{k,\boldsymbol{\nu},1}}\mathscr{V}(\vartheta)\Big) = \\ &= \mathcal{G}(\boldsymbol{\omega}\cdot\boldsymbol{\nu})\Big(D_{0}(\boldsymbol{\omega}\cdot\boldsymbol{\nu})\bar{X}_{\boldsymbol{\nu},0} + D_{1}(\boldsymbol{\omega}\cdot\boldsymbol{\nu})\bar{X}_{\boldsymbol{\nu},1} + D_{1}(\boldsymbol{\omega}\cdot\boldsymbol{\nu})G^{[1]}(\boldsymbol{\omega}\cdot\boldsymbol{\nu})M(\boldsymbol{\omega}\cdot\boldsymbol{\nu})\bar{X}_{\boldsymbol{\nu},1}\Big) = \\ &= D_{0}^{-1}(\boldsymbol{\omega}\cdot\boldsymbol{\nu})\Big(D_{0}(\boldsymbol{\omega}\cdot\boldsymbol{\nu})\bar{X}_{\boldsymbol{\nu},0} + (D_{1}(\boldsymbol{\omega}\cdot\boldsymbol{\nu}) + \chi(|\boldsymbol{\omega}\cdot\boldsymbol{\nu}|)M(\boldsymbol{\omega}\cdot\boldsymbol{\nu}))\bar{X}_{\boldsymbol{\nu},1}\Big) = \\ &= \bar{X}_{\boldsymbol{\nu},0} + \bar{X}_{\boldsymbol{\nu},1} = \bar{X}_{\boldsymbol{\nu}}, \end{split}$$

so that (2.16) follows.

Remark 3.11. Note that at each step only absolutely converging series have been dealt with, so that the above analysis is rigorous and not only formal.

3.5 The bifurcation equation

In order to conclude our analysis, we have to solve the bifurcation equation, described by (2.6), which can be studied by using Hypothesis 1. We start by providing an estimate for the value of the trees describing the bifurcation equation. Define $\mathscr{V}^*(\vartheta)$ as $\mathscr{V}(\vartheta)$ with the only difference that the node factor of the first node v_0 is $F_{v_0} = g_{p_{v_0}}$ (without the factor $-\varepsilon$ appearing in (2.9)).

Lemma 3.12. Let ϑ in $\mathfrak{T}_{k,\mathbf{0}}$, with $k \geq \mathfrak{n} + 1$. Then

$$|\mathscr{V}^*(\vartheta)| \le \rho \Gamma C^k \eta^{\frac{k+2n^2-1}{2n+1}},\tag{3.21}$$

with ρ , Γ as in (2.1) and C as in (3.8).

Proof. We refer to the proof of Lemma 3.8, in particular to Figures 3.3 and 3.4, for the construction and notations of the trees. Since the momentum of the root line is $\mathbf{0}$, by using Lemma 3.4 and Lemma 3.8, we bound the value of the tree as

$$\begin{split} |\mathcal{V}^{*}(\vartheta)| &\leq \Gamma \rho^{-(m+r+s)} C^{k-1} \rho^{m+r+s} \eta^{\frac{3m\mathfrak{n}+\sum_{i=1}^{m}k_{i}}{2\mathfrak{n}+1}} |\zeta|^{r} \varepsilon^{s} \\ &\leq \Gamma C^{-1} C^{k} \eta^{\frac{k-s-r-1+3m\mathfrak{n}}{2\mathfrak{n}+1}+r+s} \\ &\leq \rho \Gamma \hat{C}^{-1} C^{k} \eta^{\frac{k+m\mathfrak{n}+2\mathfrak{n}(m+r+s)-1}{2\mathfrak{n}+1}} \\ &\leq \rho \Gamma C^{k} \eta^{\frac{k+2\mathfrak{n}^{2}-1}{2\mathfrak{n}+1}}, \end{split}$$

with C as in (3.8) and Γ , ρ as in (2.1) and

$$\hat{C} := \rho C = \max\left\{\frac{2\Gamma}{\alpha}, \frac{\Phi}{\alpha}, \frac{4\Gamma}{A}, 1\right\} \ge 1.$$

. L	_	

If we define

$$\mathcal{H}(\varepsilon,\zeta) := [g(c+\zeta+\bar{X}(\cdot;\varepsilon,\zeta,c))]_{\mathbf{0}} - f_{\mathbf{0}}, \qquad (3.22)$$

in such a way that the bifurcation equation becomes $\mathcal{H}(\varepsilon, \zeta) = 0$, then the following results hold.

Lemma 3.13. The function $\mathcal{H}(\varepsilon, \zeta)$ is $C^{\mathfrak{n}}$ with respect to ζ .

Proof. By Hypothesis 1, one has $g(c) = f_0$, $\frac{d^ig}{dx^i}(c) = 0$ for $i = 1, 2, ..., \mathfrak{n} - 1$ and $\frac{d^\mathfrak{n}g}{dx^\mathfrak{n}}(c) \neq 0$; recall that \mathfrak{n} is odd. Hence

$$\mathcal{H}(\varepsilon,\zeta) = \sum_{p=\mathfrak{n}} g_p(c) [(\zeta + \bar{X}(\cdot;\varepsilon,\zeta,c))^p]_{\mathbf{0}} = \sum_{k=\mathfrak{n}+1}^\infty \sum_{\vartheta \in \mathfrak{T}_{k,\mathbf{0}}} \mathscr{V}^*(\vartheta).$$

Therefore it is sufficient to prove that the function $\mathscr{V}^*(\vartheta)$ is C^n in ζ . In particular $\mathscr{V}^*(\vartheta)$ depends on ζ through the node factors and through the propagators associated with lines on scale 1, see (2.13) and (2.14), that means:

$$\partial_{\zeta}^{j} \mathscr{V}^{*}(\vartheta) = \partial_{\zeta}^{j} \Big(\prod_{v \in N(\vartheta)} F_{v}\Big) \cdot \Big(\prod_{\ell \in L(\vartheta)} G_{\ell}\Big) + \Big(\prod_{v \in N(\vartheta)} F_{v}\Big) \cdot \partial_{\zeta}^{j} \Big(\prod_{\ell \in L(\vartheta)} G_{\ell}\Big), \quad 1 \le j \le \mathfrak{n}.$$

If the derivative acts on the node factors, we have

$$\partial_{\zeta} \Big(\prod_{v \in N(\vartheta)} F_v\Big) = |E_0(\vartheta)| \zeta^{|E_0(\vartheta)|-1} \Big(\prod_{v \in N(\vartheta) \setminus E_0(\vartheta)} F_v\Big).$$

Then, by using (3.21), for $0 \le j \le \mathfrak{n}$ one has

$$\begin{split} \left| \partial_{\zeta}^{j} \Big(\prod_{v \in N(\vartheta)} F_{v} \Big) \cdot \Big(\prod_{\ell \in L(\vartheta)} G_{\ell} \Big) \right| &\leq |E_{0}(\vartheta)| (|E_{0}(\vartheta)| - 1) \cdots (|E_{0}(\vartheta)| - j + 1) \rho \Gamma C'^{k} \eta^{\frac{k+2n^{2}-1}{2n+1} - j} \\ &\leq |E_{0}(\vartheta)| (|E_{0}(\vartheta)| - 1) \cdots (|E_{0}(\vartheta)| - j + 1) \rho \Gamma C'^{k} \eta^{\frac{k-n-1}{2n+1}}, \end{split}$$

for a suitable positive constant C' depending on C, with C defined as in (3.8), that is bounded since η is supposed to be small and $k \ge n + 1$.

If the derivatives act on the propagators the analysis is more delicate. We have to distinguish among two cases: the case in which the derivatives act on the same line and the case in which the derivatives act on different lines. The worst case is the first one. Denote $x = \boldsymbol{\omega} \cdot \boldsymbol{\nu}_{\ell}$, with $\ell \in L(\vartheta)$, and suppose that \mathfrak{n} derivatives act on the propagator $G^{[1]}(x)$, see (2.11). Then one has:

$$\begin{aligned} \partial_{\zeta} G^{[1]}(x) &= \chi(|x|) \frac{\partial_{\zeta} \mathcal{M}(x)}{(D_{1}(x))^{2}}, \\ \partial_{\zeta}^{2} G^{[1]}(x) &= \chi(|x|) \Big[\frac{2(\partial_{\zeta} \mathcal{M}(x))^{2}}{(D_{1}(x))^{3}} + \frac{\partial_{\zeta}^{2} \mathcal{M}(x)}{(D_{1}(x))^{2}} \Big], \\ \partial_{\zeta}^{j} G^{[1]}(x) &= \chi(|x|) \sum_{k=0}^{j-1} \sum_{i_{1}, \dots, i_{j-k} \in \mathcal{A}} \frac{a_{i_{1}, \dots, i_{j-k}}(\partial_{\zeta}^{i_{1}} \mathcal{M}(x))(\partial_{\zeta}^{i_{2}} \mathcal{M}(x)) \dots (\partial_{\zeta}^{i_{j-k}} \mathcal{M}(x))}{(D_{1}(x))^{j-k+1}}, 3 \leq j \leq \mathfrak{n}. \end{aligned}$$

$$(3.23)$$

for suitable constants $a_{i_1,\ldots,i_{j-k}}$ and where

$$\mathcal{A} := \{i_1, \dots, i_{j-k} \in \mathbb{N} : i_1 + \dots + i_{j-k} = j \text{ and } i_1 \ge i_2 \ge \dots \ge i_{j-k} \ge 1\}.$$

Before proceeding with the estimate of the derivatives, we have to provide a bound for $\partial_{\zeta} \mathcal{M}(x;\varepsilon,\zeta,c)$. Since the lines composing $\mathcal{M}(x;\varepsilon,\zeta,c)$ are on scale 0, see (2.12a), the

derivatives act only on the node factor. By Lemma 3.1 and Lemma 3.3, it follows that

$$\begin{aligned} |\partial_{\zeta}\mathcal{M}(x)| &\leq b_{1}\varepsilon(\zeta^{\mathfrak{n}-2} + \eta^{2\mathfrak{n}-2}) \leq 2b_{1}\varepsilon\,\eta^{\mathfrak{n}-2},\\ |\partial_{\zeta}^{2}\mathcal{M}(x)| &\leq b_{2}\varepsilon(\zeta^{\mathfrak{n}-3} + \eta^{2\mathfrak{n}-3}) \leq 2b_{2}\varepsilon\,\eta^{\mathfrak{n}-3},\\ \dots\\ |\partial_{\zeta}^{\mathfrak{n}-1}\mathcal{M}(x)| &\leq b_{\mathfrak{n}-1}\varepsilon(1+\eta^{\mathfrak{n}}) \leq 2b_{\mathfrak{n}-1}\varepsilon,\\ |\partial_{\zeta}^{\mathfrak{n}}\mathcal{M}(x)| &\leq b_{\mathfrak{n}}\varepsilon(1+\eta^{\mathfrak{n}-1}) \leq 2b_{\mathfrak{n}}\varepsilon, \end{aligned}$$

with suitable positive constants b_1, \ldots, b_n and where the first contribution is from resonances containing only one internal node, while the second one is from all the contributions with at least two internal nodes. Hence, to sum up, we have

$$|\partial_{\zeta}^{j}\mathcal{M}(x)| \leq 2b_{j}\varepsilon\eta^{\mathfrak{n}-j-1}, \qquad \text{for } j=1,\ldots,\mathfrak{n}-1,$$
(3.24)

$$\left|\partial_{\zeta}^{\mathfrak{n}}\mathcal{M}(x)\right| \le 2b_{\mathfrak{n}}\,\varepsilon.\tag{3.25}$$

We can write the contributions of the derivatives acting on the same propagator as follows:

$$\left(\prod_{v \in N(\vartheta)} F_v \right) \partial_{\zeta} \left(\prod_{\ell \in L(\vartheta)} G_\ell \right) = \mathscr{V}^*(\vartheta) \frac{\partial_{\zeta} \mathcal{M}(x)}{D_1(x)} \left(\prod_{v \in N(\vartheta)} F_v \right) \partial_{\zeta}^2 \left(\prod_{\ell \in L(\vartheta)} G_\ell \right) = \mathscr{V}^*(\vartheta) \left[\frac{2(\partial_{\zeta} \mathcal{M}(x))^2}{(D_1(x))^2} + \frac{\partial_{\zeta}^2 \mathcal{M}(x)}{D_1(x)} \right] \dots \left(\prod_{v \in N(\vartheta)} F_v \right) \partial_{\zeta}^{\mathfrak{n}} \left(\prod_{\ell \in L(\vartheta)} G_\ell \right) = = \mathscr{V}^*(\vartheta) \sum_{k=0}^{\mathfrak{n}-1} \sum_{i_1, \dots, i_{\mathfrak{n}-k} \in \mathcal{A}} \frac{a_{i_1, \dots, i_{j-k}}(\partial_{\zeta}^{i_1} \mathcal{M}(x))(\partial_{\zeta}^{i_2} \mathcal{M}(x)) \dots (\partial_{\zeta}^{i_{\mathfrak{n}-k}} \mathcal{M}(x))}{(D_1(x))^{\mathfrak{n}-k}},$$

for $n \geq 3$. By using (3.24), (3.25) and Lemma 3.3, we have

$$\left|\frac{(\partial_{\zeta}^{i_1}\mathcal{M}(x))(\partial_{\zeta}^{i_2}\mathcal{M}(x))\dots(\partial_{\zeta}^{i_{j-k}}\mathcal{M}(x))}{(D_1(x))^{j-k}}\right| \leq \varepsilon^{j-k}\eta^{(\mathfrak{n}-1)(j-k)-\sum_{s=1}^{j-k}(i_s)}\varepsilon^{-j+k}\eta^{-(\mathfrak{n}-1)(j-k)}$$
$$=\eta^{-j} \quad \text{for } 1 \leq j \leq \mathfrak{n}.$$

Then, from Lemma 3.12, one has the bound

$$\left| \mathcal{V}^{*}(\vartheta) \frac{(\partial_{\zeta}^{i_{1}} \mathcal{M}(x))(\partial_{\zeta}^{i_{2}} \mathcal{M}(x)) \dots (\partial_{\zeta}^{i_{j-k}} \mathcal{M}(x))}{(D_{1}(x))^{j-k}} \right| \leq \rho \Gamma C^{k} \eta^{\frac{k+2\mathfrak{n}^{2}-1}{2\mathfrak{n}+1}} \eta^{-j}$$
$$= \rho \Gamma C^{k} \eta^{\frac{k+2\mathfrak{n}^{2}-1-j(2\mathfrak{n}+1)}{2\mathfrak{n}+1}} \quad \text{for } 1 \leq j \leq \mathfrak{n},$$

and in particular

$$\left| \mathscr{V}^{*}(\vartheta) \frac{(\partial_{\zeta}^{i_{1}} \mathcal{M}(x))(\partial_{\zeta}^{i_{2}} \mathcal{M}(x)) \dots (\partial_{\zeta}^{i_{n-k}} \mathcal{M}(x))}{(D_{1}(x))^{\mathfrak{n}-k}} \right| \leq \rho \Gamma C^{k} \eta^{\frac{k-\mathfrak{n}-1}{2\mathfrak{n}+1}},$$

that is bounded since η is supposed to be small and $k \ge n + 1$.

If the derivatives act on different lines, we have

$$\partial_{\zeta}^{r} \Big(\prod_{\ell \in L(\vartheta)} G_{\ell}\Big) = \partial_{\zeta}^{j_{1}} G^{[1]}(\boldsymbol{\omega} \cdot \boldsymbol{\nu}_{\ell_{1}}) \partial_{\zeta}^{j_{2}} G^{[1]}(\boldsymbol{\omega} \cdot \boldsymbol{\nu}_{\ell_{2}}) \cdots \partial_{\zeta}^{j_{r}} G^{[1]}(\boldsymbol{\omega} \cdot \boldsymbol{\nu}_{\ell_{r}}) \Big(\prod_{\ell \in L(\vartheta) \setminus L'(\vartheta)} G_{\ell}\Big),$$

with $L'(\vartheta)$ the set of the lines where the derivatives act, $j_1, j_2 \neq 0, j_3, \ldots, j_r \geq 0$ and $j_1 + \cdots + j_r = r$ for $1 \leq r \leq \mathfrak{n}$. Then from the previous analysis, it can be easily seen that every \mathfrak{n} -th derivative of the function $\mathscr{V}^*(\vartheta)$ in the variable ζ is bounded.

Therefore we can conclude that $\mathcal{H}(\varepsilon,\zeta)$ is $C^{\mathfrak{n}}$ in ζ .

Lemma 3.14. There exists a neighbourhood $U \times V$ of $(\varepsilon, \zeta) = (0, 0)$ such that for all $\varepsilon \in U$ there is at least one value $\zeta = \zeta(\varepsilon) \in V$, depending continuously on ε , for which one has $\mathcal{H}(\varepsilon, \zeta) = 0$.

Proof. By hypothesis 1, one has $g(c) = f_0$, $\frac{d^i g}{dx^i}(c) = 0$ for $i = 1, 2, ..., \mathfrak{n} - 1$ and $\frac{d^\mathfrak{n} g}{dx^\mathfrak{n}}(c) \neq 0$, for odd \mathfrak{n} such that $\mathfrak{n} > 3$. Hence

$$\mathcal{H}(\varepsilon,\zeta) = \sum_{p=\mathfrak{n}} g_p(c) [(\zeta + \bar{X}(\cdot;\varepsilon,\zeta,c))^p]_{\mathbf{0}}$$

We know that $\frac{d^{\mathfrak{n}}}{d\zeta^{\mathfrak{n}}}\mathcal{H}(0,0) = g_{\mathfrak{n}}(c) \neq 0.$

We assume $g_n(c) > 0$. The proof can be easily generalised also to the case $g_n(c) < 0$. Call W and $V = [V_-, V_+]$ the neighbourhoods of $\varepsilon = 0$ and $\zeta = 0$, respectively. For any $\varepsilon \in W$, if we consider $\mathcal{H}(\varepsilon, \zeta)$ as a function of the variable ζ , then (0,0) is a rising point of inflection of the function $\mathcal{H}(\varepsilon, \zeta)$. In particular, since $\mathcal{H}(0,0) = 0$, then $\mathcal{H}(0,V_+) > 0$ and $\mathcal{H}(0,V_-) < 0$.

Now we look at $\mathcal{H}(\varepsilon, V_{-})$ and $\mathcal{H}(\varepsilon, V_{+})$ as functions of ε : they are both continuous functions in W, then by continuity, there exists $U \subset W$ neighbourhood of 0 such that $\mathcal{H}(\varepsilon, V_{-}) < 0$ and $\mathcal{H}(\varepsilon, V_{+}) > 0$ for all $\varepsilon \in U$.

Since for all $\varepsilon \in U$ the function $\mathcal{H}(\varepsilon, \zeta)$ is continuous and it is also increasing in ζ and $\mathcal{H}(\varepsilon, V_{-}) < 0$ and $\mathcal{H}(\varepsilon, V_{+}) > 0$, then there exists a continuous curve $\zeta \equiv \zeta(\varepsilon) \in V$ such that $\mathcal{H}(\varepsilon, \zeta(\varepsilon)) = 0$.

Chapter 4

A review on continued fractions

For this chapter, we refer to [55, 57, 59, 60, 63, 64] and the references contained therein. We denote by $x = [a_0, \ldots, a_n]$ the expression

$$x = a_0 + \frac{1}{a_1 + \frac{1}{a_2 + \frac{1}{a_3 + \frac{1}{\ddots + \frac{1}{a_n}}}}}$$
(4.1)

with $a_0 \in \mathbb{R}$ and $a_1, \ldots, a_n \in \mathbb{R}^+$.

Definition 4.1. We call $[a_0, \ldots, a_n]$ a finite continued fraction and the coefficients a_0, \ldots, a_n the partial quotients of the continued fraction.

We call an infinite continued fraction the limit for $n \to \infty$, if it exists, of $x_n = [a_0, \ldots, a_n]$, i.e.

$$x = \lim_{n \to \infty} [a_0, \dots, a_n] = a_0 + \frac{1}{a_1 + \frac{1}{a_2 + \frac{1}{a_3 + \frac{1}{\ddots + \frac{1}{\ddots}}}}}$$
(4.2)

According to this definition, we say that if the limit exists the continued fraction converges.

Proposition 4.2. A continued fraction is called simple if $a_0 \in \mathbb{Z}$ and $a_i \in \mathbb{N}$ for all $i \geq 1$. Any irrational number $x \in \mathbb{R} \setminus \mathbb{Q}$ can be represented as a unique simple infinite continued fraction $[a_0, a_1, a_2, \ldots]$. *Proof.* Denote by [x] the integer part of a real number. Define the map

$$A: (0,1) \to [0,1], \qquad A(x) := \frac{1}{x} - \left[\frac{1}{x}\right].$$
 (4.3)

Then with each $x \in \mathbb{R} \setminus \mathbb{Q}$ we associate a continued fraction as follows:

$$\xi_0 = x - [x], \tag{4.4}$$

$$a_0 = [x],\tag{4.5}$$

so that we obviously have

 $x = a_0 + \xi_0, \qquad \xi_0 \in (0, 1)$

and define recursively for all $n\geq 1$

$$\xi_n = \frac{1}{\xi_{n-1}} - \left[\frac{1}{\xi_{n-1}}\right] = A(\xi_{n-1}), \tag{4.6}$$

$$a_n = \left[\frac{1}{\xi_{n-1}}\right] \ge 1,\tag{4.7}$$

in such a way that we can obtain recursively for $n\geq 1$

$$\xi_{n-1}^{-1} = a_n + \xi_n. \tag{4.8}$$

In this way, we have built the continued fraction expansion of the irrational number x:

$$x = a_0 + \xi_0 = a_0 + \frac{1}{a_1 + \xi_1} = a_0 + \frac{1}{a_1 + \frac{1}{a_2 + \xi_2}} = a_0 + \frac{1}{a_1 + \frac{1}{a_2 + \frac{1}{a_3 + \frac{1}{\ddots}}}}.$$
 (4.9)

Proposition 4.3. Given a simple continued fraction $[a_0, a_1, a_2, ...]$, define

$$p_0 = a_0, \qquad p_1 = a_1 a_0 + 1, \qquad p_k = a_k p_{k-1} + p_{k-2}, \qquad k \ge 2;$$
 (4.10)

$$q_0 = 1, \qquad q_1 = a_1, \qquad q_k = a_k q_{k-1} + q_{k-2}, \qquad k \ge 2.$$
 (4.11)

Then one has

$$\frac{p_k}{q_k} = [a_0, \dots, a_k], \qquad k \ge 0.$$
(4.12)

We call (4.12) the k-th convergent of the continued fraction.

Proof. The proof is by induction. If k = 0 the statement is trivially true. Suppose that $\frac{p_k}{q_k} = [a_0, \ldots, a_k]$ for $k \le m$ and check that the thesis still holds for k = m + 1. Indeed one has

$$[a_0, a_1, \dots, a_m, a_{m+1}] = [a_0, a_1, \dots, a_m + \frac{1}{a_{m+1}}] =$$

= $\frac{(a_m + \frac{1}{a_{m+1}})p_{m-1} + p_{m-2}}{(a_m + \frac{1}{a_{m+1}})q_{m-1} + q_{m-2}} = \frac{p_m a_{m+1} + p_{m-1}}{q_m a_{m+1} + q_{m-1}} = \frac{p_{m+1}}{q_{m+1}}.$

Remark 4.4. A continued fraction converges if and only if $\lim_{n\to\infty} \frac{p_n}{q_n}$ exists.

Proposition 4.5. Let $x \in \mathbb{R} \setminus \mathbb{Q}$. Then

$$x = \frac{p_{n+1} + p_n \xi_{n+1}}{q_{n+1} + q_n \xi_{n+1}}, \qquad \text{for } n \ge 0.$$
(4.13)

Proof. We proceed by induction on n. If n = 0, one has

$$\frac{p_1 + p_0\xi_1}{q_1 + q_0\xi_1} = \frac{a_0a_1 + 1 + a_0\xi_1}{a_1 + \xi_1} = a_0 + \frac{1}{a_1 + \xi_1} = a_0 + \xi_0 = x.$$

Now we assume that $x = \frac{p_{j+1}+p_j\xi_{j+1}}{q_{j+1}+q_j\xi_{j+1}}$ for $0 \le j \le n$ and prove that (4.13) still holds for j = n+1:

$$\frac{p_{n+2} + p_{n+1}\xi_{n+2}}{q_{n+2} + q_{n+1}\xi_{n+2}} = \frac{a_{n+2}p_{n+1} + p_n + p_{n+1}\xi_{n+2}}{a_{n+2}q_{n+1} + q_n + q_{n+1}\xi_{n+2}}$$
$$= \frac{(a_{n+2} + \xi_{n+2})p_{n+1} + p_n}{(a_{n+2} + \xi_{n+2})q_{n+1} + q_n}$$
$$= \frac{p_n + p_{n+1}\xi_{n+1}^{-1}}{q_n + q_{n+1}\xi_{n+1}^{-1}} = \frac{p_n\xi_{n+1} + p_{n+1}}{q_n\xi_{n+1} + q_{n+1}} = x.$$

Corollary 4.6. Let $x \in \mathbb{R} \setminus \mathbb{Q}$. Then $\xi_n = -\frac{xq_n - p_n}{xq_{n-1} - p_{n-1}}$ for $n \ge 1$.

Proof. Again proof by induction.

4.1 Some properties of the convergents

Proposition 4.7. Let p_k, q_k be as in Proposition 4.3. Then for all $x \in \mathbb{R}$, one has:

(1) $q_{k+1} > q_k > 0$ for $k \ge 1$;
- (2) $p_k > 0 [p_k < 0]$ when x > 0 [x < 0] for $k \ge 1$;
- (3) $p_k q_{k-1} p_{k-1} q_k = (-1)^{k-1}$ for $k \ge 1$;
- (4) $p_k q_{k-2} p_{k-2} q_k = (-1)^k a_k$ for $k \ge 2$.

Proof. Parts (1) and (2) follow directly by definition of p_k, q_k in (4.10), (4.11). The proof of (3) and (4) can be easily obtained by induction.

Let us start by proving (3). If k = 1 then $p_1q_0 - p_0q_1 = 1$ and the thesis is satisfied. Let us suppose $p_kq_{k-1} - p_{k-1}q_k = (-1)^{k-1}$ for $1 \le k \le m$ and we study the case k = m + 1:

$$p_{m+1}q_m - p_m q_{m+1} = (a_{m+1}p_m + p_{m-1})q_m - p_m (a_{m+1}q_m + q_{m-1}) =$$

= $-(p_m q_{m-1} - p_{m-1}q_m) = -(-1)^{m-1} = (-1)^m,$

that implies (3).

Let us consider the case k = 2 in (4): the thesis trivially holds since $p_2q_0 - p_0q_2 = a_2$. Again we proceed by induction, by assuming (4) for $2 \le k \le m$:

$$p_{m+1}q_{m-1} - p_{m-1}q_{m+1} = (a_{m+1}p_m + p_{m-1})q_{m-1} - p_{m-1}(a_{m+1}q_m + q_{m-1}) = a_{m+1}(p_mq_{m-1} - p_{m-1}q_m) = a_{m+1}(-1)^{m-1} = a_{m+1}(-1)^{m+1},$$

that implies (4).

Proposition 4.8. Let $x_k = \frac{p_k}{q_k}$, $k \ge 0$, be a sequence of convergents of $x \in \mathbb{R}$. Then

- (1) x_{2k} is strictly increasing;
- (2) x_{2k+1} is strictly decreasing;
- (3) $x_{2k} < x_{2k+1};$
- (4) $x_{2k} < x_n < x_{2m+1}$ for all $k, m \in \mathbb{N}$ such that 2k < n and 2m + 1 < n.
- *Proof.* (1) We have to show that if k is even then $x_k < x_{k+2}$. According to the definition of x_k and by using (4) in Proposition 4.7 we have

$$x_{k+2} - x_k = \frac{p_{k+2}q_k - p_kq_{k+2}}{q_{k+2}q_k} = \frac{(-1)^{k+2}a_{k+2}}{q_{k+2}q_k}$$

that is positive since k is even.

(2) Let us consider k odd. Again by using (4) in Proposition 4.7 we obtain the thesis:

$$x_k - x_{k+2} = \frac{-(p_k q_{k+2} - q_k p_{k+2})}{q_k q_{k+2}} = \frac{-(-1)^{k+2} a_{k+2}}{q_k q_{k+2}} = \frac{a_{k+2}}{q_k q_{k+2}} > 0.$$

(3) Let us suppose that k is odd (the case of even k is analogous). By using (3) in Proposition 4.7 we have

$$x_k - x_{k+1} = \frac{-(p_{k+1}q_k - p_kq_{k+1})}{q_kq_{k+1}} = \frac{-(-1)^k}{q_kq_{k+1}} = \frac{1}{q_kq_{k+1}} > 0,$$

that implies $x_k > x_{k+1}$.

(4) If n is even, since x_{2k} is strictly increasing and 2k < n, we have $x_{2k} < x_n$. By the previous point we also have $x_n < x_{2m+1}$.

If n is odd, since x_{2m+1} is strictly decreasing and 2m + 1 < n, we have $x_{2m+1} > x_n$. By following the previous point we also have $x_n > x_{2k}$ since n is odd.

Corollary 4.9. Given $x \in \mathbb{R} \setminus \mathbb{Q}$ and the convergents $\{x_k\}$, the following holds:

$$x_{2k} < x < x_{2k+1} \quad \forall k \in \mathbb{N}, \tag{4.14}$$

see Figure 4.1.



Figure 4.1

Proof. $\{x_{2k}\}$ is strictly increasing and $\{x_{2k+1}\}$ is strictly decreasing, hence

$$\sup_{k \in \mathbb{N}} x_{2k} = \lim_{k \to \infty} x_{2k} = x = \lim_{k \to \infty} x_{2k+1} = \inf_{k \in \mathbb{N}} x_{2k+1}.$$

In particular, since $x \in \mathbb{R} \setminus \mathbb{Q}$, we have $x \neq x_{2k}, x_{2k+1}$ for all k. Therefore we can conclude

$$x_{2k} < \sup_{k \in \mathbb{N}} x_{2k} = x = \inf_{k \in \mathbb{N}} x_{2k+1} < x_{2k+1}.$$

Proposition 4.10. Let x be a positive irrational number and let $\{x_k\}$ be the convergents of the simple continued fraction representing x. Then

$$\frac{1}{q_k(q_k+q_{k+1})} < \left|x - \frac{p_k}{q_k}\right| < \frac{1}{q_k q_{k+1}}.$$
(4.15)

Proof. Consider first the case of even k. We have to use the following inequalities:

$$\frac{a}{b} < \frac{a+c}{b+d} < \frac{c}{d} \tag{4.16}$$

for $\frac{a}{b}, \frac{c}{d}$ rational positive numbers such that $\frac{a}{b} < \frac{c}{d}$.

Therefore, since $x_k < x_{k+1}$ (k even), we have

$$\frac{p_k}{q_k} < \frac{p_k + p_{k+1}}{q_k + q_{k+1}} < \frac{p_k + 2p_{k+1}}{q_k + 2q_{k+1}} < \dots < \frac{p_k + a_{k+2}p_{k+1}}{q_k + a_{k+2}q_{k+1}} = \frac{p_{k+2}}{q_{k+2}} < x.$$

Define $s_k := \frac{p_k + p_{k+1}}{q_k + q_{k+1}}$. By the previous inequality one has

$$x_k < s_k < x \Rightarrow x - x_k > s_k - x_k > 0,$$

that means

$$x - \frac{p_k}{q_k} > \frac{p_k + p_{k+1}}{q_k + q_{k+1}} - \frac{p_k}{q_k} = \frac{q_k p_{k+1} - p_k q_{k+1}}{q_k (q_{k+1} + q_k)} = \frac{(-1)^k}{q_k (q_{k+1} + q_k)} = \frac{1}{q_k (q_{k+1} + q_k)}.$$

Besides, by Corollary 4.9 we have $x_k < x < x_{k+1}$, that implies $0 < x - x_k < x_{k+1} - x_k$. Hence we have the second inequality in (4.15):

$$x - \frac{p_k}{q_k} < \frac{p_{k+1}}{q_{k+1}} - \frac{p_k}{q_k} = \frac{(-1)^k}{q_k q_{k+1}} = \frac{1}{q_k q_{k+1}}.$$

If k is odd, by Corollary 4.9 one has $x_{k+1} < x < x_k$, hence we can reason as before by changing the roles of x_k and x_{k+1} in the following way:

$$\frac{p_k}{q_k} > \frac{p_{k+1} + p_k}{q_{k+1} + q_k} > \frac{2p_{k+1} + p_k}{2q_{k+1} + q_k} > \dots > \frac{a_{k+2}p_{k+1} + p_k}{a_{k+2}q_{k+1} + q_k} = \frac{p_{k+2}}{q_{k+2}} > x.$$

By defining $s_k := \frac{p_k + p_{k+1}}{q_k + q_{k+1}}$, we obtain $0 > s_k - x_k > x - x_k$. Hence it follows that

$$-\frac{1}{q_k(q_{k+1}+q_k)} > x - x_k > x_{k+1} - x_k = -\frac{1}{q_k q_{k+1}}.$$

Finally the thesis follows by collecting together the two cases:

$$\frac{1}{q_k(q_k + q_{k+1})} < \left| x - \frac{p_k}{q_k} \right| < \frac{1}{q_k q_{k+1}}.$$

Remark 4.11. The result in Proposition 4.10 still holds if we only assume x to be irrational. In fact, if x < 0 then also $p_k < 0$ for all $k \ge 0$, see Proposition 4.8. Then x and $\frac{p_k}{q_k}$ have the same sign and $x - \frac{p_k}{q_k}$ is still a difference, as in (4.15).

Proposition 4.12. For any $x \in \mathbb{R} \setminus \mathbb{Q}$, there exist infinitely many p, q such that

$$\left|x - \frac{p}{q}\right| < \frac{1}{q^2}.\tag{4.17}$$

Proof. Consider the sequence of convergents of x, $\{p/q\}$. From (4.15) we have

$$\left|x - \frac{p_k}{q_k}\right| < \frac{1}{q_k q_{k+1}} < \frac{1}{q_k^2} \quad \forall k \ge 1,$$

where the last inequality follows from Proposition 4.7.

Remark 4.13. The result in Proposition 4.12 can be improved in the following way: for all $x \in \mathbb{R} \setminus \mathbb{Q}$, there exist infinitely many p, q such that

$$\left|x - \frac{p}{q}\right| < \frac{1}{\sqrt{5q^2}}.\tag{4.18}$$

Remark 4.14. The result in (4.18) cannot be improved, that is if $C > \sqrt{5}$, then for all $x \in \mathbb{R} \setminus \mathbb{Q}$, it is not possible to find infinite values of $p, q \in \mathbb{N}$ such that $\left|x - \frac{p}{q}\right| < \frac{1}{Cq^2}$.

4.2 Best rational approximations

For reasons that will be clear later, we are interested in the continued fraction expansion of irrational numbers. Therefore, from now on, x is supposed to be an irrational number.

Definition 4.15. A rational number p/q, with q > 0 and GCD(p,q) = 1, is called a **best** rational approximation of $x \in \mathbb{R} \setminus \mathbb{Q}$ if

$$|nx - m| > |qx - p|, \qquad \forall m, n \in \mathbb{Z} : 0 < |n| \le q \text{ and } \frac{m}{n} \neq \frac{p}{q}.$$

$$(4.19)$$

Remark 4.16. $m, n \in \mathbb{N}$ if x > 0.

Proposition 4.17. If a rational number $\frac{p}{q}$ is one of the best rational approximations of x then $\frac{p}{q}$ is a convergent of x.

Proof. First of all, notice that if $\frac{p}{q}$ is one of the best rational approximations of x, then $\frac{p}{q} \ge a_0$. In fact, if this were not true, we would have a contradiction since $x > a_0$:

$$|x-a_0| < \left|x - \frac{p}{q}\right| \le \left|qx - p\right|,$$

that means $\frac{p}{q}$ is not one of the best rational approximations.

Let us suppose that $\frac{p}{q}$ is not a convergent. Then by Corollary 4.9 we can assume $\frac{p}{q}$ to be either greater than $\frac{p_1}{q_1}$ or between two convergents x_{k-1}, x_{k+1} such that

$$\begin{cases} x < x_{k+1} < x_{k-1}, & \text{if } k \text{ is even}; \\ x_{k-1} < x_{k+1} < x, & \text{if } k \text{ is odd.} \end{cases}$$

 _	_	_

I CASE: $\frac{p}{q} > \frac{p_1}{q_1}$. We know that $\frac{p_1}{q_1} > x$. Then

$$\left|x-\frac{p}{q}\right| > \left|\frac{p_1}{q_1}-\frac{p}{q}\right| \ge \frac{1}{q_1q} \Rightarrow |qx-p| > \frac{1}{q_1}.$$

By the definitions (4.10) and (4.11), $p_0 = a_0$ and $q_0 = 1$, so

$$|q_0x - p_0| = |x - a_0| < \frac{1}{q_0}$$

and if we combine the two inequalities we obtain

$$|qx - p| > \frac{1}{q_1} > |x - a_0|,$$

which is a contradiction since $\frac{p}{q}$ is one of the best rational approximations.

II CASE: $\frac{p_{k-1}}{q_{k-1}} < \frac{p}{q} < \frac{p_{k+1}}{q_{k+1}}$. If k is even we have $x > x_{k+1} > \frac{p}{q}$, while if k is odd we have $x < x_{k+1} < \frac{p}{q}$. Then, in both

$$\left|x-\frac{p}{q}\right| > \left|\frac{p_{k+1}}{q_{k+1}}-\frac{p}{q}\right| > \frac{1}{q_k q_{k+1}}.$$

As $|q_k x - p_k| < \frac{1}{q_{k+1}}$, we obtain

$$|qx - p| > \frac{1}{q_{k+1}} > |q_kx - p_k|.$$

We have to show $q_k < q$ to obtain a contradiction: in fact, since $\frac{p}{q}$ is one of the best rational approximations, one has $|q_k x - p_k| > |qx - p|$ for $q_k < q$. We know that if k is odd one has $\frac{p_{k-1}}{q_{k-1}} < \frac{p}{q} < \frac{p_k}{q_k}$, while if k is even one has $\frac{p_k}{q_k} < \frac{p}{q} < \frac{p_{k-1}}{q_{k-1}}$. In both cases

$$\left|\frac{p}{q} - \frac{p_{k-1}}{q_{k-1}}\right| < \left|\frac{p_k}{q_k} - \frac{p_{k-1}}{q_{k-1}}\right| = \frac{1}{q_k q_{k-1}}$$

Hence we can conclude $\frac{1}{q_k q_{k-1}} > \left| \frac{p}{q} - \frac{p_{k-1}}{q_{k-1}} \right| > \frac{1}{q_{k-1}q}$, that implies $q_k < q_k$.

Proposition 4.18. Given the sequence of convergents $\{p_n/q_n\}$ of x, the following inequalities hold:

$$|q_0x - p_0| > |q_1x - p_1| > \dots > |q_kx - p_k| > \dots$$
 (4.20)

Proof. By (4.15) it follows that $|q_k x - p_k| < \frac{1}{q_{k+1}}$ and also $|q_{k-1} x - p_{k-1}| > \frac{1}{q_{k-1} + q_k}$. Since $a_{k+1} \ge 1$, we have

$$\frac{1}{q_{k-1} + q_k} \ge \frac{1}{q_{k-1} + a_{k+1}q_k} = \frac{1}{q_{k+1}}$$

and then $|q_k x - p_k| < \frac{1}{q_{k+1}} \le \frac{1}{q_{k-1} + q_k} < |q_{k-1} x - p_{k-1}|$. Hence $|q_k x - p_k| < |q_{k-1} x - p_{k-1}|$ for all $k \geq 1$. \square **Proposition 4.19.** If $\{\frac{p_k}{q_k}\}$ is the sequence of convergents of x > 0, then $\frac{p_k}{q_k}$ is one of the best rational approximations, i.e. for all $k \ge 0$, $|qx - p| > |q_kx - p_k|$ for all $p, q \in \mathbb{N}$ such that $0 < q < q_{k+1}$ and $q \neq q_k$.

Proof. Given $p/q \in \mathbb{Q}$, let us define μ, ν as the solutions of

$$\begin{pmatrix} p_{k+1} & p_k \\ q_{k+1} & q_k \end{pmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} \mu \\ \nu \end{pmatrix} = \begin{pmatrix} p \\ q \end{pmatrix}, \text{ that is } \begin{pmatrix} \mu \\ \nu \end{pmatrix} = (-1)^k \begin{pmatrix} q_k & -p_k \\ -q_{k+1} & p_{k+1} \end{pmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} p \\ q \end{pmatrix}.$$

This means that $(\mu, \nu) \in \mathbb{Z}^2 \setminus \{0\}$. If $\nu = 0$ and $\mu \neq 0$, i.e. $\mu \geq 1$, we have $q = \mu q_{k+1}$ that implies $q \geq q_{k+1}$, but by hypothesis $q < q_{k+1}$. Instead, if $\mu = 0$ and $\nu \neq 0$ we obtain $q = \nu q_k$ and since $q \neq q_k$, $\nu \geq 2$. This implies the thesis since

$$|qx - p| \ge 2|q_kx - p_k| > |q_kx - p_k|.$$

If $\mu, \nu \neq 0$, as $0 < q < q_{k+1}$, μ and ν must have opposite sign, as well as $q_{k+1}x - p_{k+1}$ and $q_kx - p_k$. Therefore $\mu(q_{k+1}x - p_{k+1})$ and $\nu(q_kx - p_k)$ have the same sign and since $|\mu|, |\nu| \geq 1$, we can conclude:

$$|qx - p| = |(\mu q_{k+1} + \nu q_k)x - (\mu p_{k+1} + \nu p_k)| =$$

= $|\mu(q_{k+1}x - p_{k+1}) + \nu(q_kx - p_k)| =$
= $|\mu(q_{k+1}x - p_{k+1})| + |\nu(q_kx - p_k)| >$
> $|\nu(q_kx - p_k)| \ge |q_kx - p_k|$

that is the thesis.

Remark 4.20. We can generalise Proposition 4.19 to all $x \in \mathbb{R}$ by considering $p \in \mathbb{Z}$ and $q \in \mathbb{N}$ such that $0 < |q| < q_{k+1}$ and $|q| \neq q_k$.

Corollary 4.21. Any rational number $\frac{p}{q}$ is one of the best rational approximation if and only if $\frac{p}{q}$ is a convergent of x.

Proof. It follows directly by Propositions 4.17 and 4.19.

4.3 Diophantine vectors and continued fractions

Recall that a vector $\boldsymbol{\omega} \in \mathbb{R}^d$ is called Diophantine with exponent τ , if $|\boldsymbol{\omega} \cdot \boldsymbol{\nu}| \geq \gamma/|\boldsymbol{\nu}|^{\tau}$ for all $\boldsymbol{\nu} \in \mathbb{Z}^d_*$ and for a suitable positive constant γ (cf. Section 1.2).

Proposition 4.22. Let $\boldsymbol{\omega} = (1, \alpha) \in \mathbb{R}^2$ be a Diophantine vector with exponent τ . Given the sequence of convergents $\{p_k/q_k\}$ of α , there exists a positive constant K_0 such that for all $k \in \mathbb{N}$

$$q_{k+1} < K_0 q_k^{\tau}. \tag{4.21}$$

Proof. Define $\boldsymbol{\nu}_k := (-p_k, q_k)$.

As $\boldsymbol{\omega}$ is a Diophantine vector, we have $|\boldsymbol{\omega} \cdot \boldsymbol{\nu}_k| = |-p_k + \alpha q_k| > \frac{\gamma}{|\boldsymbol{\nu}_k|^{\tau}}$, with $|\boldsymbol{\nu}_k| = |\boldsymbol{\nu}_k|_2 = \sqrt{q_k^2 + p_k^2}$, for some positive constant γ .

By Proposition 4.10, it follows that $|\boldsymbol{\omega} \cdot \boldsymbol{\nu}_k| < \frac{1}{q_{k+1}}$.

Moreover one has $q_k < |\boldsymbol{\nu}_k| \le q_k \sqrt{1 + 4\alpha^2}$. Indeed, by using Proposition 4.7, $q_{k+1} \ge a_2 a_1 + 1 \ge 2$ for any $k \ge 1$, that implies

$$|\boldsymbol{\omega}\cdot\boldsymbol{\nu}_k| < rac{1}{2}$$
 and thus $|p_k| \leq |q_k \alpha| + rac{1}{2} \leq 2|q_k \alpha|.$

Hence

$$q_k < |\boldsymbol{\nu}_k| \le \sqrt{q_k^2 + 4(q_k \alpha)^2} = q_k \sqrt{1 + 4\alpha^2}.$$

By summarising, we obtain

$$q_{k+1} < q^{\tau} \frac{(1+4\alpha^2)^{\tau/2}}{\gamma},$$

since

$$\frac{1}{q_{k+1}} > |\boldsymbol{\omega} \cdot \boldsymbol{\nu}_k| > \frac{\gamma}{|\boldsymbol{\nu}_k|^{\tau}} > \frac{\gamma}{q_k^{\tau}(1+4\alpha^2)^{\tau/2}},$$

which yields (4.21) with $K_0 = \frac{(1+4\alpha^2)^{\tau/2}}{\gamma}$.

4.4 The Bryuno function

Let

$$\beta_n := \prod_{j=0}^n \xi_i \quad \text{for} \quad n \ge 0 \quad \text{and} \quad \beta_{-1} = 1,$$
(4.22)

where $\{\xi_i\}_{i\geq 0}$ is the sequence described recursively by (4.4) and (4.6).

Proposition 4.23. *For any* $x \in \mathbb{R} \setminus \mathbb{Q}$ *, one has:*

$$\beta_n = (-1)^n (q_n x - p_n) \quad for \quad n \ge 0,$$
(4.23)

where p_n and q_n are defined respectively as in (4.10) and (4.11). In particular for $n \ge 0$ one has:

$$\xi_n = \frac{\beta_n}{\beta_{n-1}}$$
 and $\beta_{n-1} = a_{n+1}\beta_n + \beta_{n+1}$. (4.24)

Proof. From the definition of β_n in (4.22) and from Corollary 4.6, one has

$$\beta_n = \xi_0 \xi_1 \cdots \xi_n =$$

$$= (-1)^n \xi_0 \frac{q_1 x - p_1}{q_0 x - p_0} \frac{q_2 x - p_2}{q_1 x - p_1} \cdots \frac{q_{n-1} x - p_{n-1}}{q_{n-2} x - p_{n-2}} \frac{q_n x - p_n}{q_{n-1} x - p_{n-1}} =$$

$$= (-1)^n \xi_0 \frac{q_n x - p_n}{q_0 x - p_0} = (-1)^n \xi_0 \frac{q_n x - p_n}{x - a_0} =$$

$$= (-1)^n (q_n x - p_n).$$

Proposition 4.24. For all $x \in \mathbb{R} \setminus \mathbb{Q}$ and for all $n \ge 1$, one has

$$\beta_n \le \left(\frac{\sqrt{5}-1}{2}\right)^n,\tag{4.25}$$

$$\frac{1}{2} < \beta_n q_{n+1} < 1, \tag{4.26}$$

with β_n , q_n respectively as in (4.22) and (4.11).

Proof. We first prove (4.25). Call $g := \frac{\sqrt{5}-1}{2}$. One can have two possibilities: either $\xi_i \leq g$ for all $i = 0, \ldots, n$, or $\xi_i > g$ for some *i*.

If $\xi_i \leq g$ for all i = 0, ..., n, (4.25) follows trivially.

If $\xi_i > g$ for some *i*, then, according to (4.6), one has $\xi_{i+1} = \xi_i^{-1} - [\xi_i^{-1}]$. Notice that since $\xi_i > g$, then $[\xi_i^{-1}] \le 1$ and by combining it with (4.7), one has $[\xi_i^{-1}] = 1$. Hence $\xi_{i+1} = \xi_i^{-1} - 1$ and $\xi_{i+1} < g^{-1} - 1 = g$, thus $\xi_i \xi_{i+1} = 1 - \xi_i < 1 - g = g^2$. Therefore, in the sequence $\beta_n = \xi_0 \cdots \xi_n$, one can isolate the pairs $\xi_i \xi_{i+1}$ such that $\xi_i > g$ (since for each pair $\xi_i \xi_{i+1} < g^2$). The other terms in β_n are all smaller or equal to g except for possible $\xi_n < 1$ and (4.25) follows once again.

We now focus on (4.26). From (4.13), we have that

$$q_{i}x - p_{i} = q_{i}\frac{p_{i+1} + p_{i}\xi_{i+1}}{q_{i+1} + q_{i}\xi_{i+1}} - p_{i} =$$
$$= \frac{q_{i}p_{i+1} - p_{i}q_{i+1}}{q_{i+1} + q_{i}\xi_{i+1}} = \frac{(-1)^{i}}{q_{i+1} + q_{i}\xi_{i+1}}$$

for all $i \geq 1$. Then

$$\beta_i q_{i+1} = (-1)^i (q_i x - p_i) q_{i+1} = \frac{q_{i+1}}{q_{i+1} + q_i \xi_{i+1}} = \frac{1}{1 + \frac{q_i \xi_{i+1}}{q_{i+1}}} < 1$$

Since the sequence $\{q_i\}$ is strictly increasing and $\xi_i \leq 1$, one has $q_i \xi_{i+1}/q_{i+1} < 1$. Hence

$$\beta_i q_{i+1} = \frac{1}{1 + \frac{q_i \xi_{i+1}}{q_{i+1}}} > \frac{1}{2}$$

and we have proved (4.26).

Corollary 4.25. Let q_n be as in (4.11). Then for all $n \ge 1$ one has

$$q_n > \frac{1}{2} \left(\frac{2}{\sqrt{5}-1}\right)^{n-1}.$$
(4.27)

Proof. (4.27) follows directly by combining (4.25) with (4.26).

Definition 4.26. The Bryuno function $B : \mathbb{R} \setminus \mathbb{Q} \to \mathbb{R}$ is defined as

$$B(x) = -\sum_{i=0}^{\infty} \beta_{i-1}(x) \log \xi_i,$$
(4.28)

where ξ_i follows the repeated iterations of the map A(x) defined in (4.3) and β_i is as in (4.22).

Remark 4.27. The definition of Bryuno function can be extended to $x \in \mathbb{Q}$ by setting $B(x) = +\infty$.

Proposition 4.28. The Bryuno function has the following properties:

- (a) B(x) = B(x+1) for all $x \in \mathbb{R}$;
- (b) For all $x \in (0, 1)$

$$B(x) = -\log x + xB\left(\frac{1}{x}\right); \tag{4.29}$$

(c) There exists a positive constant C such that for all $x \in \mathbb{R} \setminus \mathbb{Q}$ one has

$$\left| B(x) - \sum_{j=0}^{\infty} \frac{\log q_{j+1}}{q_j} \right| \le C,$$
 (4.30)

with $\{q_j\}_{j\geq 0}$ as in (4.11).

- *Proof.* (a) Given $x \in \mathbb{R} \setminus \mathbb{Q}$, the sequences $\{\xi_i\}_{i \ge 0}$ and $\{\beta_i\}_{i \ge 0}$ associated with x and x + 1 are the same.
- (b) Let $y = \frac{1}{x}$. We denote by $\xi_{i,y}$, $a_{i,y}$ and $\xi_{i,x}$, $a_{i,x}$ the sequences for recurrence described in (4.6) and (4.7) associated respectively with y and x. We also call $\beta_{i,y}$, $\beta_{i,x}$ the sequences (4.22) associated with x and y.

If $x \in (0,1)$, then [x] = 0. Hence, from (4.4), (4.5), (4.6) and (4.7) it follows that $\xi_{0,x} = x$, $a_{0,y} = a_{1,x}$, $\xi_{0,y} = \xi_{1,x}$. By induction, one has $\xi_{n,y} = \xi_{n+1,x}$ and $\beta_{n,y} = \beta_{n+1,x}/x$, for all $n \ge 0$. Thus

$$B(y) = -\sum_{i=0}^{\infty} \beta_{i-1,y} \log \xi_{i,y} = -\log \xi_{0,y} - \sum_{i=1}^{\infty} \frac{1}{x} \beta_{i,x} \log \xi_{i+1,x}$$
$$= -\frac{1}{x} \sum_{i=1}^{\infty} \beta_{i-1,x} \log \xi_{i,x} = \frac{1}{x} (B(x) + \log x).$$

(c) We first notice that (4.23) implies

$$q_i\beta_{i-1} + q_{i-1}\beta_i = 1 \quad i \ge 1.$$
(4.31)

In fact,

$$q_i\beta_{i-1} + q_{i-1}\beta_i = (-1)^{i-1}q_i(q_{i-1}x - p_{i-1}) + (-1)^i q_{i-1}(q_ix - p_i)$$

= $(-1)^i(q_ip_{i-1} - q_{i-1}p_i) = (-1)^{2i} = 1,$

where we have used Proposition 4.7.

Then, from (4.24), (4.28) and (4.31), one has

$$-B(x) + \sum_{i=0}^{\infty} \frac{\log q_{i+1}}{q_i} = \sum_{i=0}^{\infty} \beta_{i-1} \log \frac{\beta_i}{\beta_{i-1}} + \sum_{i=0}^{\infty} \left(\frac{q_i \beta_{i-1} + q_{i-1} \beta_i}{q_i}\right) \log q_{i+1}$$
$$= \sum_{i=0}^{\infty} \beta_{i-1} \log(\beta_i q_{i+1}) - \sum_{i=0}^{\infty} \beta_{i-1} \log \beta_{i-1} + \sum_{i=0}^{\infty} \frac{q_{i-1}}{q_i} \beta_i \log q_{i+1}.$$

From (4.26) and by combining the inequality $\log q_i \leq (2/e)q_i^{1/2}$ with (4.27), one has the following estimates:

$$\begin{split} \left| \sum_{i=0}^{\infty} \beta_{i-1} \log(\beta_i q_{i+1}) \right| &\leq 2 \sum_{i=0}^{\infty} \frac{\log 2}{q_i} \leq 2c_2, \\ \left| \sum_{i=0}^{\infty} \beta_{i-1} \log \beta_{i-1} \right| &\leq 2 \sum_{i=0}^{\infty} \frac{\log 2 + \log q_i}{q_i} \leq 2(c_1 + c_2), \\ \left| \sum_{i=0}^{\infty} \frac{q_{i-1}}{q_i} \beta_i \log q_{i+1} \right| &\leq 2 \sum_{i=0}^{\infty} \frac{\log q_{i+1}}{q_{i+1}} \leq 2c_1, \end{split}$$

for suitable positive constants c_1, c_2 . Then one has

$$\left| B(x) - \sum_{i=0}^{\infty} \frac{\log q_{i+1}}{q_i} \right| \le C = 4(c_1 + c_2)$$

and we have proved (4.30).

Remark 4.29. Let $\boldsymbol{\omega} = (1, \alpha)$ and recall the definition of $\mathfrak{B}(\boldsymbol{\omega})$ in (1.4). Then notice that in general the three series

$$B(\alpha), \qquad \sum_{j=1}^{\infty} \frac{\log q_{j+1}}{q_j}, \qquad \mathfrak{B}(\boldsymbol{\omega}) = \sum_{j=0}^{\infty} \frac{1}{2^j} \log \frac{1}{\alpha_j(\boldsymbol{\omega})},$$

with $\alpha_j(\boldsymbol{\omega})$ as in (1.4), are different from each other, but each series converges if and only if the other two converge, see Proposition 4.28 and Lemma 1 of [43].

Definition 4.30. In the light of Remark 4.29, the Bryuno condition can be expressed by

$$\sum_{j=0}^{\infty} \frac{\log q_{j+1}}{q_j} < +\infty, \tag{4.32}$$

as well as by the condition $\mathcal{B}(\omega) < \infty$ used on Section 1.2.

Chapter 5

Proof of Theorem 2

In this Chapter we provide a proof of Theorem 2. In particular in Section 5.2 we give a bound for the value of any renormalized tree described in Section 5.1; in Section 5.3 we study the convergence of the series (2.15) and we also study the bifurcation equation. That completes the proof of Theorem 2. Finally in Section 5.4 we give some comments on the intervals I_n , see (1.9), where the solution exists. We recall that if \mathfrak{n} is even, there is no response solution of the form (5.6), reducing to c as ε tends to zero, see Remark 1.1 and Appendix B.

5.1 Preliminaries for the proof of Theorem 2

We want to use the theory of continued fractions to deal with the small divisors problem appearing in. To this end, we shall restrict ourselves to two-dimensional frequency vectors: in the previous case of f a trigonometric polynomial, $\boldsymbol{\omega}$ was a vector of arbitrary dimension d with $d \geq 2$; instead from now on we need $\boldsymbol{\omega}$ to be a vector of dimension 2. Moreover, without any loss of generality, we assume $\boldsymbol{\omega}$ of the form $\boldsymbol{\omega} := (1, \alpha) \in \mathbb{R}^2$, with $\alpha \in \mathbb{R} \setminus \mathbb{Q}$. The condition $\alpha \in \mathbb{R} \setminus \mathbb{Q}$ is required since we want $\boldsymbol{\omega}$ to have rationally independent components, see Hypothesis 2.

Let $\{p_n/q_n\}$ be the convergents of the infinite continued fraction representing α , which also are one of the best rational approximation of α , see Corollary 4.21.

Set $\boldsymbol{\nu} := (-\nu_1, \nu_2) \in \mathbb{Z}^2 \setminus \{\mathbf{0}\}$. By using the properties of the convergents, for all ν_1, ν_2 such that $0 < |\nu_2| < q_n$ and $|\nu_2| \neq q_{n-1}$, one has

$$|\boldsymbol{\omega} \cdot \boldsymbol{\nu}| = |\nu_2 \alpha - \nu_1| > |\alpha q_{n-1} - p_{n-1}| > \frac{1}{2q_n} \quad \forall n \ge 1.$$
(5.1)

Indeed, the first inequality follows from Proposition 4.19, while the second one follows from (4.15):

$$|\alpha q_{n-1} - p_{n-1}| > \frac{1}{q_{n-1} + q_n} > \frac{1}{2q_n} \quad \forall n \ge 1,$$

where we have used $q_n > q_{n-1} > 0$, according to Proposition 4.7.

Let us denote by $\Delta(c, \rho)$ the disk of center c and radius ρ in the complex plane and by Σ_{ξ} the strip of width ξ on the 2-dimensional torus, that is

$$\Sigma_{\xi} := \{ \boldsymbol{\psi} \in \mathbb{C}^2 : \Re(\boldsymbol{\psi}) \in \mathbb{T}^2, |\Im(\boldsymbol{\psi})| \le \xi \}.$$
(5.2)

By the assumption on g, as in Section 2, for any $c \in \mathbb{R}$ there exists $\rho_0 > 0$ such that g(x) is analytic in $\Delta(c, \rho_0)$. Then, if we take c as in Hypothesis 1, for all $\rho < \rho_0$, (2.1) still holds:

$$g(x) = g(c) + \sum_{p=\mathfrak{n}}^{\infty} g_p(x-c)^p, \quad g_p := \frac{1}{p!} \frac{\partial^p g}{\partial x^p}(c), \quad |g_p| \le \Gamma \rho^{-p}, \tag{5.3}$$

with $\Gamma := \max\{|g(x)| : x \in \Delta(c, \rho)\}.$

By the analyticity assumption on the quasi-periodic forcing term f, for any $c \in \mathbb{R}$ there exists ξ_0 such that f is analytic in Σ_{ξ_0} . Then for all $\xi < \xi_0$, if we define $\Phi := \max\{|f(\psi)| : \psi \in \Sigma_{\xi}\}$, one has:

$$f(\boldsymbol{\psi}) = \sum_{\boldsymbol{\nu} \in \mathbb{Z}^2} f_{\boldsymbol{\nu}} e^{i\boldsymbol{\nu} \cdot \boldsymbol{\psi}}, \qquad |f_{\boldsymbol{\nu}}| \le \Phi e^{-\xi|\boldsymbol{\nu}|}.$$
(5.4)

Consider the ordinary differential equation (1.1) with d = 2 and assume Hypothesis 1. For any frequency vector $\boldsymbol{\omega} = (1, \alpha)$ with $\alpha \in \mathbb{R} \setminus \mathbb{Q}$, we want to prove that, defined N and I_n as in Theorem 2 and for all $\varepsilon > 0$ such that

$$\varepsilon \in \overline{\bigcup_{n \ge N} I_n} := \overline{\bigcup_{n \ge N} \left[e^{-C_2 q_n}, \frac{1}{(C_1 q_n)^{\mathfrak{n}+1}} \right]},\tag{5.5}$$

with C_1, C_2 positive constants with C_2 fixed as the value given at the end of the proof of Theorem 2 and C_1 an arbitrary constant, there exists at least one quasi-periodic solution of the form

$$x(t,\varepsilon) = c + \zeta + X(\omega t;\varepsilon,\zeta), \qquad (5.6)$$

where ζ is a value that has to be fixed and $\psi \to X(\psi; \varepsilon, \zeta)$ is a zero-average quasi-periodic function. Equation (5.5) can be rewritten as

$$\frac{1}{C_2}\log\frac{1}{\varepsilon} < q_n < \frac{1}{C_1\varepsilon^{\frac{1}{n+1}}}.$$
(5.7)

Recall that one can write (1.1) in Fourier space as

$$(\mathrm{i}\boldsymbol{\omega}\cdot\boldsymbol{\nu})(1+\mathrm{i}\varepsilon\boldsymbol{\omega}\cdot\boldsymbol{\nu})X_{\boldsymbol{\nu}}+\varepsilon[g(c+\zeta+X)]_{\boldsymbol{\nu}}=\varepsilon f_{\boldsymbol{\nu}}\qquad \boldsymbol{\nu}\neq\mathbf{0}$$
(5.8)

and, for $\nu = 0$ as

$$[g(c+\zeta+X)]_{0} = f_{0}, \tag{5.9}$$

where (5.8) and (5.9) are called the *range equation* and the *bifurcation equation*, respectively. As in the case of f a trigonometric polynomial, we first study the range equation

looking for a solution to (5.8), depending on the small parameter ζ . Then we analyse (5.9) and fix $\zeta = \zeta(\varepsilon)$ in order to make such an equation to be satisfied.

We find that the parameter ζ , in general, is no more than continuous in ε . In our case, this suffices, since all we need is to prove that the parameter goes to 0 as ε tends to to zero. Of course, in principle more regularity is possible, and the parameter could have different branches, as found in similar contexts when bifurcation phenomena occur. One could even think that a fractional power series may be constructed: for instance, this happens for both the Melnikov problem [30] and lower dimensional tori of codimension 1 [39], when the case of higher order zeroes is considered. For the problem under study the situation is more delicate, since already in the case of simple zeroes in general no more than continuity is found [47]. In any case, we do not exclude that stronger regularity results may be obtained, possibly with different methods; see also ref. [20, 28, 21] for some results about the form of the analyticity domains in dissipative perturbations of Hamiltonian systems.

In doing that we need to consider a slightly modified version of tree construction introduced on Section 2.1. Define $N(\vartheta), V(\vartheta), E(\vartheta), E_0(\vartheta), E_1(\vartheta)$ and $L(\vartheta)$ as previously and denote by $k \equiv k(\vartheta) = |N(\vartheta)|$ the order of ϑ . Again, with each line $\ell \in L(\vartheta)$ we assign a scale label $\tilde{n}_{\ell} \in \{0, 1\}$ and we introduce the following partition of unity:

$$\chi(x) := \begin{cases} 1 & \text{for } x < \frac{C_1}{4}\varepsilon^{\frac{1}{n+1}}, \\ 0 & \text{for } x \ge \frac{C_1}{4}\varepsilon^{\frac{1}{n+1}}, \end{cases} \quad \Psi(x) := \begin{cases} 1 & \text{for } x \ge \frac{C_1}{4}\varepsilon^{\frac{1}{n+1}}, \\ 0 & \text{for } x < \frac{C_1}{4}\varepsilon^{\frac{1}{n+1}}. \end{cases}$$
(5.10)

with C_1 be the same constant as (5.5).

We associate with each node $v \in N(\vartheta)$ a node factor and with each line $\ell \in L(\vartheta)$ a propagator, according to the rules of Section 2.1, see (2.9)–(2.12c) with $\chi(x)$, $\Psi(x)$ as in (5.10).

In order to simplify the analysis, we split the set $L(\vartheta)$ in two disjoint sets, $L_0(\vartheta) := \{\ell \in L(\vartheta) : \boldsymbol{\nu}_{\ell} = 0\}$ and $L_1(\vartheta) := \{\ell \in L(\vartheta) : \boldsymbol{\nu}_{\ell} \neq 0\} = L(\vartheta) \setminus L_0(\vartheta)$. Notice that if ℓ is an internal line, then $\ell \in L_1(\vartheta)$.

Remark 5.1. Let $\ell \in L_1(\vartheta)$. If $|\boldsymbol{\nu}_{\ell}| < q_n$, then also $|\boldsymbol{\nu}_{\ell,2}| < q_n$. Hence we can apply (5.1) and see that the line ℓ has to be on scale 0: in fact we have $|\boldsymbol{\omega} \cdot \boldsymbol{\nu}_{\ell}| \geq \frac{C_1}{2}\varepsilon^{\frac{1}{n+1}} > \frac{C_1}{4}\varepsilon^{\frac{1}{n+1}}$ and, according to the sharp partition considered in (5.10), this implies that the line ℓ has to be on scale 0. The statement above can be rephrased as saying that if ℓ is on scale 1, then $|\boldsymbol{\nu}| \geq q_n$.

Therefore we have three different possibilities for a line $\ell \in L_1(\vartheta)$:

- 1. $|\boldsymbol{\nu}_{\ell}| < q_n$, that automatically implies scale 0,
- 2. $|\boldsymbol{\nu}_{\ell}| \geq q_n$ and scale $\widetilde{n}_{\ell} = 0$,
- 3. $|\boldsymbol{\nu}_{\ell}| \geq q_n$ and scale $\tilde{n}_{\ell} = 1$.

In the first and in the second case, the propagator of the line ℓ is given by the expression of $G^{[0]}(\boldsymbol{\omega}\cdot\boldsymbol{\nu}_{\ell})$ in (2.11), while a propagator satisfying the last condition is given by $G^{[1]}(\boldsymbol{\omega}\cdot\boldsymbol{\nu}_{\ell})$ in the same reference, with $\Psi(x)$ and $\chi(x)$ as in (5.10).

We define $L_{<,0}(\vartheta), L_{>,0}(\vartheta), L_{>,1}(\vartheta)$ as follows:

- $L_{<,0}(\vartheta) := \{\ell \in L_1(\vartheta) : |\boldsymbol{\nu}_\ell| < q_n\},\$
- $L_{\geq 0}(\vartheta) := \{\ell \in L_1(\vartheta) : |\boldsymbol{\nu}_\ell| \ge q_n \text{ and } \widetilde{n}_\ell = 0\},\$
- $L_{\geq 1}(\vartheta) := \{\ell \in L_1(\vartheta) : |\boldsymbol{\nu}_\ell| \ge q_n \text{ and } \widetilde{n}_\ell = 1\}.$

By construction, one has $L_1(\vartheta) = L_{<,0}(\vartheta) \sqcup L_{\geq,0}(\vartheta) \sqcup L_{\geq,1}(\vartheta)$.

The definitions of cluster, self-energy-cluster, value of the tree and renormalized series are still as in Section 2.1. Note that if k_T is the order of a self-energy cluster, then $k_T \geq \mathfrak{n}$ by construction. Denote with $E_1(T)$ and $E_0(T)$ the following sets: $E_1(T) := \{v \in E(T) : v \in E(T) : v \in E(T) \}$ $\nu_v \neq 0$ and $E_0(T) := E(T) \setminus E_1(T)$, where the sets E(T) and V(T) are as in Section 2.1.

Define

$$\eta := \max\{\varepsilon, |\zeta|\} \tag{5.11}$$

and look at Lemma 3.1 and Lemma 3.3: with the rules above we still have analogous results.

Lemma 5.2. Given a tree ϑ , consider a self-energy cluster T in ϑ of order k_T . Then one has

$$|\mathscr{V}(T)| \le \Gamma \rho \bar{C}^{k_T} \varepsilon \eta^{\frac{\mathfrak{n}}{\mathfrak{n}+1}(k_T-1)}, \tag{5.12}$$

with

$$\bar{C} := \rho^{-1} \max\left\{\frac{4\Phi}{C_1}, \frac{4\Gamma}{C_1}, 1\right\},\tag{5.13}$$

with ρ , Γ as in (5.3) and Φ as in (5.4).

Proof. We recall the definition of the value of a self-energy cluster, that is

$$\mathscr{V}(T) = \Big(\prod_{v \in V(T)} F_v\Big)\Big(\prod_{\ell \in L(T)} G_\ell^{[0]}\Big).$$

Since every line in T is on scale 0, we bound the propagators as

$$|G^{[0]}(\boldsymbol{\omega}\cdot\boldsymbol{\nu}_{\ell})| \leq \frac{1}{|\boldsymbol{\omega}\cdot\boldsymbol{\nu}_{\ell}|} \leq \frac{4}{C_1} \varepsilon^{-\frac{1}{\mathfrak{n}+1}},$$

if $\boldsymbol{\nu}_{\ell} \neq 0$, otherwise

$$G^{[0]}(\boldsymbol{\omega}\cdot\boldsymbol{\nu}_{\ell})=1,$$

if $\nu_{\ell} = 0$. Then, by using (5.3) and (5.4) to bound the node factors, we have

$$\begin{aligned} |\mathscr{V}(T)| &\leq \Gamma \rho^{-(k_T-1)} \left(\frac{4\Phi}{C_1}\right)^{|E_1(T)|} \left(\frac{4\Gamma}{C_1}\right)^{|V(T)|-1} \varepsilon^{\frac{n}{n+1}(|V(T)|-1+|E_1(T)|)+1} |\zeta|^{|E_0(T)|} \\ &\leq \Gamma \rho \bar{C}^{k_T} \varepsilon \eta^{\frac{n}{n+1}(|V(T)|-1+|E_1(T)|+|E_0(T)|)+\frac{1}{n+1}|E_0(T)|} \\ &\leq \Gamma \rho \bar{C}^{k_T} \varepsilon \eta^{\frac{n}{n+1}(k_T-1)}, \end{aligned}$$

where we have used that $|V(T)| \ge 1$ by construction and defined \overline{C} as in (5.13).

Lemma 5.3. Given a tree ϑ , consider a self-energy cluster T in ϑ with momentum of the external lines equal to ν . Define $\mathcal{M}(\boldsymbol{\omega} \cdot \boldsymbol{\nu})$ as in (2.12a). Then, for η small enough, one has

$$|\mathcal{M}(\boldsymbol{\omega}\cdot\boldsymbol{\nu})| \ge A\varepsilon\eta^{\mathfrak{n}-1},\tag{5.14}$$

with A positive constant depending on Γ, ρ, Φ, C_1 , with Γ, ρ as in (5.3), Φ as in (5.4) and C_1 as in (5.5)

Proof. The proof is the same as for Lemma 3.3. In particular, if we denote with $\mathcal{M}_{\mathfrak{n}}(\boldsymbol{\omega}\cdot\boldsymbol{\nu})$ the terms of $\mathcal{M}(\boldsymbol{\omega}\cdot\boldsymbol{\nu})$ with \mathfrak{n} nodes and with $\Delta \mathcal{M}(\boldsymbol{\omega}\cdot\boldsymbol{\nu})$ the other terms of $\mathcal{M}(\boldsymbol{\omega}\cdot\boldsymbol{\nu})$, we have that $\mathcal{M}_{\mathfrak{n}}(\boldsymbol{\omega}\cdot\boldsymbol{\nu}) = \mathcal{M}_{\mathfrak{n}}(0)$ and hence $\mathcal{M}_{\mathfrak{n}}(\boldsymbol{\omega}\cdot\boldsymbol{\nu})$ is real. Therefore by combining the proof of Lemma 3.3 with Lemma 5.2, one has

$$|\mathcal{M}(\boldsymbol{\omega}\cdot\boldsymbol{\nu})| \geq |\mathcal{M}_{\mathfrak{n}}(0)| - |\Delta \mathcal{M}(\boldsymbol{\omega}\cdot\boldsymbol{\nu})| \geq a\varepsilon\eta^{\mathfrak{n}-1} - b\varepsilon\eta^{\frac{\mathfrak{n}^2}{\mathfrak{n}+1}} \geq A\varepsilon\eta^{\mathfrak{n}-1},$$

for suitable positive constants a, b depending on Γ, ρ, Φ, C_1 and A = a/2, provide η is small enough.

Remark 5.4. The constant A, considered in (5.14), is not the same constant as in Lemma 3.3, as it depends on f.

We want to prove that the series $\bar{X}(\boldsymbol{\psi}; \varepsilon, \zeta, c)$ described by (2.15) converges. In order to do that, we have to provide a bound for $X_{\boldsymbol{\nu}}^{[k]}$ in (2.14) and hence we need an estimate on the value of each tree, see equation (2.13). The latter will be the main object of the next chapter where we analyse the generic case of odd $\mathfrak{n} \geq 3$.

At the end, we will prove that the renormalized series solves the equation (1.1) and we will fix $\zeta = \zeta(\varepsilon)$ as a parameter that goes to zero as ε goes to zero in order to make the bifurcation equation satisfied.

5.2 A bound for $\mathscr{V}(\vartheta)$ in the case of a generic odd $\mathfrak{n} \geq 3$.

Here and henceforth, we consider \mathfrak{n} as an odd number such that $\mathfrak{n} \geq 3$; the case $\mathfrak{n} = 1$ is already discussed in [47, 73]. If one is interested in the bound of the tree for a specific value of \mathfrak{n} , the case of $\mathfrak{n} = 3$ is treated in Appendix A.

Let C, \tilde{C} and \tilde{C}_1 be defined as follows:

$$C := \rho^{-1} \max \left\{ \frac{4\Phi}{C_1}, \frac{4\Phi}{A}, 1, \frac{4\Gamma}{A}, \frac{4\Gamma}{C_1} \right\},$$
(5.15a)

$$\widetilde{C} := \max\left\{\frac{\Phi}{\Gamma}, \frac{C_1\Phi}{\Gamma A}, \frac{C_1}{4\Gamma}, \frac{C_1}{A}, 1\right\},\tag{5.15b}$$

$$\widetilde{C}_1 := \max\left\{\frac{\Phi A}{C_1\Gamma}, \frac{\Phi}{\Gamma}, \frac{A}{4\Gamma}, \frac{A}{C_1}, 1\right\},\tag{5.15c}$$

with the positive constants ρ, Γ, Φ, C_1 defined as in (5.3), (5.4), (5.5) respectively and A defined as in Lemma 5.3. Notice also that $\widetilde{C}, \widetilde{C}_1 \geq 1$.

Lemma 5.5. Let ϑ be a tree of order k = 1 and let ℓ_0 be the root line. Then if $\varepsilon \in \bigcup_{n \geq N} I_n$, with I_n and N as in Theorem 2, one has

$$|\mathscr{V}(\vartheta)| \le \rho C \times \begin{cases} \varepsilon^{\frac{\mathfrak{n}}{\mathfrak{n}+1}} e^{-\xi|\boldsymbol{\nu}|}, & \text{if } \ell_0 \in L_{<,0}(\vartheta) \sqcup L_{\ge,0}(\vartheta), \\ \eta^{-\mathfrak{n}+1} e^{-\xi|\boldsymbol{\nu}|}, & \text{if } \ell_0 \in L_{\ge,1}(\vartheta), \\ |\zeta|, & \text{if } \ell_0 \in L_0(\vartheta), \end{cases}$$
(5.16)

with ρ, C and η respectively as in (5.3), (5.15a) and (5.11).

Proof. Let $\ell_0 \in L_{<,0}(\vartheta) \sqcup L_{\geq,0}(\vartheta)$, then the value of the tree is

$$\mathscr{V}(\vartheta) = \varepsilon f_{\boldsymbol{\nu}} \, G^{[0]}(\boldsymbol{\omega} \cdot \boldsymbol{\nu})$$

If we bound $|f_{\boldsymbol{\nu}}|$ according to (5.4) and if we estimate $|G^{[0]}(\boldsymbol{\omega} \cdot \boldsymbol{\nu})|$ by using the sharp partition (5.10), i.e. $|G^{[0]}(\boldsymbol{\omega} \cdot \boldsymbol{\nu})| \leq \frac{4}{C_1} \varepsilon^{-\frac{1}{n+1}}$, we obtain the first equation in (5.16).

If $\ell_0 \in L_{\geq,1}(\vartheta)$, then the value of the tree is given by

$$\mathscr{V}(\vartheta) = \varepsilon f_{\boldsymbol{\nu}} G^{[1]}(\boldsymbol{\omega} \cdot \boldsymbol{\nu})$$

and we have to use the bound provided in Lemma 5.3 to obtain the second equation in (5.16) since $|G^{[1]}(\boldsymbol{\omega} \cdot \boldsymbol{\nu})| \leq \frac{4}{4\varepsilon} \eta^{-\mathfrak{n}+1}$.

If
$$\ell_0 \in L_0(\vartheta)$$
, then $\mathscr{V}(\vartheta) = \zeta$.

Hence the thesis holds by choosing C as in (5.15a).

Lemma 5.6. Let $\vartheta \in \mathfrak{T}_{k,\nu}$ be a tree of order $k \geq \mathfrak{n} + 1$ and momentum $\nu \neq \mathbf{0}$ associated with the root line ℓ_0 . Let C_2 be as in (1.6) and, for any fixed C_1 take $\varepsilon \in I_n$ for some $n \geq N$, where N satisfies (1.8) and I_n is as in (1.9). Then one has

$$\mathscr{V}(\vartheta) = \bar{\mathscr{V}}(\vartheta) \prod_{v \in E_1(\vartheta)} e^{-\frac{\xi}{2}|\boldsymbol{\nu}_v|},\tag{5.17}$$

where

$$\left|\bar{\mathscr{V}}(\vartheta)\right| \leq \rho C^{k} \eta^{\frac{k}{\mathfrak{n}(\mathfrak{n}+1)} + \frac{\mathfrak{n}^{2}-1}{\mathfrak{n}}} \times \begin{cases} e^{-\frac{\xi}{4}|\boldsymbol{\nu}|}, & \text{if } \ell_{0} \in L_{<,0}(\vartheta), \\ e^{-\frac{\xi}{4}q_{n}}, & \text{if } \ell_{0} \in L_{\geq,0}(\vartheta), \\ \eta^{-\mathfrak{n}+1}e^{-\frac{\xi}{4}q_{n}}, & \text{if } \ell_{0} \in L_{\geq,1}(\vartheta), \end{cases}$$
(5.18)

with ρ, C and η as in (5.3), (5.15a) and (5.11).

Proof. Let be $\vartheta \in \mathfrak{T}_{k,\nu}$ and denote by v_0 the first node, that is the node the root line exits. For any renormalized tree, one has the following structure:

- $\vartheta_1 \in \mathfrak{T}_{k_1, \boldsymbol{\nu}_{\ell_1}}, \ldots, \vartheta_m \in \mathfrak{T}_{k_m, \boldsymbol{\nu}_{\ell_m}}$ enter the first node v_0 and the root lines ℓ_1, \ldots, ℓ_m are such that $|\boldsymbol{\nu}_{\ell_j}| < q_n$ for all $j = 1, \ldots, m$, so that $\ell_1, \ldots, \ell_m \in L_{<,0}(\vartheta)$;
- $\vartheta'_1 \in \mathfrak{T}_{k'_1, \boldsymbol{\nu}_{\ell'_1}}, \dots, \vartheta'_p \in \mathfrak{T}_{k'_p, \boldsymbol{\nu}_{\ell'_p}}$ enter the first node v_0 and the root lines ℓ'_1, \dots, ℓ'_p are such that $|\boldsymbol{\nu}_{\ell'_1}| \ge q_n$ and $\widetilde{n}_{\ell'_1} = 0$ for all $j = 1, \dots, p$, so that $\ell'_1, \dots, \ell'_p \in L_{\ge,0}(\vartheta)$;
- $\vartheta_1'' \in \mathfrak{T}_{k_1'', \boldsymbol{\nu}_{\ell_1''}}, \ldots, \vartheta_l'' \in \mathfrak{T}_{k_l'', \boldsymbol{\nu}_{\ell_l'}}$ enter the first node v_0 and the root lines $\ell_1'', \ldots, \ell_l''$ are such that $|\boldsymbol{\nu}_{\ell_1''}| \ge q_n$ and $\widetilde{n}_{\ell_1''} = 1$ for all $j = 1, \ldots, l$, so that $\ell_1'', \ldots, \ell_l'' \in L_{\ge,1}(\vartheta)$;
- the lines $\tilde{\ell}_1, \ldots, \tilde{\ell}_r$, entering the node v_0 , exit the end nodes $\tilde{v}_1, \ldots, \tilde{v}_r \in E_1(\vartheta)$ respectively and are such that $\tilde{n}_{\tilde{\ell}_j} = 0$ for all $j = 1, \ldots, r$, so that $\tilde{\ell}_j \in L_{<,0}(\vartheta) \sqcup L_{\geq,0}(\vartheta)$ for all $j = 1, \ldots, r$;
- the lines $\tilde{\ell'}_1, \ldots, \tilde{\ell'}_s$, entering the node v_0 , exit the end nodes $\tilde{v'}_1, \ldots, \tilde{v'}_s \in E_1(\vartheta)$ respectively and $\tilde{\ell'}_j \in L_{\geq,1}$ for all $j = 1, \ldots, s$;
- the lines $\bar{\ell}_1, \ldots, \bar{\ell}_u$, entering the node v_0 , exit the end nodes $\bar{v}_1, \ldots, \bar{v}_u \in E_0(\vartheta)$;
- $m, p, l, r, s, u \ge 0$.

According to this construction, we have the following constraints:

- $k = k(\vartheta) = \sum_{j=1}^{m} k(\vartheta_j) + \sum_{j=1}^{p} k(\vartheta'_j) + \sum_{j=1}^{l} k(\vartheta''_j) + r + s + u + 1;$
- $m+p+l+r+s+u \ge \mathfrak{n};$
- $\boldsymbol{\nu} = \sum_{j=1}^{m} \boldsymbol{\nu}_{\ell_j} + \sum_{j=1}^{p} \boldsymbol{\nu}_{\ell'_j} + \sum_{j=1}^{l} \boldsymbol{\nu}_{\ell''_j} + \sum_{j=1}^{r} \boldsymbol{\nu}_{\tilde{\ell}_j} + \sum_{j=1}^{s} \boldsymbol{\nu}_{\tilde{\ell}'_j};$

•
$$\nu \neq 0$$
.

In the expression of $\mathscr{V}(\vartheta)$ we collect a common factor $\prod_{v \in E_1(\vartheta)} e^{-\xi|\nu_v|/2}$ and we verify by induction on the order of the tree the inequality in (5.18). In particular we will use (5.18) to bound subtrees of order k', with 1 < k' < k and (5.16) with ξ replaced with $\frac{\xi}{2}$ to bound the values of the subtrees of order 1 formed by an end node in $E_1(\vartheta)$ and the respective exiting line. Finally we use the last inequality in (5.16) to estimate the values of the subtrees of order 1 formed by end nodes in $E_0(\vartheta)$ and the respective exiting lines. See Section 2.1 for the definition of subtree.

I case: $\ell_0 \in L_{\leq,0}(\vartheta)$.

We start by analysing the case in which the root line has momentum ν such that $|\nu| < q_n$. In this case we have:

$$\begin{split} |\bar{\mathcal{V}}(\vartheta)| &\leq \frac{4\Gamma}{C_{1}}\rho^{-(m+p+l+r+s)}\rho^{m+p+l+r+s}C^{k-1}\eta^{\frac{k-r-s-u-1}{\mathfrak{n}(\mathfrak{n}+1)}+\frac{\mathfrak{n}^{2}-1}{\mathfrak{n}}(m+p+l)}\varepsilon^{\frac{\mathfrak{n}}{\mathfrak{n}+1}(r+1)} \\ &\times \eta^{(-\mathfrak{n}+1)(l+s)}|\zeta|^{u}e^{-\frac{\xi}{4}\sum_{j=1}^{m}|\boldsymbol{\nu}_{\ell_{j}}|}e^{-\frac{\xi}{4}q_{n}(p+l)}e^{-\frac{\xi}{2}\left(\sum_{j=1}^{r}|\boldsymbol{\nu}_{\tilde{\ell}_{j}}|+\sum_{j=1}^{s}|\boldsymbol{\nu}_{\tilde{\ell}_{j}'}|\right)} \\ &\leq \rho C^{k}\widetilde{C}^{-1}\eta^{\frac{k}{\mathfrak{n}(\mathfrak{n}+1)}+\frac{\mathfrak{n}^{2}-1}{\mathfrak{n}}}\eta^{\Delta_{0}(m,p,l,r,s,u)} \\ &\times e^{-\frac{\xi}{4}\sum_{j=1}^{m}|\boldsymbol{\nu}_{\ell_{j}}|}e^{-\frac{\xi}{4}q_{n}(p+l)}e^{-\frac{\xi}{2}\left(\sum_{j=1}^{r}|\boldsymbol{\nu}_{\tilde{\ell}_{j}}|+\sum_{j=1}^{s}|\boldsymbol{\nu}_{\tilde{\ell}_{j}'}|\right)}, \end{split}$$

with C and \widetilde{C} as in (5.15a) and in (5.15b) respectively and

$$\begin{split} \Delta_0(m,p,l,r,s,u) := & \frac{(m+p)(\mathfrak{n}^3 + \mathfrak{n}^2 - \mathfrak{n} - 1) + (l+r)(\mathfrak{n}^2 - 1) + u(\mathfrak{n}^2 + \mathfrak{n} - 1)}{\mathfrak{n}(\mathfrak{n}+1)} + \\ & - \frac{s(\mathfrak{n}^3 - \mathfrak{n} + 1) - \mathfrak{n} + \mathfrak{n}^3}{\mathfrak{n}(\mathfrak{n}+1)}. \end{split}$$

Notice that, by the definition of \widetilde{C} , one has $\widetilde{C}^{-1} \leq 1$.

We want to verify the first bound in (5.18), that is equivalent to prove

$$\widetilde{C}^{-1}\eta^{\Delta_0(m,p,l,r,s,u)}e^{-\frac{\xi}{4}q_n(p+l)}e^{-\frac{\xi}{4}\sum_{j=1}^m |\boldsymbol{\nu}_{\ell_j}| - \frac{\xi}{2}\left(\sum_{j=1}^r |\boldsymbol{\nu}_{\tilde{\ell}_j}| + \sum_{j=1}^s |\boldsymbol{\nu}_{\tilde{\ell}'_j}|\right)} \le e^{-\frac{\xi}{4}|\boldsymbol{\nu}|}.$$
(5.19)

We distinguish among three different cases:

- (a) p + l = 1;
- (b) $p+l \ge 2$;
- (c) p + l = 0.

In the case (a), we have to prove

$$\widetilde{C}^{-1}\eta^{\Delta_0(m,p,l,r,s,u)} \times e^{-\frac{\xi}{4}\sum_{j=1}^m |\boldsymbol{\nu}_{\ell_j}|} \times e^{-\frac{\xi}{2}\left(\sum_{j=1}^r |\boldsymbol{\nu}_{\tilde{\ell}_j}| + \sum_{j=1}^s |\boldsymbol{\nu}_{\tilde{\ell}'_j}|\right)} \le 1,$$

since $e^{-\frac{\xi}{4}q_n(p+l)} = e^{-\frac{\xi}{4}q_n} < e^{-\frac{\xi}{4}|\boldsymbol{\nu}|}.$

In doing that, we first analyse p = 1 and l = 0. The thesis is obviously satisfied when s = 0, in fact

$$\Delta_0(m, 1, 0, r, 0, u) \ge \frac{(\mathfrak{n}^2 - 1)(m + r + u) + \mathfrak{n}^2 - 1}{\mathfrak{n}(\mathfrak{n} + 1)} \ge \frac{\mathfrak{n}(\mathfrak{n}^2 - 1)}{\mathfrak{n}(\mathfrak{n} + 1)} = \mathfrak{n} - 1,$$

so the thesis follows.

The thesis is satisfied for $s \ge 1$ as well. We start by noting that the function $\Delta_0(m, 1, 0, r, s, u)$ could be negative, so the conclusion is not as trivial as in the case s = 0. We observe that

$$\Delta_0(m,1,0,r,s,u) \ge -\frac{\mathfrak{n}^3-\mathfrak{n}+1}{\mathfrak{n}(\mathfrak{n}+1)}s_2$$

so we have the following inequality

$$\begin{split} \widetilde{C}^{-1} \eta^{\Delta_0(m,1,0,r,s,u)} &\times e^{-\frac{\xi}{4} \sum_{j=1}^m |\boldsymbol{\nu}_{\ell_j}|} \times e^{-\frac{\xi}{2} \left(\sum_{j=1}^r |\boldsymbol{\nu}_{\tilde{\ell}_j}| + \sum_{j=1}^s |\boldsymbol{\nu}_{\tilde{\ell}'_j}| \right)} \\ &\leq \eta^{-\frac{\mathfrak{n}^3 - \mathfrak{n} + 1}{\mathfrak{n}(\mathfrak{n} + 1)} s} \times e^{-\frac{\xi}{2} \sum_{j=1}^s |\boldsymbol{\nu}_{\tilde{\ell}'_j}|}. \end{split}$$

Since $|\boldsymbol{\nu}_{\tilde{\ell}'_j}| \ge q_n \ge C_2^{-1} \log \frac{1}{\varepsilon}$ for all $j = 1, \ldots, s$, we can deduce

$$\eta^{-\frac{\mathfrak{n}^{3}-\mathfrak{n}+1}{\mathfrak{n}(\mathfrak{n}+1)}s} \times e^{-\frac{\xi}{2}\sum_{j=1}^{s}|\boldsymbol{\nu}_{\tilde{\ell}_{j}'}|} \le \left(\eta^{-\frac{\mathfrak{n}^{3}-\mathfrak{n}+1}{\mathfrak{n}(\mathfrak{n}+1)}}\varepsilon^{\frac{\xi}{2C_{2}}}\right)^{s} \le \left(\eta^{-\frac{\mathfrak{n}^{3}-\mathfrak{n}+1}{\mathfrak{n}(\mathfrak{n}+1)}}\eta^{\frac{\xi}{2C_{2}}}\right)^{s}$$

and if we require $\eta^{-\frac{\mathfrak{n}^3-\mathfrak{n}+1}{\mathfrak{n}(\mathfrak{n}+1)}+\frac{\xi}{2C_2}} \leq 1$, i.e. $C_2 \leq \frac{\mathfrak{n}(\mathfrak{n}+1)}{2(\mathfrak{n}^3-\mathfrak{n}+1)}\xi$, the thesis is satisfied once again.

We now analyse p = 0 and l = 1 by following the same approach: if s = 0, the function $\Delta_0(m, 0, 1, r, 0, u)$ is non-negative, as we can easily see since $m + r + u \ge n - 1$

$$\Delta_0(m, 0, 1, r, 0, u) \ge \frac{(\mathfrak{n}^2 - 1)(m + r + u) - \mathfrak{n}^3 + \mathfrak{n}^2 + \mathfrak{n} - 1}{\mathfrak{n}(\mathfrak{n} + 1)} \ge 0.$$

If $s \ge 1$, the function $\Delta_0(m, 0, 1, r, s, u)$ could be negative, but, as in the previous situation, we can use the decaying of the exponential part associated with the lines s. We have the following bound for the function $\Delta_0(m, 0, 1, r, s, u)$:

$$\Delta_0(m,0,1,r,s,u) \ge \frac{-\mathfrak{n}^3 - \mathfrak{n}^2 + \mathfrak{n}}{\mathfrak{n}(\mathfrak{n}+1)}s = \frac{-\mathfrak{n}^2 - \mathfrak{n} + 1}{\mathfrak{n}+1}s,$$

so if we require $\eta^{\frac{-\mathfrak{n}^2-\mathfrak{n}+1}{\mathfrak{n}+1}+\frac{\xi}{2C_2}} \leq 1$, i.e. $C_2 \leq \frac{\mathfrak{n}+1}{2(\mathfrak{n}^2+\mathfrak{n}-1)}\xi$, the thesis follows, by noticing that

$$\begin{split} \widetilde{C}^{-1} \eta^{\Delta_0(m,0,1,r,s,u)} &\times e^{-\frac{\xi}{4} \sum_{j=1}^m |\boldsymbol{\nu}_{\ell_j}| - \frac{\xi}{2} \left(\sum_{j=1}^r |\boldsymbol{\nu}_{\tilde{\ell}_j}| + \sum_{j=1}^s |\boldsymbol{\nu}_{\tilde{\ell}'_j}| \right)} \\ &\leq \left(\eta^{\frac{-\mathfrak{n}^2 - \mathfrak{n} + 1}{\mathfrak{n} + 1}} \varepsilon^{\frac{\xi}{2C_2}} \right)^s \leq 1. \end{split}$$

By comparing the bounds on C_2 we have

$$\begin{cases} C_2 \le \frac{\mathfrak{n}(\mathfrak{n}+1)}{2(\mathfrak{n}^3 - \mathfrak{n}+1)}\xi \\ C_2 \le \frac{\mathfrak{n}+1}{2(\mathfrak{n}^2 + \mathfrak{n}-1)}\xi \end{cases} \text{ so we require } C_2 \le \frac{\mathfrak{n}+1}{2(\mathfrak{n}^2 + \mathfrak{n}-1)}\xi. \tag{5.20}$$

An analogous result is obtained in the second case, (b), in which the function $\Delta_0(m, p, l, r, s, u)$ has the following lower bound:

$$\Delta_0(m, p, l, r, s, u) \ge -\frac{\mathfrak{n}^3 - \mathfrak{n} + 1}{\mathfrak{n}(\mathfrak{n} + 1)}s - \frac{(\mathfrak{n} - 2)(\mathfrak{n} - 1)}{\mathfrak{n}}.$$

Then we split $e^{-\frac{\xi}{4}q_n(p+l)}$ in the following way

$$e^{-\frac{\xi}{4}q_n(p+l)} = e^{-\frac{\xi}{4}q_n(p+l-1)}e^{-\frac{\xi}{4}q_n},$$

so we can use $e^{-\frac{\xi}{4}q_n}$ to erase the factor $e^{-\frac{\xi}{4}|\nu|}$ in (5.19), so that the thesis becomes

$$\widetilde{C}^{-1}\eta^{\Delta_0(m,p,l,r,s,u)} \times e^{-\frac{\xi}{4}\sum_{j=1}^m |\boldsymbol{\nu}_{\ell_j}|} e^{-\frac{\xi}{2}\left(\sum_{j=1}^r |\boldsymbol{\nu}_{\tilde{\ell}_j}| + \sum_{j=1}^s |\boldsymbol{\nu}_{\tilde{\ell}'_j}|\right)} \times e^{-\frac{\xi}{4}q_n(p+l-1)} \le 1.$$

Finally we can use $q_n \geq \frac{1}{C_2} \log \frac{1}{\varepsilon}$ and by requiring

$$\begin{cases} C_2 \leq \frac{\mathfrak{n}(\mathfrak{n}+1)}{2(\mathfrak{n}^3 - \mathfrak{n}+1)}\xi, & \text{if } \mathfrak{n} = 3, \\ C_2 \leq \frac{\mathfrak{n}}{4(\mathfrak{n}-2)(\mathfrak{n}-1)}\xi, & \text{if } \mathfrak{n} \geq 5 \text{ and } \mathfrak{n} \text{ odd,} \end{cases}$$
(5.21)

the thesis follows as

$$\begin{split} \widetilde{C}^{-1} \eta^{\Delta_0(m,p,l,r,s,u)} &\times e^{-\frac{\xi}{4} \sum_{j=1}^m |\boldsymbol{\nu}_{\ell_j}|} e^{-\frac{\xi}{2} \left(\sum_{j=1}^r |\boldsymbol{\nu}_{\tilde{\ell}_j}| + \sum_{j=1}^s |\boldsymbol{\nu}_{\tilde{\ell}'_j}| \right)} \times e^{-\frac{\xi}{4} q_n(p+l-1)} \\ &\leq \eta^{-\frac{(n-2)(n-1)}{n} + \frac{\xi}{4C_2}} \times \left(\eta^{-\frac{n^3-n+1}{n(n+1)} + \frac{\xi}{2C_2}} \right)^s \leq 1. \end{split}$$

Now we have to compare the conditions on C_2 in (5.21) with the one in (5.20):

$$\begin{cases} C_2 \leq \frac{\mathfrak{n}+1}{2(\mathfrak{n}^2+\mathfrak{n}-1)}\xi, & \text{if } \mathfrak{n} \geq 3 \text{ and } \mathfrak{n} \text{ odd,} \\ C_2 \leq \frac{\mathfrak{n}(\mathfrak{n}+1)}{2(\mathfrak{n}^3-\mathfrak{n}+1)}\xi, & \text{if } \mathfrak{n} = 3, \\ C_2 \leq \frac{\mathfrak{n}}{4(\mathfrak{n}-2)(\mathfrak{n}-1)}\xi, & \text{if } \mathfrak{n} \geq 5 \text{ and } \mathfrak{n} \text{ odd.} \end{cases}$$
(5.22)

If $\mathfrak{n} = 3$, one has $\frac{\mathfrak{n}+1}{2(\mathfrak{n}^2+\mathfrak{n}-1)} < \frac{\mathfrak{n}(\mathfrak{n}+1)}{2(\mathfrak{n}^3-\mathfrak{n}+1)}$; if $\mathfrak{n} = 5$ one has $\frac{\mathfrak{n}+1}{2(\mathfrak{n}^2+\mathfrak{n}-1)} < \frac{\mathfrak{n}}{4(\mathfrak{n}-2)(\mathfrak{n}-1)}$; if $\mathfrak{n} \ge 7$ one has $\frac{\mathfrak{n}}{4(\mathfrak{n}-2)(\mathfrak{n}-1)} < \frac{\mathfrak{n}+1}{2(\mathfrak{n}^2+\mathfrak{n}-1)}$. Then, to summarize, the condition on C_2 becomes

$$\begin{cases} C_2 \leq \frac{\mathfrak{n}+1}{2(\mathfrak{n}^2+\mathfrak{n}-1)}\xi, & \text{if } \mathfrak{n}=3,5, \\ C_2 \leq \frac{\mathfrak{n}}{4(\mathfrak{n}-2)(\mathfrak{n}-1)}\xi, & \text{if } \mathfrak{n} \geq 7 \text{ and } \mathfrak{n} \text{ odd.} \end{cases}$$
(5.23)

In the third case, (c), by the definition of momentum ν , it follows that

$$e^{-\frac{\xi}{4}\left(\sum_{j=1}^{m}|\boldsymbol{\nu}_{\ell_{j}}|+\sum_{j=1}^{r}|\boldsymbol{\nu}_{\tilde{\ell}_{j}}|+\sum_{j=1}^{s}|\boldsymbol{\nu}_{\tilde{\ell}_{j}'}|\right)} \leq e^{-\frac{\xi}{4}|\boldsymbol{\nu}|},$$

so we have to prove that

$$\widetilde{C}^{-1} \eta^{\Delta_0(m,0,0,r,s,u)} e^{-\frac{\xi}{4} \left(\sum_{j=1}^r |\boldsymbol{\nu}_{\tilde{\ell}_j}| + \sum_{j=1}^s |\boldsymbol{\nu}_{\tilde{\ell}'_j}|\right)} \le 1.$$

If s = 0, that is $m + r + u \ge \mathfrak{n}$, the thesis follows trivially since $\Delta_0(m, 0, 0, r, 0, u) \ge 0$.

If $s \ge 1$, once again we have that $\Delta_0(m, 0, 0, r, s, u) \ge -\frac{\mathfrak{n}^2 + \mathfrak{n} - 1}{\mathfrak{n} + 1}s$ and hence we have to require

$$\eta^{-\frac{\mathfrak{n}^2+\mathfrak{n}-1}{\mathfrak{n}+1}}\varepsilon^{\frac{\xi}{4C_2}} \leq 1$$

that is $C_2 \leq \frac{n+1}{4(n^2+n-1)}\xi$. This condition is sharper than the one in (5.23), so we require

$$C_2 \le \frac{\mathfrak{n}+1}{4(\mathfrak{n}^2+\mathfrak{n}-1)}\xi.$$
(5.24)

To sum up, if the root line is such that $|\nu| < q_n$, the first bound in (5.18) holds by requiring (5.24).

 $\text{II case: } \ell_0 \in L_{\geq,0}(\vartheta).$

We consider now the case in which the root line has momentum $\boldsymbol{\nu}$ such that $|\boldsymbol{\nu}| \ge q_n$ and it is on scale 0. We can estimate the $|\bar{\mathcal{V}}(\vartheta)|$ in the following way:

$$\begin{split} |\bar{\mathscr{V}}(\vartheta)| &\leq C^{k-1} \frac{4\Gamma}{C_{1}} \rho^{-(m+p+l+r+s+u)} \rho^{m+p+l+r+s+u} \eta^{\frac{k-r-s-u-1}{\mathfrak{n}(\mathfrak{n}+1)} + \frac{\mathfrak{n}^{2}-1}{\mathfrak{n}}(m+p+l)} \varepsilon^{\frac{\mathfrak{n}}{\mathfrak{n}+1}(r+1)} \zeta^{u} \\ &\times \eta^{(-\mathfrak{n}+1)(l+s)} e^{-\frac{\xi}{4} \sum_{j=1}^{m} |\boldsymbol{\nu}_{\ell_{j}}|_{\ell} - \frac{\xi}{4} q_{n}(p+l)} e^{-\frac{\xi}{2} \left(\sum_{j=1}^{r} |\boldsymbol{\nu}_{\tilde{\ell}_{j}}| + \sum_{j=1}^{s} |\boldsymbol{\nu}_{\tilde{\ell}_{j}}| \right)} \\ &\leq \rho C^{k} \widetilde{C}^{-1} \eta^{\frac{k}{\mathfrak{n}(\mathfrak{n}+1)} + \frac{\mathfrak{n}^{2}-1}{\mathfrak{n}}} \eta^{\Delta_{0}(m,p,l,r,s,u)} \times \\ &\times e^{-\frac{\xi}{4} \sum_{j=1}^{m} |\boldsymbol{\nu}_{\ell_{j}}| - \frac{\xi}{2} \left(\sum_{j=1}^{r} |\boldsymbol{\nu}_{\tilde{\ell}_{j}}| + \sum_{j=1}^{s} |\boldsymbol{\nu}_{\tilde{\ell}_{j}}| \right)} e^{-\frac{\xi}{4} q_{n}(p+l)}, \end{split}$$

with C, \widetilde{C} as in (5.15a) and (5.15b) respectively and

$$\begin{split} \Delta_0(m,p,l,r,s,u) := & \frac{(m+p)(\mathfrak{n}^3 + \mathfrak{n}^2 - \mathfrak{n} - 1) + (l+r)(\mathfrak{n}^2 - 1) + u(\mathfrak{n}^2 + \mathfrak{n} - 1)}{\mathfrak{n}(\mathfrak{n} + 1)} \\ & - \frac{s(\mathfrak{n}^3 - \mathfrak{n} + 1) + \mathfrak{n}^3 - \mathfrak{n}}{\mathfrak{n}(\mathfrak{n} + 1)}. \end{split}$$

Note that the expression of the function $\Delta_0(m, p, l, r, s, u)$ is the same as in case (a); however, now, we want to verify the second bound in (5.18) by using that $|\boldsymbol{\nu}| \geq q_n$. The proof proceeds as in the case of $\ell_0 \in L_{<,0}(\vartheta)$, since the function $\Delta_0(m, p, l, r, s, u)$ does not change with respect to the previous case. The only difference is that now we have to construct a factor $e^{-\frac{\xi}{4}q_n}$ in the bound of $|\bar{\mathcal{V}}(\vartheta)|$.

• If $p+l \ge 1$ it is trivial as we have the term $e^{-\frac{\xi}{4}q_n(p+l)}$.

• If p + l = 0, then $\boldsymbol{\nu} = \sum_{j=1}^{m} \boldsymbol{\nu}_{\ell_j} + \sum_{j=1}^{r} \boldsymbol{\nu}_{\tilde{\ell}_j} + \sum_{j=1}^{s} \boldsymbol{\nu}_{\tilde{\ell}'_j}$, so we can factorise $e^{\frac{\xi}{2} \left(\sum_{j=1}^{r} |\boldsymbol{\nu}_{\tilde{\ell}_j}| + \sum_{j=1}^{s} |\boldsymbol{\nu}_{\tilde{\ell}'_j}| \right)} = e^{\frac{\xi}{4} \left(\sum_{j=1}^{r} |\boldsymbol{\nu}_{\tilde{\ell}_j}| + \sum_{j=1}^{s} |\boldsymbol{\nu}_{\tilde{\ell}'_j}| \right)} e^{\frac{\xi}{4} \left(\sum_{j=1}^{r} |\boldsymbol{\nu}_{\tilde{\ell}_j}| + \sum_{j=1}^{s} |\boldsymbol{\nu}_{\tilde{\ell}'_j}| \right)}$

and we can use the fact that $|\nu| \ge q_n$ in order to obtain the desired term:

$$e^{-\frac{\xi}{4}\left(\sum_{j=1}^{m} |\boldsymbol{\nu}_{\ell_{j}}| + \sum_{j=1}^{r} |\boldsymbol{\nu}_{\tilde{\ell}_{j}}| + \sum_{j=1}^{s} |\boldsymbol{\nu}_{\tilde{\ell}'_{j}}|\right)} \le e^{-\frac{\xi}{4}|\boldsymbol{\nu}|} \le e^{-\frac{\xi}{4}q_{n}}.$$

Apart for that, the discussion proceeds as in the previous case.

III case: $\ell_0 \in L_{\geq,1}(\vartheta).$

We analyse the third possibility, that is the root line on scale 1 and the momentum satisfying the inequality $|\nu| \ge q_n$, i.e. $\ell_0 \in L_{\ge,1}(\vartheta)$. We can bound the $|\bar{\mathscr{V}}(\vartheta)|$ as follows:

$$\begin{split} |\bar{\mathscr{V}}(\vartheta)| &\leq C^{k-1} \frac{4\Gamma}{A} \rho^{-(m+p+l+r+s+u)} \rho^{m+p+l+r+s+u} \eta^{\frac{k-r-s-u-1}{\mathfrak{n}(\mathfrak{n}+1)} + \frac{\mathfrak{n}^2-1}{\mathfrak{n}}(m+p+l)} \eta^{(-\mathfrak{n}+1)(l+s)} \times \\ &\times \eta^{-\mathfrak{n}+1} \varepsilon^{\frac{\mathfrak{n}}{\mathfrak{n}+1}r} \, |\zeta|^u \, e^{-\frac{\xi}{4}q_{\mathfrak{n}}(p+l)} \times e^{-\frac{\xi}{4}\sum_{j=1}^m |\boldsymbol{\nu}_{\ell_j}| - \frac{\xi}{2} \left(\sum_{j=1}^r |\boldsymbol{\nu}_{\tilde{\ell}_j}| + \sum_{j=1}^s |\boldsymbol{\nu}_{\tilde{\ell}_j}|\right)} \\ &\leq \rho C^k \widetilde{C}_1^{-1} \eta^{\frac{k}{\mathfrak{n}(\mathfrak{n}+1)} + \frac{\mathfrak{n}^2-1}{\mathfrak{n}}} \eta^{\Delta_1(m,p,l,r,s,u)} \eta^{-\mathfrak{n}+1} \times \\ &\times e^{-\frac{\xi}{4}q_{\mathfrak{n}}(p+l) - \frac{\xi}{4}\sum_{j=1}^m |\boldsymbol{\nu}_{\ell_j}| - \frac{\xi}{2} \left(\sum_{j=1}^r |\boldsymbol{\nu}_{\tilde{\ell}_j}| + \sum_{j=1}^s |\boldsymbol{\nu}_{\tilde{\ell}_j'}|\right)} \end{split}$$

with C and \tilde{C}_1 as in (5.15a) and (5.15c) respectively and $\Delta_1(m, p, l, r, s, u)$ defined as

$$\begin{split} \Delta_1(m,p,l,r,s,u) := & \frac{(\mathfrak{n}^3 + \mathfrak{n}^2 - \mathfrak{n} - 1)(m+p) + (\mathfrak{n}^2 - 1)(l+r) + u(\mathfrak{n}^2 + \mathfrak{n} - 1)}{\mathfrak{n}(\mathfrak{n}+1)} + \\ & - \frac{s(\mathfrak{n}^3 - \mathfrak{n} + 1) + \mathfrak{n}^3 + \mathfrak{n}^2 - \mathfrak{n}}{\mathfrak{n}(\mathfrak{n}+1)}. \end{split}$$

Again we can distinguish among three different cases:

(a) p + l = 1;
(b) p + l ≥ 2;
(c) p + l = 0.

In the first case, (a), we have to prove

$$\widetilde{C}_{1}^{-1} \eta^{\Delta_{1}(m,p,l,r,s,u)} \times e^{-\frac{\xi}{4} \sum_{j=1}^{m} |\boldsymbol{\nu}_{\ell_{j}}| - \frac{\xi}{2} \left(\sum_{j=1}^{r} |\boldsymbol{\nu}_{\tilde{\ell}_{j}}| + \sum_{j=1}^{s} |\boldsymbol{\nu}_{\tilde{\ell}_{j}'}| \right)} \leq 1$$

since $e^{-\frac{\xi}{4}q_n(p+l)} = e^{-\frac{\xi}{4}q_n}$.

We first focus on the case p = 1 and l = 0. If s = 0, that is $m + r + u \ge \mathfrak{n} - 1$, the function $\Delta_1(m, 1, 0, r, 0, u)$ is positive, since $\Delta_1(m, 1, 0, r, 0, u) \ge \frac{\mathfrak{n}^2 - \mathfrak{n} - 1}{\mathfrak{n} + 1} > 0$, hence the thesis follows.

If we consider $s \ge 1$, the function $\Delta_1(m, 1, 0, r, s, u)$ could be negative, so we have to take advantage of the decaying of the momentum of the lines $\tilde{\ell}'_1, \ldots, \tilde{\ell}'_s$, since $|\boldsymbol{\nu}_{\tilde{\ell}'_j}| \ge q_n \ge C_2^{-1} \log \frac{1}{\varepsilon}$. We also observe that

$$\Delta_1(m, 1, 0, r, s, u) \ge \frac{(m + r + u)(\mathfrak{n}^2 - 1) - s(\mathfrak{n}^3 - \mathfrak{n} + 1) - 1}{\mathfrak{n}(\mathfrak{n} + 1)} \ge -\frac{\mathfrak{n}^2 + \mathfrak{n} - 1}{\mathfrak{n} + 1}s$$

and the thesis follows once again as

$$\widetilde{C}_{1}^{-1} \eta^{\Delta_{1}(m,p,l,r,s,u)} \times e^{-\frac{\xi}{4} \sum_{j=1}^{m} |\boldsymbol{\nu}_{\ell_{j}}| - \frac{\xi}{2} \left(\sum_{j=1}^{r} |\boldsymbol{\nu}_{\tilde{\ell}_{j}}| + \sum_{j=1}^{s} |\boldsymbol{\nu}_{\tilde{\ell}_{j}'}| \right)} \\ \leq \left(\eta^{-\frac{n^{2}+n-1}{n+1}} \varepsilon^{\frac{\xi}{2C_{2}}} \right)^{s} \leq \left(\eta^{-\frac{n^{2}+n-1}{n+1} + \frac{\xi}{2C_{2}}} \right)^{s} < 1,$$

where the last inequality holds if C_2 satisfies (5.24).

We now analyse p = 0 and l = 1. The case s = 0 is not as simple as the previous one since $\Delta_1(m, 0, 1, r, 0, u)$ is not positive; nevertheless it satisfies the lower bound

$$\Delta_1(m,0,1,r,0,u) \geq -\frac{\mathfrak{n}}{\mathfrak{n}+1}$$

This case is possible only if $|\sum_{j=1}^{m} \boldsymbol{\nu}_{\ell_j} + \sum_{j=1}^{r} \boldsymbol{\nu}_{\tilde{\ell}_j}| \geq q_n$. Indeed, if this is not the case, that is if $|\sum_{j=1}^{m} \boldsymbol{\nu}_{\ell_j} + \sum_{j=1}^{r} \boldsymbol{\nu}_{\tilde{\ell}_j}| < q_n$, by using the properties of continued fractions, see (5.1), it follows that $|\boldsymbol{\omega} \cdot (\sum_{j=1}^{m} \boldsymbol{\nu}_{\ell_j} + \sum_{j=1}^{r} \boldsymbol{\nu}_{\tilde{\ell}_j})| \geq \frac{C_1}{2} \varepsilon^{\frac{1}{n+1}}$. By hypothesis the lines ℓ_0 and ℓ_1'' are both on scale 1, so we have $|\boldsymbol{\omega} \cdot \boldsymbol{\nu}| < \frac{C_1}{4} \varepsilon^{\frac{1}{n+1}}$ and $|\boldsymbol{\omega} \cdot \boldsymbol{\nu}_{\ell_1''}| < \frac{C_1}{4} \varepsilon^{\frac{1}{n+1}}$, but this is impossible as

$$\frac{C_1}{2}\varepsilon^{\frac{1}{\mathfrak{n}+1}} \leq |\boldsymbol{\omega}\cdot\left(\sum_{j=1}^m \boldsymbol{\nu}_{\ell_j} + \sum_{j=1}^r \boldsymbol{\nu}_{\widetilde{\ell}_j}\right)| = |\boldsymbol{\omega}\cdot(\boldsymbol{\nu}-\boldsymbol{\nu}_{\ell_1''})| \leq |\boldsymbol{\omega}\cdot\boldsymbol{\nu}| + |\boldsymbol{\omega}\cdot\boldsymbol{\nu}_{\ell_1''}| < \frac{C_1}{2}\varepsilon^{\frac{1}{\mathfrak{n}+1}}.$$

So we can obtain the thesis as follows:

$$\begin{split} \widetilde{C}_{1}^{-1} \eta^{\Delta_{1}(m,0,1,r,0,u)} e^{-\frac{\xi}{4} \left(\sum_{j=1}^{m} |\boldsymbol{\nu}_{\ell_{j}}| + \sum_{j=1}^{r} |\boldsymbol{\nu}_{\tilde{\ell}_{j}}|\right) - \frac{\xi}{4} \sum_{j=1}^{r} |\boldsymbol{\nu}_{\tilde{\ell}_{j}}|} \leq \eta^{-\frac{n}{n+1}} e^{-\frac{\xi}{4}q_{n}} \\ \leq \eta^{-\frac{n}{n+1}} \varepsilon^{\frac{\xi}{4C_{2}}} \leq \eta^{-\frac{n}{n+1} + \frac{\xi}{4C_{2}}} \leq \eta^{n-1} < 1 \end{split}$$

where we have used (5.24).

If $s \ge 1$, we notice that

$$\Delta_1(m,0,1,r,s,u) \ge -\frac{s(\mathfrak{n}^3 + \mathfrak{n}^2 - \mathfrak{n}) + \mathfrak{n}^2}{\mathfrak{n}(\mathfrak{n}+1)} \ge -\frac{\mathfrak{n}^3 + 2\mathfrak{n}^2 - \mathfrak{n}}{\mathfrak{n}(\mathfrak{n}+1)} s = -\frac{\mathfrak{n}^2 + 2\mathfrak{n} - 1}{\mathfrak{n}+1} s,$$

hence we have the following estimate:

$$\begin{aligned} \widetilde{C}_{1}^{-1} \eta^{\Delta_{1}(m,0,1,r,0,u)} e^{-\frac{\xi}{4} \left(\sum_{j=1}^{m} |\boldsymbol{\nu}_{\ell_{j}}| + \sum_{j=1}^{r} |\boldsymbol{\nu}_{\tilde{\ell}_{j}}|\right) - \frac{\xi}{4} \sum_{j=1}^{r} |\boldsymbol{\nu}_{\tilde{\ell}_{j}}|} \\ &\leq \left(\eta^{-\frac{n^{2} + 2n - 1}{n+1}} \varepsilon^{\frac{\xi}{2C_{2}}}\right)^{s} \leq (\eta^{-\frac{n^{2} + 2n - 1}{n+1} + \frac{\xi}{2C_{2}}})^{s} \end{aligned}$$

and, by using (5.24), this bound implies the thesis as $\eta^{-\frac{n^2+2n-1}{n+1}+\frac{\xi}{2C_2}} < \eta^{n-1} < 1$.

We now study the case (b), $p + l \ge 2$. We want to prove that

$$\widetilde{C}_{1}^{-1}\eta^{\Delta_{1}(m,p,l,r,s,u)} \times e^{-\frac{\xi}{4}q_{n}(p+l)}e^{-\frac{\xi}{4}\sum_{j=1}^{m}|\boldsymbol{\nu}_{\ell_{j}}| - \frac{\xi}{2}\left(\sum_{j=1}^{r}|\boldsymbol{\nu}_{\tilde{\ell}_{j}}| + \sum_{j=1}^{s}|\boldsymbol{\nu}_{\tilde{\ell}_{j}'}|\right)} \le e^{-\frac{\xi}{4}q_{n}}.$$
(5.25)

First of all notice that

$$e^{-\frac{\xi}{4}q_n(p+l)} = e^{-\frac{\xi}{4}q_n}e^{-\frac{\xi}{4}q_n(p+l-1)}$$

so we can use the first factor to erase the same factor on the right hand side of (5.25).

By using the fact that $p+l \ge 2$, we can bound $\Delta_1(m, p, l, r, s, u)$ in the following way:

$$\Delta_1(m,p,l,r,s,u) \ge -\frac{\mathfrak{n}^3 - \mathfrak{n} + 1}{\mathfrak{n}(\mathfrak{n}+1)}s - \frac{\mathfrak{n}^3 - \mathfrak{n}^2 - \mathfrak{n} + 2}{\mathfrak{n}(\mathfrak{n}+1)}$$

and we obtain

$$\begin{split} \widetilde{C}_{1}^{-1} \eta^{\Delta_{1}(m,p,l,r,s,u)} e^{-\frac{\xi}{4} \sum_{j=1}^{m} |\boldsymbol{\nu}_{\ell_{j}}| - \frac{\xi}{2} \left(\sum_{j=1}^{r} |\boldsymbol{\nu}_{\tilde{\ell}_{j}}| + \sum_{j=1}^{s} |\boldsymbol{\nu}_{\tilde{\ell}_{j}'}| \right)} e^{-\frac{\xi}{4} q_{n}(p+l-1)} \\ & \leq \eta^{-\frac{\mathfrak{n}^{3} - \mathfrak{n}^{2} - \mathfrak{n} + 2}{\mathfrak{n}(\mathfrak{n}+1)}} e^{-\frac{\xi}{4} q_{n}} \left(\eta^{-\frac{\mathfrak{n}^{3} - \mathfrak{n} + 1}{\mathfrak{n}(\mathfrak{n}+1)}} e^{-\frac{\xi}{2} q_{n}} \right)^{s} \\ & \leq \eta^{-\frac{\mathfrak{n}^{3} - \mathfrak{n}^{2} - \mathfrak{n} + 2}{\mathfrak{n}(\mathfrak{n}+1)}} \varepsilon^{\frac{\xi}{4C_{2}}} \left(\eta^{-\frac{\mathfrak{n}^{3} - \mathfrak{n} + 1}{\mathfrak{n}(\mathfrak{n}+1)}} \varepsilon^{\frac{\xi}{2C_{2}}} \right)^{s} \\ & \leq \eta^{-\frac{\mathfrak{n}^{3} - \mathfrak{n}^{2} - \mathfrak{n} + 2}{\mathfrak{n}(\mathfrak{n}+1)} + \frac{\xi}{4C_{2}}} \left(\eta^{-\frac{\mathfrak{n}^{3} - \mathfrak{n} + 1}{\mathfrak{n}(\mathfrak{n}+1)} + \frac{\xi}{2C_{2}}} \right)^{s}. \end{split}$$

So if we require $\eta^{-\frac{n^3-n^2-n+2}{n(n+1)}+\frac{\xi}{4C_2}} < 1$, that also implies $\eta^{-\frac{n^3-n+1}{n(n+1)}+\frac{\xi}{2C_2}} < 1$, the thesis follows. In fact, we do not have to add any other condition on C_2 , because if C_2 satisfies (5.24), then $\eta^{-\frac{n^3-n^2-n+2}{n(n+1)}+\frac{\xi}{4C_2}} < \eta^{\frac{2(n-1)}{n}}$, that is actually less than 1.

We now analyse the third case, (c), p = l = 0. First of all we notice that

$$e^{-\frac{\xi}{4}\left(\sum_{j=1}^{m} |\boldsymbol{\nu}_{\ell_{j}}| + \sum_{j=1}^{r} |\boldsymbol{\nu}_{\tilde{\ell}_{j}}| + \sum_{j=1}^{s} |\boldsymbol{\nu}_{\tilde{\ell}'_{j}}|\right)} \le e^{-\frac{\xi}{4}|\boldsymbol{\nu}|} \le e^{-\frac{\xi}{4}q_{n}},$$

as $|\boldsymbol{\nu}| \geq q_n$. So we have to prove that

$$\widetilde{C}_{1}^{-1} \eta^{\Delta_{1}(m,0,0,r,s,u)} \times e^{-\frac{\xi}{4} \left(\sum_{j=1}^{r} |\boldsymbol{\nu}_{\tilde{\ell}_{j}}| + \sum_{j=1}^{s} |\boldsymbol{\nu}_{\tilde{\ell}_{j}'}|\right)} \leq 1.$$

If s = 0, one has $u + m + r \ge \mathfrak{n}$, that implies

$$\Delta_1(m,0,0,r,0,u) \ge \frac{m(\mathfrak{n}^3-\mathfrak{n})+\mathfrak{n}u-\mathfrak{n}^2}{\mathfrak{n}(\mathfrak{n}+1)}.$$

Then if $m \ge 1$ the function $\Delta_1(m, 0, 0, r, 0, u)$ is strictly positive, otherwise, if m = 0, one has $\Delta_1(0, 0, 0, r, 0, u) \ge -\frac{n}{n+1}$. Moreover, in such a case, $\boldsymbol{\nu} = \sum_{j=1}^r \boldsymbol{\nu}_{\tilde{\ell}_j}$ and $|\boldsymbol{\nu}| \ge q_n \ge C_2^{-1} \log \frac{1}{\varepsilon}$, so, it follows that

$$\widetilde{C}^{-1}\eta^{\Delta_1(0,0,0,r,0,u)}e^{-\frac{\xi}{4}\sum_{j=1}^r|\boldsymbol{\nu}_{\widetilde{\ell}_j}|} \leq \eta^{-\frac{\mathfrak{n}}{\mathfrak{n}+1}}e^{-\frac{\xi}{4}|\boldsymbol{\nu}|}$$
$$\leq \eta^{-\frac{\mathfrak{n}}{\mathfrak{n}+1}}\varepsilon^{\frac{\xi}{4C_2}} \leq \eta^{-\frac{\mathfrak{n}}{\mathfrak{n}+1}+\frac{\xi}{4C_2}}$$
$$< \eta^{\mathfrak{n}-1} < 1$$

and the thesis holds once again, provided C_2 is as in (5.24).

If $s \ge 1$, we notice again that $\Delta_1(m, 0, 0, r, s, u) \ge -\frac{n^2+2n-1}{n+1}s$ and the desired bound follows by requiring $\eta^{-\frac{n^2+2n-1}{n+1}+\frac{\xi}{4C_2}} \le 1$. Then

$$\widetilde{C}_{1}^{-1} \eta^{\Delta_{1}(m,0,0,r,s,u)} \times e^{-\frac{\xi}{4} \left(\sum_{j=1}^{r} |\boldsymbol{\nu}_{\tilde{\ell}_{j}}| + \sum_{j=1}^{s} |\boldsymbol{\nu}_{\tilde{\ell}_{j}'}|\right)} \\ \leq \left(\eta^{-\frac{n^{2}+2n-1}{n+1}} \varepsilon^{\frac{\xi}{4C_{2}}}\right)^{s} \leq \left(\eta^{-\frac{n^{2}+2n-1}{n+1} + \frac{\xi}{4C_{2}}}\right)^{s} \leq 1.$$

Hence to sum up, the third inequality of (5.18) holds by requiring $C_2 \leq \frac{n+1}{4(n^2+2n-1)}\xi$.

Therefore, if we replace the condition on C_2 in (5.24) with the last one, since

$$\begin{cases} C_2 \le \frac{(\mathfrak{n}+1)\xi}{4(\mathfrak{n}^2+\mathfrak{n}-1)} \\ C_2 \le \frac{(\mathfrak{n}+1)\xi}{4(\mathfrak{n}^2+2\mathfrak{n}-1)} \end{cases} \implies C_2 \le \frac{(\mathfrak{n}+1)\xi}{4(\mathfrak{n}^2+2\mathfrak{n}-1)}, \tag{5.26}$$

that is, if we take C_2 as

$$C_2 = \frac{\mathfrak{n} + 1}{4(\mathfrak{n}^2 + 2\mathfrak{n} - 1)}\xi,$$
(5.27)

both (5.17) and (5.18) are satisfied and the proof of Lemma 5.6 is completed. \Box

Corollary 5.7. The bound in (5.18) can be simplified as follows:

$$|\bar{\mathscr{V}}(\vartheta)| \le \rho C^k \eta^{\frac{k}{\mathfrak{n}(\mathfrak{n}+1)} + \frac{\mathfrak{n}^2 - 1}{\mathfrak{n}}},\tag{5.28}$$

in such a way that (5.18) becomes

$$|\mathscr{V}(\vartheta)| \le \rho C^k \eta^{\frac{k}{\mathfrak{n}(\mathfrak{n}+1)} + \frac{\mathfrak{n}^2 - 1}{\mathfrak{n}}} \prod_{v \in E_1(\vartheta)} e^{-\frac{\xi}{2}|\boldsymbol{\nu}_v|},$$
(5.29)

provided C_2 as in (5.27).

Proof. In order to obtain these expressions we have bounded the first term in (5.18) as $e^{-\frac{\xi}{4}|\boldsymbol{\nu}|} \leq 1$, the second and the third alternatives as

$$e^{-\frac{\xi}{4}q_n} < \varepsilon^{\frac{\xi}{4C_2}} \le \varepsilon^{\frac{2n^3+n^2+1-2n}{n(n+1)}} < 1,$$

$$\eta^{-\mathfrak{n}+1}e^{-\frac{\xi}{4}q_n} < \eta^{-\mathfrak{n}+1}\varepsilon^{\frac{\xi}{4C_2}} < \eta^{-\mathfrak{n}+1+\frac{\xi}{4C_2}} < \eta^{-\mathfrak{n}+1+\frac{2n^3+n^2+1-2n}{n(n+1)}} \le \eta^{\frac{n^3+n^2+1-n}{n(n+1)}} < 1,$$

where we have used the lower bound of q_n in (5.7) with C_2 as in (5.27).

Remark 5.8. The bound (5.18) has been used for the induction argument, but what we need in the following is the simpler bound (5.28).

5.3 Convergence of the Renormalized Expansion

We want to prove that the series described in (2.15) converges.

Lemma 5.9. For any $k \geq 1$ and $\nu \in \mathbb{Z}^2_*$ one has

$$|X_{\nu}^{[k]}| \le \rho B^k \eta^{\frac{k}{\mathfrak{n}(n+1)} + \frac{\mathfrak{n}^2 - 1}{\mathfrak{n}}} e^{-\frac{\xi}{4}|\nu|},$$
(5.30)

where B is a positive constant proportional to C, with C defined as in (5.15a), provided C_2 as in (5.27) and $\varepsilon \in \bigcup_{n \ge N} I_n$, with I_n and N as in Theorem 2.

Proof. To bound the coefficients $X_{\nu}^{[k]}$ defined as in (2.14), we use the estimate (5.29) and sum over all trees in $\mathfrak{T}_{k,\nu}$.

The sum over the mode labels $\boldsymbol{\nu} \in \mathbb{Z}^2$ in (2.14) can be performed by using the factor $e^{-\frac{\xi}{2}|\boldsymbol{\nu}_v|}$ associated with end nodes in $E_1(\vartheta)$ and this gives a bound $B_1^{|E_1(\vartheta)|}e^{-\frac{\xi}{4}|\boldsymbol{\nu}_v|}$ for some positive constant B_1 . The sum over the other labels produces a factor $B_2^{k(\vartheta)}$, with B_2 suitable positive constant. By taking $B = B_1 B_2 C$ the thesis follows.

Corollary 5.10. The function $\bar{X}(\psi;\varepsilon,\zeta,c)$ is analytic in ψ in a strip $\Sigma_{\xi'}$, with $\xi' < \frac{\xi}{4}$.

Proof. It follows from the bound on the Fourier coefficients given by Lemma 5.9. \Box

Lemma 5.11. $\overline{X}(\psi; \varepsilon, \zeta, c)$, defined as in (2.15), solves the range equation, i.e. is a solution to (2.16).

Proof. The proof is the same as in Section 3.4.

We refer to [75] for the definition of continuity – and differentiability – in the sense of Whitney: let A be a closed set in euclidean space E and let f(x) be a function defined and continuous in A. Then this function can be extended so as to be continuous throughout E; see also [31], §125.

Lemma 5.12. $\overline{X}(\psi;\varepsilon,\zeta,c)$ can be extended to a function $\widetilde{X}(\psi;\varepsilon,\zeta,c)$, defined for all $\varepsilon \in [0,\varepsilon_0)$, such that $\widetilde{X}(\psi;\varepsilon,\zeta,c) \equiv \overline{X}(\psi;\varepsilon,\zeta,c)$ for $\varepsilon \in \overline{\bigcup_{n\geq N}I_n}$ and $\widetilde{X}(\psi;\varepsilon,\zeta,c)$ is continuous in ε and $\widetilde{X}(\psi;\varepsilon,\zeta,c) \to 0$ as $\varepsilon \to 0$.

Proof. Continuity of the function $\varepsilon \to \overline{X}(\psi; \varepsilon, \zeta, c)$ holds trivially for $\varepsilon > 0$ such that $\varepsilon \in \bigcup_{n \ge N} I_n$, with I_n defined as in (1.9). On the contrary continuity at $\varepsilon = 0$ needs some discussions. Set

$$\mathcal{F}(\varepsilon,\zeta) := ||\bar{X}(\cdot;\varepsilon,\zeta,c)||_{\infty} = \sup\{\bar{X}(\psi;\varepsilon,\zeta,c) : \psi \in \Sigma_{\xi'}\},$$
(5.31)

with $\xi' < \frac{\xi}{4}$ as in Corollary 5.10. Since $\mathcal{F}(0,\zeta) = 0$ by construction, see (5.8) and take $\varepsilon = 0$, we have to prove that $\mathcal{F}(\varepsilon,\zeta) \to 0$ as $\varepsilon \to 0$, that means for all $\iota > 0$ there exists $\delta > 0$ such that $0 < \varepsilon < \delta$ implies $|\mathcal{F}(\varepsilon,\zeta)| < \iota$.

We have

$$\mathcal{F}(\varepsilon,\zeta) \leq \sum_{k=1}^{\infty} \sum_{\boldsymbol{\nu} \in \mathbb{Z}^d} |X_{\boldsymbol{\nu}}^{[k]}| e^{\xi'|\boldsymbol{\nu}|}.$$

Then we bound the value of a tree with k nodes by using the bound (5.29) for k-1 nodes except one end node and by noticing that $E_1(\vartheta) \neq \emptyset$ (otherwise $\nu = 0$). Thus, we have:

$$\begin{split} \sum_{\boldsymbol{\nu}\in\mathbb{Z}^d} \left| X_{\boldsymbol{\nu}}^{[k]} \right| e^{\xi'|\boldsymbol{\nu}|} &\leq \sum_{\boldsymbol{\nu}\in\mathbb{Z}^d} \sum_{\vartheta\in\mathfrak{T}_{\boldsymbol{\nu},k}} \left| \mathscr{V}(\theta) \right| e^{\xi'|\boldsymbol{\nu}|} \\ &\leq \rho \, C^k \eta^{\frac{k}{\mathfrak{n}(\mathfrak{n}+1)} + \frac{\mathfrak{n}^2 - 1}{\mathfrak{n}}} \left(\frac{\varepsilon}{\eta}\right)^{\frac{\mathfrak{n}}{\mathfrak{n}+1}} \sum_{\vartheta\in\mathfrak{T}_{\boldsymbol{\nu},k}} \prod_{v\in E_1(\vartheta)} \sum_{\boldsymbol{\nu}_v\in\mathbb{Z}^d} e^{-\xi|\boldsymbol{\nu}_v|/4} \\ &\leq \rho B^k \eta^{\frac{k}{\mathfrak{n}(\mathfrak{n}+1)} + \frac{\mathfrak{n}^3 - \mathfrak{n} - 1}{\mathfrak{n}(\mathfrak{n}+1)}} \varepsilon^{\frac{\mathfrak{n}}{\mathfrak{n}+1}} \sum_{\boldsymbol{\nu}\in\mathbb{Z}^d} e^{-\xi|\boldsymbol{\nu}|/4}. \end{split}$$

Notice that we have used that an end node $w \in E_1(\vartheta)$ and the respective exiting line can be bounded or with $\varepsilon^{\frac{n}{n+1}}e^{-\xi|\boldsymbol{\nu}_w|}$ or with $\eta^{-n+1}e^{-\xi|\boldsymbol{\nu}_w|}$. Hence we can collect a common factor $e^{-\frac{\xi}{2}|\boldsymbol{\nu}_w|}$ that multiplied by $e^{\xi'|\boldsymbol{\nu}|}\prod_{v\in E_1(\vartheta)\setminus\{w\}}e^{-\frac{\xi}{2}|\boldsymbol{\nu}_w|}$ gives the factor $\prod_{v\in E_1(\vartheta)}e^{-\frac{\xi}{4}|\boldsymbol{\nu}_v|}$. Therefore we are left with a contribution $\varepsilon^{\frac{n}{n+1}}e^{-\frac{\xi}{2}|\boldsymbol{\nu}_w|}$ or $\eta^{-n+1}e^{-\frac{\xi}{2}|\boldsymbol{\nu}_w|}$: by using (5.7) and (5.26) we have

$$\eta^{-\mathfrak{n}+1}e^{-\frac{\xi}{2}|\boldsymbol{\nu}_w|} \leq \eta^{-\mathfrak{n}+1}e^{-\frac{\xi}{2}q_n} \leq \eta^{-\mathfrak{n}+1}\varepsilon^{\frac{2(\mathfrak{n}^2+2\mathfrak{n}-1)}{\mathfrak{n}+1}} \leq \varepsilon^{\frac{\mathfrak{n}^2+4\mathfrak{n}-1}{\mathfrak{n}+1}} \leq \varepsilon^{\frac{\mathfrak{n}}{\mathfrak{n}+1}},$$

since $\eta \geq \varepsilon$.

Hence we obtain the following bound for $\mathcal{F}(\varepsilon, \zeta)$:

$$\mathcal{F}(\varepsilon,\zeta) \le \rho \, \frac{\eta^{\frac{n^3-n-1}{n(n+1)}}}{1-B\eta^{\frac{1}{n(n+1)}}} \, \varepsilon^{\frac{n}{n+1}} \sum_{\boldsymbol{\nu} \in \mathbb{Z}^d} e^{-\xi|\boldsymbol{\nu}|/4} \tag{5.32}$$

and, for fixed $\iota > 0$, by choosing $\delta > 0$ suitably small and taking $0 < \varepsilon < \delta$ we have $\mathcal{F}(\varepsilon, \zeta) \leq \iota$.

By reasoning ia a similar way, one proves that, for all $\varepsilon, \varepsilon' \in \bigcup_{n \geq N} I_n$, the function \mathcal{F} satisfies the bound $|\mathcal{F}(\varepsilon,\zeta) - \mathcal{F}(\varepsilon',\zeta)| \leq \omega(\varepsilon,\varepsilon')$ for a suitable modulus of continuity ω ; the bounds above ensures that $\varepsilon \mapsto \mathcal{F}(\varepsilon,\zeta)$ is at least Hölder-continuous with exponent $\mathfrak{n}/(\mathfrak{n}+1)$

Therefore, in the light of (5.32), the function $\overline{X}(\psi;\varepsilon,\zeta,c)$ can be extended in the sense of Whitney to a function $\widetilde{X}(\psi;\varepsilon,\zeta,c)$, defined for all $\varepsilon \in [0,\varepsilon_0)$, such that $\widetilde{X}(\psi;\varepsilon,\zeta,c) \equiv \overline{X}(\psi;\varepsilon,\zeta,c)$ for $\varepsilon \in \bigcup_{n\geq N} I_n$. Therefore $\widetilde{X}(\psi;\varepsilon,\zeta,c)$ represents the Whitney extension of $\overline{X}(\psi;\varepsilon,\zeta,c)$ to the interval $[0,\varepsilon_0]$ and is continuous in ε by construction, in particular $\widetilde{X}(\psi;\varepsilon,\zeta,c) \to 0$ as $\varepsilon \to 0$.

5.4 The bifurcation equation

Define the function $\mathcal{H}(\varepsilon, \zeta)$ as in (3.22), that is

$$\mathcal{H}(\varepsilon,\zeta) := [g(c+\zeta+\bar{X}(\cdot;\varepsilon,\zeta,c))]_{\mathbf{0}} - f_{\mathbf{0}}.$$
(5.33)

Hence the bifurcation equation in (5.9) becomes $\mathcal{H}(\varepsilon, \zeta) = 0$.

Lemma 5.13. The function $\mathcal{H}(\varepsilon, \zeta)$ is $C^{\mathfrak{n}}$ with respect to ζ .

Proof. By Hypothesis 1, one has $g(c) = f_0$, $\frac{d^i g}{dx^i}(c) = 0$ for $i = 1, 2, ..., \mathfrak{n} - 1$ and $\frac{d^\mathfrak{n} g}{dx^\mathfrak{n}}(c) \neq 0$, where \mathfrak{n} is odd and such that $\mathfrak{n} \geq 3$. Hence

$$\mathcal{H}(\varepsilon,\zeta) = \sum_{p=\mathfrak{n}} g_p(c) [(\zeta + \bar{X}(\cdot;\varepsilon,\zeta,c))^p]_{\mathbf{0}} = \sum_{k=\mathfrak{n}+1}^{\infty} \sum_{\vartheta \in \mathfrak{T}_{k,\mathbf{0}}} \mathscr{V}^*(\vartheta),$$

 $\mathscr{V}^*(\vartheta)$ is defined as $\mathscr{V}(\vartheta)$ with the only difference that the node factor of the first node v_0 is $F_{v_0} = g_{p_{v_0}}$ (without the factor $-\varepsilon$ appearing in (2.9)). Therefore it is sufficient to prove that the function $\mathscr{V}^*(\vartheta)$ is C^n in ζ . We first provide a bound for the renormalized trees associated with the solution of the bifurcation equation. Take C as in (5.15a) and ρ, Γ as in (5.3).

We consider the same construction of Lemma 5.6; the only difference is that now, if we denote with $\boldsymbol{\nu}$ the momentum of the root line, one has $\boldsymbol{\nu} = 0$. The bound for $\mathscr{V}^*(\vartheta)$ can be easily obtained from the proof of Lemma 5.6 by noticing that the propagator of the root line is equal to one. Indeed we have:

$$\begin{aligned} |\mathcal{V}^{*}(\vartheta)| &\leq \Gamma \rho^{-(m+p+l+r+s)} \rho^{m+p+l+r+s} C^{k-1} \eta^{\frac{k-r-s-u-1}{\mathfrak{n}(\mathfrak{n}+1)} + \frac{\mathfrak{n}^{2}-1}{\mathfrak{n}}(m+p+l)} \varepsilon^{\frac{\mathfrak{n}}{\mathfrak{n}+1}r} \\ &\times \eta^{(-\mathfrak{n}+1)(l+s)} |\zeta|^{u} e^{-\frac{\xi}{4} \sum_{j=1}^{m} |\boldsymbol{\nu}_{\ell_{j}}|} e^{-\frac{\xi}{4} q_{n}(p+l)} e^{-\frac{\xi}{2} \left(\sum_{j=1}^{r} |\boldsymbol{\nu}_{\ell_{j}}| + \sum_{j=1}^{s} |\boldsymbol{\nu}_{\ell_{j}'}|\right)} \\ &\leq \rho \Gamma C^{k} \bar{C}^{-1} \eta^{\frac{k}{\mathfrak{n}(\mathfrak{n}+1)} + \Delta_{2}(m,p,l,r,s,u)} e^{-\frac{\xi}{4} q_{n}(p+l)} e^{-\frac{\xi}{4} \sum_{j=1}^{m} |\boldsymbol{\nu}_{\ell_{j}}| - \frac{\xi}{2} \left(\sum_{j=1}^{r} |\boldsymbol{\nu}_{\ell_{j}}| + \sum_{j=1}^{s} |\boldsymbol{\nu}_{\ell_{j}'}|\right)} \\ &\leq \rho \Gamma C^{k} \eta^{\frac{k+\mathfrak{n}^{3}-\mathfrak{n}-1}{\mathfrak{n}(\mathfrak{n}+1)} + \frac{m(\mathfrak{n}^{3}-\mathfrak{n})+\mathfrak{n}u}{\mathfrak{n}(\mathfrak{n}+1)}} e^{-\frac{\xi}{4} q_{n}(p+l+s)}, \end{aligned}$$

$$\tag{5.34}$$

with C as in (5.15a) and

$$\bar{C} := \rho C \ge 1$$

and where we have used that

$$\begin{split} \Delta_2(m,p,l,r,s,u) &:= \frac{(m+p+l+r+u)(\mathfrak{n}^2-1) + (m+p)(\mathfrak{n}^3-\mathfrak{n}) + \mathfrak{n}u}{\mathfrak{n}(\mathfrak{n}+1)} + \\ &- \frac{1+s(\mathfrak{n}^3-\mathfrak{n}+1)}{\mathfrak{n}(\mathfrak{n}+1)} \ge \\ &\ge \frac{\mathfrak{n}^3-\mathfrak{n}-1}{\mathfrak{n}(\mathfrak{n}+1)} + \frac{m(\mathfrak{n}^3-\mathfrak{n}) + \mathfrak{n}u}{\mathfrak{n}(\mathfrak{n}+1)} - \frac{s(\mathfrak{n}^2+\mathfrak{n}-1)}{\mathfrak{n}+1} \end{split}$$

and

$$\eta^{-s\frac{n^2+n-1}{n+1}}e^{-\frac{\xi}{4}\sum_{j=1}^{s}|\boldsymbol{\nu}_{\tilde{\ell}_{j}'}|} \le \left(\eta^{\frac{-n^2-n+1}{n+1}+\frac{\xi}{4C_2}}\right)^s \le 1,$$

since C_2 is as in (5.27).

In particular $\mathscr{V}^*(\vartheta)$ depends on ζ through the node factors and through the propagators associated with lines on scale 1, see (2.13) and (2.14). For $0 \leq j \leq \mathfrak{n}$, this is:

$$\partial_{\zeta}^{j} \mathscr{V}^{*}(\vartheta) = \sum_{\vartheta \in \mathfrak{T}_{k,\mathbf{0}}} \left[\partial_{\zeta}^{j} \Big(\prod_{v \in N(\vartheta)} F_{v} \Big) \cdot \Big(\prod_{\ell \in L(\vartheta)} G_{\ell} \Big) + \Big(\prod_{v \in N(\vartheta)} F_{v} \Big) \cdot \partial_{\zeta}^{j} \Big(\prod_{\ell \in L(\vartheta)} G_{\ell} \Big) \right]$$

If the derivative acts on the node factors, we have

$$\partial_{\zeta} \Big(\prod_{v \in N(\vartheta)} F_v\Big) = |E_0(\vartheta)| \zeta^{|E_0(\vartheta)|-1} \Big(\prod_{v \in N(\vartheta) \setminus E_0(\vartheta)} F_v\Big).$$

Then, if we assume that \mathfrak{n} derivatives act on the node factor, by using (5.34), one has

$$\left| \partial_{\zeta}^{j} \Big(\prod_{v \in N(\vartheta)} F_{v} \Big) \cdot \Big(\prod_{\ell \in L(\vartheta)} G_{\ell} \Big) \right| \leq |E_{0}(\vartheta)| (|E_{0}(\vartheta)| - 1) \cdots (|E_{0}(\vartheta)| - j + 1) \rho \Gamma C'^{k} \times$$

$$\times \eta^{\frac{k + \mathfrak{n}^{3} - \mathfrak{n} - 1}{\mathfrak{n}(\mathfrak{n} + 1)} + \frac{m(\mathfrak{n}^{3} - \mathfrak{n}) + \mathfrak{n}u}{\mathfrak{n}(\mathfrak{n} + 1)} - j} e^{-\frac{\xi}{4}q_{n}(p + l + s)}$$

$$(5.35)$$

for $0 \le j \le \mathfrak{n}$ and for a suitable positive constant C' depending on C, with C defined as in (5.15a).

If the derivatives act on the propagators the analysis is more delicate. We have to distinguish among two cases: the case in which the derivatives act on the same line and the case in which the derivatives act on different lines. The worst case is the first one. Denote $x = \boldsymbol{\omega} \cdot \boldsymbol{\nu}_{\ell}$, with $\ell \in L(\vartheta)$, and suppose that \mathfrak{n} derivatives act on the propagator $G^{[1]}(x)$, see (2.11). Then one has:

$$\partial_{\zeta} G^{[1]}(x) = \chi(|x|) \frac{\partial_{\zeta} \mathcal{M}(x)}{(D_{1}(x))^{2}},$$

$$\partial_{\zeta}^{2} G^{[1]}(x) = \chi(|x|) \Big[\frac{2(\partial_{\zeta} \mathcal{M}(x))^{2}}{(D_{1}(x))^{3}} + \frac{\partial_{\zeta}^{2} \mathcal{M}(x)}{(D_{1}(x))^{2}} \Big],$$

$$\partial_{\zeta}^{j} G^{[1]}(x) = \chi(|x|) \sum_{k=0}^{j-1} \sum_{i_{1},...,i_{j-k} \in \mathcal{A}} a_{i_{1},...,i_{j-k}} \frac{(\partial_{\zeta}^{i_{1}} \mathcal{M}(x))(\partial_{\zeta}^{i_{2}} \mathcal{M}(x)) \dots (\partial_{\zeta}^{i_{j-k}} \mathcal{M}(x))}{(D_{1}(x))^{j-k+1}}, 3 \leq j \leq \mathfrak{n},$$

(5.36)

where the index set in the last sum is

$$\mathcal{A} := \{i_1, \dots, i_{j-k} \in \mathbb{N} : i_1 + \dots + i_{j-k} = j \text{ and } i_1 \ge i_2 \ge \dots \ge i_{j-k} \ge 1\}$$

and for suitable constants $a_{i_1,\ldots,i_{j-k}}$. Before proceeding with the estimate of the derivatives, we have to provide a bound for $\partial_{\zeta} \mathcal{M}(x; \varepsilon, \zeta, c)$. Since the lines composing $\mathcal{M}(x; \varepsilon, \zeta, c)$ are on scale 0, see (2.12a), the derivatives act only on the node factor. By Lemma 5.2 and Lemma 5.3, it follows that

$$\begin{aligned} |\partial_{\zeta}\mathcal{M}(x)| &\leq b_{1}\varepsilon(\zeta^{\mathfrak{n}-2} + \eta^{\frac{2\mathfrak{n}^{2}-2\mathfrak{n}-1}{\mathfrak{n}+1}}) \leq 2b_{1}\varepsilon\eta^{\mathfrak{n}-2}, \\ |\partial_{\zeta}^{2}\mathcal{M}(x)| &\leq b_{2}\varepsilon(\zeta^{\mathfrak{n}-3} + \eta^{\frac{2\mathfrak{n}^{2}-3\mathfrak{n}-2}{\mathfrak{n}+1}}) \leq 2b_{2}\varepsilon\eta^{\mathfrak{n}-3}, \\ \cdots \\ |\partial_{\zeta}^{\mathfrak{n}-1}\mathcal{M}(x)| &\leq b_{\mathfrak{n}-1}\varepsilon(1+\eta^{\frac{\mathfrak{n}^{2}-\mathfrak{n}+1}{\mathfrak{n}+1}}) \leq 2b_{\mathfrak{n}-1}\varepsilon, \\ |\partial_{\zeta}^{\mathfrak{n}}\mathcal{M}(x)| &\leq b_{\mathfrak{n}}\varepsilon(1+\eta^{\frac{\mathfrak{n}^{2}-2\mathfrak{n}}{\mathfrak{n}+1}}) \leq 2b_{\mathfrak{n}}\varepsilon, \end{aligned}$$

with suitable positive constants b_1, \ldots, b_n . The first contribution is from resonances that contain only one internal node, while the second one is from all the contributions of resonances with at least two internal nodes.

Hence, to sum up, we have

$$|\partial_{\mathcal{C}}^{j}\mathcal{M}(x)| \le 2b_{j}\varepsilon\eta^{\mathfrak{n}-j-1}, \qquad \text{for } j=1,\dots,\mathfrak{n}-1, \tag{5.37}$$

$$|\partial_{\zeta}^{\mathfrak{n}}\mathcal{M}(x)| \le 2b_{\mathfrak{n}}\,\varepsilon. \tag{5.38}$$

We can write the contributions of the derivatives acting on the same propagator as follows:

$$\begin{split} \left(\prod_{v\in N(\vartheta)} F_v\right) \partial_{\zeta} \left(\prod_{\ell\in L(\vartheta)} G_\ell\right) &= \mathscr{V}(\vartheta) \frac{\partial_{\zeta} \mathcal{M}(x)}{D_1(x)} \\ \left(\prod_{v\in N(\vartheta)} F_v\right) \partial_{\zeta}^2 \left(\prod_{\ell\in L(\vartheta)} G_\ell\right) &= \mathscr{V}(\vartheta) \Big[\frac{2(\partial_{\zeta} \mathcal{M}(x))^2}{(D_1(x))^2} + \frac{\partial_{\zeta}^2 \mathcal{M}(x)}{D_1(x)} \Big] \\ & \cdots \\ \left(\prod_{v\in N(\vartheta)} F_v\right) \partial_{\zeta}^{\mathfrak{n}} \left(\prod_{\ell\in L(\vartheta)} G_\ell\right) &= \\ &= \mathscr{V}(\vartheta) \sum_{k=0}^{\mathfrak{n}-1} \sum_{i_1,\dots,i_{\mathfrak{n}-k}\in\mathcal{A}} a_{i_1,\dots,i_{j-k}} \frac{(\partial_{\zeta}^{i_1} \mathcal{M}(x))(\partial_{\zeta}^{i_2} \mathcal{M}(x)) \dots (\partial_{\zeta}^{i_{\mathfrak{n}-k}} \mathcal{M}(x))}{(D_1(x))^{\mathfrak{n}-k}}, \end{split}$$

for $n \geq 3$ and for suitable constants $a_{i_1,\ldots,i_{j-k}}$.

By using Lemma 5.3 and (5.37), (5.38), up to a constant, we have

$$\left|\frac{(\partial_{\zeta}^{i_1}\mathcal{M}(x))(\partial_{\zeta}^{i_2}\mathcal{M}(x))\dots(\partial_{\zeta}^{i_{j-k}}\mathcal{M}(x))}{(D_1(x))^{j-k}}\right| \le \varepsilon^{j-k}\eta^{(\mathfrak{n}-1)(j-k)-\sum_{s=1}^{j-k}(i_s)}\varepsilon^{-j+k}\eta^{-(\mathfrak{n}-1)(j-k)}$$
$$=\eta^{-j} \quad \text{for } 1\le j\le \mathfrak{n}.$$

Then, from (5.34), one has the bound

$$\left| \mathscr{V}^{*}(\vartheta) \frac{(\partial_{\zeta}^{i_{1}} \mathcal{M}(x))(\partial_{\zeta}^{i_{2}} \mathcal{M}(x)) \dots (\partial_{\zeta}^{i_{j-k}} \mathcal{M}(x))}{(D_{1}(x))^{j-k}} \right| \leq \rho \Gamma C^{k} \eta^{\frac{k+\mathfrak{n}^{3}-\mathfrak{n}-1}{\mathfrak{n}(\mathfrak{n}+1)} + \frac{m(\mathfrak{n}^{3}-\mathfrak{n})+\mathfrak{n}u}{\mathfrak{n}(\mathfrak{n}+1)} - j} e^{-\frac{\xi}{4}q_{n}(p+l+s)}$$
for $1 \leq j \leq \mathfrak{n}$,

and in particular the worst case is

$$\left| \mathcal{V}^{*}(\vartheta) \frac{(\partial_{\zeta}^{i_{1}} \mathcal{M}(x))(\partial_{\zeta}^{i_{2}} \mathcal{M}(x)) \dots (\partial_{\zeta}^{i_{n-k}} \mathcal{M}(x))}{(D_{1}(x))^{\mathfrak{n}-k}} \right| \leq \rho \Gamma C^{k} \eta^{\frac{k+\mathfrak{n}^{3}-\mathfrak{n}-1}{\mathfrak{n}(\mathfrak{n}+1)} + \frac{m(\mathfrak{n}^{3}-\mathfrak{n})+\mathfrak{n}u}{\mathfrak{n}(\mathfrak{n}+1)} - \mathfrak{n}} e^{-\frac{\xi}{4}q_{n}(p+l+s)} \\ \leq \rho \Gamma C^{k} \eta^{\frac{k-\mathfrak{n}^{2}-\mathfrak{n}-1}{\mathfrak{n}(\mathfrak{n}+1)} + \frac{m(\mathfrak{n}^{3}-\mathfrak{n})+\mathfrak{n}u}{\mathfrak{n}(\mathfrak{n}+1)}} e^{-\frac{\xi}{4}q_{n}(p+l+s)}.$$

$$(5.39)$$

Notice that we have to bound the same contribution as in (5.35).

If $p + l + s \ge 1$, by using (5.27), one has

$$\eta^{\frac{k-\mathfrak{n}^2-\mathfrak{n}-1}{\mathfrak{n}(\mathfrak{n}+1)}+\frac{m(\mathfrak{n}^3-\mathfrak{n})+\mathfrak{n}u}{\mathfrak{n}(\mathfrak{n}+1)}}e^{-\frac{\xi}{4}q_n(p+l+s)} \leq \eta^{\frac{k-\mathfrak{n}^2-\mathfrak{n}-1}{\mathfrak{n}(\mathfrak{n}+1)}+\frac{\xi}{4C_2}} \leq \eta^{\frac{k+\mathfrak{n}^3+\mathfrak{n}^2-2\mathfrak{n}-1}{\mathfrak{n}(\mathfrak{n}+1)}},$$

that is bounded since η is supposed to be small.

If p + l + s = 0, we have to distinguish among two different cases: $m \ge 1$ or m = 0and $r + u \ge \mathfrak{n}$. If $m \ge 1$, one has

$$\eta^{\frac{k-\mathfrak{n}^2-\mathfrak{n}-1}{\mathfrak{n}(\mathfrak{n}+1)}+\frac{m(\mathfrak{n}^3-\mathfrak{n})+\mathfrak{n}u}{\mathfrak{n}(\mathfrak{n}+1)}} \leq \eta^{\frac{k+\mathfrak{n}^3-\mathfrak{n}^2-2\mathfrak{n}-1}{\mathfrak{n}(\mathfrak{n}+1)}},$$

that again is bounded since η is small, $n \geq 3$ and $k \geq n + 1$.

If m = 0 and $r + u \ge n$, we have to notice that in this case, the derivatives have to act on the node factor, since the propagators do not depend on ζ . Then if j is the number of the derivatives, one has the bound $j \le u$. Hence, $u \ge n$ and one has

$$\eta^{\frac{k-\mathfrak{n}^2-\mathfrak{n}-1}{\mathfrak{n}(\mathfrak{n}+1)}+\frac{\mathfrak{n} u}{\mathfrak{n}(\mathfrak{n}+1)}} \leq \eta^{\frac{k-\mathfrak{n}-1}{\mathfrak{n}(\mathfrak{n}+1)}},$$

that is bounded since η is small and $k \ge n + 1$.

If the derivatives act on different lines, it means

$$\partial_{\zeta}^{r} \Big(\prod_{\ell \in L(\vartheta)} G_{\ell}\Big) = \partial_{\zeta}^{j_{1}} G^{[1]}(\boldsymbol{\omega} \cdot \boldsymbol{\nu}_{\ell_{1}}) \partial_{\zeta}^{j_{2}} G^{[1]}(\boldsymbol{\omega} \cdot \boldsymbol{\nu}_{\ell_{2}}) \cdots \partial_{\zeta}^{j_{r}} G^{[1]}(\boldsymbol{\omega} \cdot \boldsymbol{\nu}_{\ell_{r}}) \Big(\prod_{\ell \in L(\vartheta) \setminus L'(\vartheta)} G_{\ell}\Big),$$

with $L'(\vartheta)$ the set of the lines where the derivatives act, $j_1, j_2 \neq 0, j_3, \ldots, j_r \geq 0$ and $j_1 + \cdots + j_r = r$ for $1 \leq r \leq \mathfrak{n}$. Then from the previous analysis, it can be easily seen that every \mathfrak{n} -th derivative of the function $\mathscr{V}^*(\vartheta)$ in the variable ζ is bounded.

Therefore we can conclude that $\mathcal{H}(\varepsilon,\zeta)$ is $C^{\mathfrak{n}}$ in ζ .

Lemma 5.14. There exists a neighbourhood $U \times V$ of $(\varepsilon, \zeta) = (0, 0)$ such that for all $\varepsilon \in U$ there is at least one value $\zeta = \zeta(\varepsilon) \in V$, depending continuously on ε , that solves the bifurcation equation.

Proof. See the proof of Lemma 3.14 in the case of f a trigonometric polynomial.

We summarize the previous results with the following Lemma.

Lemma 5.15. Let ε_0 and N be as in Theorem 2 and $\zeta(\varepsilon)$ as in Lemma 5.14. Define C_2 as in (5.27) and I_n as in (1.9). Then for all $\varepsilon \in \bigcup_{n \ge N} I_n$, the function $x(t,\varepsilon) = c + \zeta(\varepsilon) + X(\omega t; \varepsilon, \zeta(\varepsilon), c)$ solves (1.1). Moreover $x(t,\varepsilon)$ is continuous in ε (in the sense of Whitney) and $x(t,\varepsilon) \to c$ as $\varepsilon \to 0$.

5.5 Final comments

The intervals described by (5.5) give us the connection between the perturbation parameter and the frequency vector. In principle, one would expect to obtain the existence of response solutions for all frequency vectors provided $|\varepsilon| < \varepsilon_0$, with ε_0 small enough. To study if this really occurs, we need to analyse better the intervals where the solution exists. Once ε_0 and N have been fixed as in Theorem 2, if we define the intervals I_n as in (1.9), that is

$$I_n := \left[e^{-C_2 q_n}, (C_1 q_n)^{-n-1} \right], \qquad n \ge N,$$

the solution exists for all $|\varepsilon| < \varepsilon_0$ such that $\varepsilon \in \bigcup_{n \ge N} I_n$.

The intervals I_n are well defined for n large enough. However, they might be disjoint. From the theory of continued fractions, we know that the sequence q_n is increasing, so that

$$\frac{1}{(C_1q_{n+1})^{\mathfrak{n}+1}} < \frac{1}{(C_1q_n)^{\mathfrak{n}+1}}, \qquad e^{-C_2q_{n+1}} < e^{-C_2q_n}, \tag{5.40}$$

but there is no a priori relation between $e^{-C_2q_n}$ and $(C_1q_{n+1})^{-\mathfrak{n}-1}$. Therefore it may happen that $e^{-C_2q_n} > (C_1q_{n+1})^{-\mathfrak{n}-1}$. If that is the case, the intervals I_n and I_{n+1} are disjoint, as represented in Figure 5.1.



Figure 5.1

The overall measure of these intervals depends on the irrational number α , in particular on the convergents p_n/q_n , so we cannot say in general where the meas $(I_n) = (C_1q_n)^{-\mathfrak{n}-1} - e^{-C_2q_n}$ is either large or small.

Once ε_0 and N > 0 have been fixed as in Theorem 2, the problem to address is when it is possible to obtain the result of existence for all $|\varepsilon| < \varepsilon_0$. Of course, this is equivalent to require

$$e^{-C_2 q_n} \le (C_1 q_{n+1})^{-\mathfrak{n}-1}, \qquad n \ge N,$$
(5.41)

so as to have the situation represented in Figure 5.2.



Figure 5.2

From the results available in the literature we know that, taken $\varepsilon_0 > 0$, if $\boldsymbol{\omega}$ is Diophantine or Bryuno, response solutions exist for all $|\varepsilon| < \varepsilon_0$ in a set without holes. Hence it is not surprising that (5.41) is satisfied when $\boldsymbol{\omega}$ is Diophantine or Bryuno.

Indeed, if $\boldsymbol{\omega}$ is Diophantine, condition (5.41) easily follows by using Proposition 4.22:

$$\frac{1}{(C_1q_{n+1})^{\mathfrak{n}+1}} \ge \frac{1}{(K_0C_1q_n^{\tau})^{\mathfrak{n}+1}} > e^{-C_2q_n}, \qquad n \ge N,$$

with K_0 as in the proof of Proposition 4.22, C_2 as in (5.27) and C_1 and N suitably chosen.

Recall that, defining

$$\varepsilon_n(\alpha) := \frac{1}{q_n} \log q_{n+1},$$

we say that $\boldsymbol{\omega} = (1, \alpha)$ is a Bryuno vector if $\varepsilon_n(\alpha)$ is summable, see Definition 4.30. If $\varepsilon_n(\alpha)$ is summable, (5.41) is satisfied:

$$\log(C_1 q_{n+1})^{\mathfrak{n}+1} = (\mathfrak{n}+1)\log C_1 + (\mathfrak{n}+1)\log q_{\mathfrak{n}+1} =$$
$$= (\mathfrak{n}+1)\log C_1 + (\mathfrak{n}+1)q_n\varepsilon_n(\alpha) < C_2 q_n$$

with C_2 as in (5.27) and C_1 suitably chosen.

What is not true is the opposite: there are vectors which satisfy (5.41), but are not Bryuno vectors. In fact, it is sufficient that $\varepsilon_n(\alpha)$ be small enough so as to satisfy the bound above.

To summarize, for $n \geq 3$ and d = 2, if we do not require (5.41) on the convergents of α , we find that the response solutions exist in a set with holes; instead if we impose (5.41) on the frequency vectors, we have the existence of response solutions for all $|\varepsilon| < \varepsilon_0$ and for a class of frequency vectors which satisfy a condition that is weaker than Bryuno's and also weaker than the request that $\varepsilon_n(\alpha) \to 0$.

Notice also that, on the contrary, if n = 1, for any d, the response solutions exist in a set without holes, by only requiring ε to be small enough, see [47, 73].

Appendix A Theorem 2: the case n = 3

In this Appendix we discuss explicitly the case n = 3 both, for concreteness, to discuss a case where all the constants are explicitly computed (in terms of the parameters) and as an explicit example where it is easier to draw pictures.

Let C, \tilde{C} and \tilde{C}_1 be as in (5.15a) and define N and I_n as in Theorem 2 with $\mathfrak{n} = 3$.

Lemma A.1. Let ϑ be a tree of order k = 1 and root line ℓ_0 . Let us denote by ν the momentum of the root line. Then if $\varepsilon \in \bigcup_{n \geq N} I_n$, one has

$$|\mathscr{V}(\vartheta)| \le \rho C \begin{cases} \varepsilon^{\frac{3}{4}} e^{-\xi|\boldsymbol{\nu}|}, & \text{if } \ell_0 \in L_{<,0}(\vartheta) \sqcup L_{\geq,0}(\vartheta); \\ \eta^{-2} e^{-\xi|\boldsymbol{\nu}|}, & \text{if } \ell_0 \in L_{\geq,1}(\vartheta). \\ |\zeta|, & \text{if } \ell_0 \in L_0(\vartheta). \end{cases}$$
(A.1)

Proof. If ϑ is a tree of order k = 1, then $\mathcal{T}_{1,\nu} = \mathfrak{T}_{1,\nu}$.

If $\ell_0 \in L_{<,0}(\vartheta)$, we have $|G^{[0]}(\boldsymbol{\omega} \cdot \boldsymbol{\nu})| \leq \frac{1}{|\boldsymbol{\omega} \cdot \boldsymbol{\nu}|} \leq \frac{2}{C_1} \varepsilon^{-\frac{1}{4}}$. Then

$$|\mathscr{V}(\vartheta)| \leq \frac{2\Phi}{C_1} \varepsilon^{\frac{3}{4}} e^{-\xi|\boldsymbol{\nu}|}.$$

If $\ell_0 \in L_{\geq,0}(\vartheta)$, by using the sharp partition (5.10) with $\mathfrak{n} = 3$, one has $|G^{[0]}(\boldsymbol{\omega} \cdot \boldsymbol{\nu})| \leq \frac{1}{|\boldsymbol{\omega} \cdot \boldsymbol{\nu}|} \leq \frac{4}{C_1} \varepsilon^{-\frac{1}{4}}$. Then

$$|\mathscr{V}(\vartheta)| \leq \frac{4\Phi}{C_1} \varepsilon^{\frac{3}{4}} e^{-\xi|\boldsymbol{\nu}|}.$$

If $\ell_0 \in L_{\geq,1}(\vartheta)$, from Lemma 5.3 we obtain $|G^{[1]}(\boldsymbol{\omega} \cdot \boldsymbol{\nu})| \leq \frac{1}{A \varepsilon \eta^2}$. Then

$$|\mathscr{V}(\vartheta)| \le \frac{\Phi}{A} \eta^{-2} e^{-\xi|\boldsymbol{\nu}|}.$$

If $\ell_0 \in L_0(\vartheta)$, then $|\mathscr{V}(\vartheta)| = |\zeta|$.

Hence if we choose C as in (5.15a), the thesis follows.
Lemma A.2. Let $\vartheta \in \mathfrak{T}_{k,\nu}$ be a renormalized tree of order $k \geq 4$ and momentum $\nu \neq \mathbf{0}$ associated with the root line ℓ_0 . Then

$$\mathscr{V}(\vartheta) = \bar{\mathscr{V}}(\vartheta) \prod_{v \in E_1(\vartheta)} e^{-\frac{\xi}{2}|\boldsymbol{\nu}_v|}$$
(A.2)

where

$$|\bar{\mathscr{V}}(\vartheta)| \leq \rho C^k \eta^{\frac{k}{12} + \frac{8}{3}} \times \begin{cases} e^{-\frac{\xi}{4}|\boldsymbol{\nu}|}, & \text{if } \ell_0 \in L_{<,0}(\vartheta), \\ e^{-\frac{\xi}{4}q_n}, & \text{if } \ell_0 \in L_{\geq,0}(\vartheta), \\ \eta^{-2} e^{-\frac{\xi}{4}q_n}, & \text{if } \ell_0 \in L_{\geq,1}(\vartheta), \end{cases}$$
(A.3)

with C as in (5.15a), C_2 as in (1.6) with $\mathfrak{n} = 3$ and $\varepsilon \in \bigcup_{n>N} I_n$, provided η small.

Proof. Let us consider a renormalized tree, $\vartheta \in \mathfrak{T}_{k,\nu}$, of order $k \geq 4$ and denote by v_0 the first node, that is the node the root line exits. For any renormalized tree, we have the following structure, see Figure A.1:

- $\vartheta_1 \in \mathfrak{T}_{k_1, \boldsymbol{\nu}_{\ell_1}}, \ldots, \vartheta_m \in \mathfrak{T}_{k_m, \boldsymbol{\nu}_{\ell_m}}$ enter the first node v_0 and the respective root lines ℓ_1, \ldots, ℓ_m are such that $|\boldsymbol{\nu}_{\ell_j}| < q_n$ for all $j = 1, \ldots, m$; equivalently, $\ell_1, \ldots, \ell_m \in L_{<,0}(\vartheta)$;
- $\vartheta'_1 \in \mathfrak{T}_{k_1, \boldsymbol{\nu}_{\ell'_1}}, \dots, \vartheta'_p \in \mathfrak{T}_{k_p, \boldsymbol{\nu}_{\ell'_p}}$ enter the first node v_0 and the root lines ℓ'_1, \dots, ℓ'_p are such that $|\boldsymbol{\nu}_{\ell'_1}| \ge q_n$ and $\widetilde{n}_{\ell'_1} = 0$ for all $j = 1, \dots, p$, so that $\ell'_1, \dots, \ell'_p \in L_{\ge,0}(\vartheta)$;
- $\vartheta_1'' \in \mathfrak{T}_{k_1, \boldsymbol{\nu}_{\ell_1''}}, \dots, \vartheta_l'' \in \mathfrak{T}_{k_l, \boldsymbol{\nu}_{\ell_l''}}$ enter the first node v_0 and the root lines $\ell_1'', \dots, \ell_l''$ are such that $|\boldsymbol{\nu}_{\ell_1''}| \ge q_n$ and $\tilde{n}_{\ell_1''} = 1$ for all $j = 1, \dots, l$, so that $\ell_1'', \dots, \ell_l'' \in L_{\ge,1}(\vartheta)$;
- the lines $\tilde{\ell}_1, \ldots, \tilde{\ell}_r$ enter the node v_0 and exit the end nodes $\tilde{v}_1, \ldots, \tilde{v}_r \in E_1(\vartheta)$ respectively and are such that $\tilde{n}_{\tilde{\ell}_j} = 0$ for all $j = 1, \ldots, r$; equivalently $\tilde{\ell}_1, \ldots, \tilde{\ell}_r \in L_{<,0}(\vartheta) \sqcup L_{\geq,0}(\vartheta)$;
- the lines $\tilde{\ell}'_1, \ldots, \tilde{\ell}'_s$ enter the node v_0 and exit the end nodes $\tilde{v}'_1, \ldots, \tilde{v}'_s \in E_1(\vartheta)$ respectively and are such that $|\boldsymbol{\nu}_{\tilde{\ell}'_j}| \geq q_n$ and $n_{\tilde{\ell}'_j} = 1$ for all $j = 1, \ldots, s$, so that $\tilde{\ell}'_1, \ldots, \tilde{\ell}'_s \in L_{\geq,1}(\vartheta)$;
- the lines $\bar{\ell}_1, \ldots, \bar{\ell}_u$ enter the node v_0 and exit the end nodes $\bar{v}_1, \ldots, \bar{v}_u \in E_0(\vartheta)$.

According to this structure, we have the following constraints:

- $k = k(\vartheta) = \sum_{j=1}^{m} k(\vartheta_j) + \sum_{j=1}^{p} k(\vartheta'_j) + \sum_{j=1}^{l} k(\vartheta''_j) + r + s + u + 1;$
- $m + p + l + r + s + u \ge 3;$
- $m, p, l, r, s, u \ge 0;$

•
$$\boldsymbol{\nu} = \sum_{j=1}^{m} \boldsymbol{\nu}_{\ell_j} + \sum_{j=1}^{p} \boldsymbol{\nu}_{\ell'_j} + \sum_{j=1}^{l} \boldsymbol{\nu}_{\ell''_j} + \sum_{j=1}^{r} \boldsymbol{\nu}_{\widetilde{\ell}_j} + \sum_{j=1}^{s} \boldsymbol{\nu}_{\widetilde{\ell}'_j};$$

• $\boldsymbol{\nu} \neq \mathbf{0}.$



Figure A.1: Tree representation of the described structure.

We use (A.1) to bound the value of graph elements formed by an end node and the respective exiting line. Then we assume that any value of tree of order k', with 1 < k' < k, follows (A.2) and in order to prove Lemma A.2 we proceed by induction.

By following the described structure, we can easily collect a common factor $\prod_{v \in E_1(\vartheta)} \exp(-\xi |\boldsymbol{\nu}_v|/2)$ in the expression of $\mathscr{V}(\vartheta)$, see (2.13). Hence we have to prove the second bound in Lemma A.2, and we will do it by using (A.3) for trees of order k' with 1 < k' < k and by estimating the value of the graph elements formed by an end node in $E_1(\vartheta)$ and the respective exiting line as in (A.1) with $\frac{\xi}{2}$ instead of ξ . We still use the last inequality in (A.1) to bound the value of the graph elements formed by an end node in $E_0(\vartheta)$ and the respective exiting line since the momentum of these lines is zero.

I case: $\ell_0 \in L_{<,0}(\vartheta)$.

Let us start by taking into account a renormalized tree with root line $\ell_0 \in L_{<,0}(\vartheta)$. We want to prove

$$|\bar{\mathscr{V}}(\vartheta)| \le \rho C^k \eta^{\frac{k}{12} + \frac{8}{3}} e^{-\frac{\xi}{4}|\boldsymbol{\nu}|}.$$

Since $\eta := \max\{\varepsilon, |\zeta|\}$, by combining (5.3), (5.4) and by induction it follows that

$$\begin{split} |\bar{\mathcal{V}}(\vartheta)| &\leq \frac{2\Gamma}{C_{1}} C^{k-1} \rho^{m+p+l+r+s+u} \rho^{-(m+p+l+r+s+u)} \eta^{\frac{k-r-s-u-1}{12} + \frac{8}{3}(m+p+l)} \\ &\times \varepsilon^{\frac{3}{4}(r+1)} \eta^{-2l-2s} |\zeta|^{u} e^{-\frac{\xi}{4} \sum_{j=1}^{m} |\boldsymbol{\nu}_{\ell_{j}}|} e^{-\frac{\xi}{4} q_{n}(p+l)} e^{-\frac{\xi}{2} \left(\sum_{j=1}^{r} |\boldsymbol{\nu}_{\tilde{\ell}_{j}}| + \sum_{j=1}^{s} |\boldsymbol{\nu}_{\tilde{\ell}_{j}'}| \right)} \\ &\leq \rho C^{k} \widetilde{C}^{-1} \eta^{\frac{k}{12} + \frac{8}{3}} \eta^{\frac{-r-s-u-1+32m+32p+32l-32-24l-24s+9(r+1)+12u}{12}} \times \\ &\times e^{-\frac{\xi}{4} \sum_{j=1}^{m} |\boldsymbol{\nu}_{\ell_{j}}|} e^{-\frac{\xi}{4} q_{n}(p+l)} e^{-\frac{\xi}{2} \left(\sum_{j=1}^{r} |\boldsymbol{\nu}_{\tilde{\ell}_{j}}| + \sum_{j=1}^{s} |\boldsymbol{\nu}_{\tilde{\ell}_{j}'}| \right)} \\ &\leq \rho C^{k} \widetilde{C}^{-1} \eta^{\frac{k}{12} + \frac{8}{3}} \eta^{\frac{32m+32p+8l+8r-25s-24+11u}{12}} \times \\ &\times e^{-\frac{\xi}{4} \sum_{j=1}^{m} |\boldsymbol{\nu}_{\ell_{j}}|} e^{-\frac{\xi}{4} q_{n}(p+l)} e^{-\frac{\xi}{2} \left(\sum_{j=1}^{r} |\boldsymbol{\nu}_{\tilde{\ell}_{j}}| + \sum_{j=1}^{s} |\boldsymbol{\nu}_{\tilde{\ell}_{j}'}| \right)}. \end{split}$$

Since $\tilde{C}^{-1} \leq 1$, we have to prove that

$$\eta^{\Delta_0(m,p,l,r,s,u)} e^{-\frac{\xi}{4} \left(\sum_{j=1}^m |\boldsymbol{\nu}_{\ell_j}|\right) - \frac{\xi}{2} \left(\sum_{j=1}^r |\boldsymbol{\nu}_{\tilde{\ell}_j}| + \sum_{j=1}^s |\boldsymbol{\nu}_{\tilde{\ell}_j'}|\right)} e^{-\frac{\xi}{4} q_n(p+l)} \le e^{-\frac{\xi}{4} |\boldsymbol{\nu}|},$$

with

$$\Delta_0(m, p, l, r, s, u) := \frac{32m + 32p + 8l + 8r - 25s - 24 + 11u}{12}$$

This can be seen by studying the following cases:

- (1) p + l = 1;
- (2) $p+l \ge 2;$

(3)
$$p+l=0.$$

If we are in the first case, (1), we have

$$e^{-\frac{\xi}{4}q_n(p+l)} = e^{-\frac{\xi}{4}q_n} \le e^{-\frac{\xi}{4}|\boldsymbol{\nu}|},$$

since the momentum of the root line is such that $|\nu| < q_n$. We have now two possibilities: p = 1 and l = 0 or p = 0 and l = 1. If p = 1 and l = 0, we have to prove that

$$\eta^{\frac{32m+8r-25s+8+11u}{12}} \times e^{-\frac{\xi}{4} \left(\sum_{j=1}^{m} |\boldsymbol{\nu}_{\ell_j}|\right) - \frac{\xi}{2} \left(\sum_{j=1}^{r} |\boldsymbol{\nu}_{\tilde{\ell}_j}| + \sum_{j=1}^{s} |\boldsymbol{\nu}_{\tilde{\ell}_j'}|\right)} \le 1.$$

If s = 0 this is trivially true, because

$$\eta^{\frac{32m+8r+8+11u}{12}} \times e^{-\frac{\xi}{4} \left(\sum_{j=1}^{m} |\boldsymbol{\nu}_{\ell_j}|\right) - \frac{\xi}{2} \left(\sum_{j=1}^{r} |\boldsymbol{\nu}_{\tilde{\ell}_j}|\right)} \le \eta^{\frac{8}{12}} \le 1.$$

If $s \geq 1$, the function $\Delta_0(m, 1, 0, r, s, u)$ could be negative, but the lines $\tilde{\ell'}_1, \ldots, \tilde{\ell'}_s$ are such that $|\boldsymbol{\nu}_{\tilde{\ell'}_j}| \geq q_n \geq \frac{\log \frac{1}{\varepsilon}}{C_2} \ \forall j = 1, \ldots, s$. So we bound $\Delta_0(m, 1, 0, r, s, u)$ as follows

$$\Delta_0(m,1,0,r,s,u) \geq -\frac{25}{12}s$$

in such a way that

$$\eta^{\Delta_{0}(m,1,0,r,s,u)} e^{-\frac{\xi}{4} \left(\sum_{j=1}^{m} |\boldsymbol{\nu}_{\ell_{j}}|\right) - \frac{\xi}{2} \left(\sum_{j=1}^{r} |\boldsymbol{\nu}_{\tilde{\ell}_{j}}| + \sum_{j=1}^{s} |\boldsymbol{\nu}_{\tilde{\ell}_{j}'}|\right)} \\ \leq \eta^{-\frac{25}{12}s} e^{-\frac{\xi}{2} \sum_{j=1}^{s} |\boldsymbol{\nu}_{\tilde{\ell}_{j}'}|} \leq (\eta^{-\frac{25}{12}} e^{-\frac{\xi}{2}q_{n}})^{s} \\ \leq (\eta^{-\frac{25}{12}} e^{-\frac{\xi}{2C_{2}} \log \frac{1}{\varepsilon}})^{s} = (\eta^{-\frac{25}{12}} \varepsilon^{\frac{\xi}{2C_{2}}})^{s}$$

and the thesis follows by choosing C_2 in such a way that $\eta^{-\frac{25}{12}} \varepsilon^{\frac{\xi}{2C_2}} \leq 1$. In particular $\eta^{-\frac{25}{12}} \varepsilon^{\frac{\xi}{2C_2}} \leq \eta^{-\frac{25}{12} + \frac{\xi}{2C_2}}$, so we have to require

$$-\frac{25}{12} + \frac{\xi}{2C_2} \le 0 \quad \Rightarrow \quad C_2 \le \frac{6}{25}\xi.$$

If p = 0 and l = 1, our statement becomes

$$\eta^{\frac{32m+8r-25s-16+11u}{12}} \times e^{-\frac{\xi}{4} \left(\sum_{j=1}^{m} |\boldsymbol{\nu}_{\ell_j}|\right) - \frac{\xi}{2} \left(\sum_{j=1}^{r} |\boldsymbol{\nu}_{\tilde{\ell}_j}| + \sum_{j=1}^{s} |\boldsymbol{\nu}_{\tilde{\ell}_j'}|\right)} \le 1.$$

Again, if s = 0, that is $m + r + u \ge 2$, the thesis follows because

$$\eta^{\frac{32m+8r-16+11u}{12}} \times e^{-\frac{\xi}{4} \left(\sum_{j=1}^{m} |\boldsymbol{\nu}_{\ell_j}|\right) - \frac{\xi}{2} \left(\sum_{j=1}^{r} |\boldsymbol{\nu}_{\tilde{\ell}_j}|\right)} \\ \leq \eta^{\frac{24m+3u+8(m+r+u)-16}{12}} \leq \eta^{\frac{24m+3u}{12}} \leq 1.$$

Instead, if $s \ge 1$, the function $\Delta_0(m, 0, 1, r, s, u)$ could be negative, but the thesis holds by noticing that

$$\Delta_0(m, 0, 1, r, s, u) \ge -\frac{11}{4}s$$

and by requiring $\eta^{-\frac{11}{4}} \varepsilon^{\frac{\xi}{2C_2}} \leq 1$. In particular $\eta^{-\frac{11}{4}} \varepsilon^{\frac{\xi}{2C_2}} \leq \eta^{-\frac{11}{4} + \frac{\xi}{2C_2}}$, hence we can choose C_2 such that

$$-\frac{11}{4} + \frac{\xi}{2C_2} \le 0 \quad \Rightarrow \quad C_2 \le \frac{2}{11}\xi.$$

Summarizing, the condition on C_2 becomes:

$$\begin{cases} C_2 \le \frac{6}{25}\xi\\ C_2 \le \frac{2}{11}\xi \end{cases} \quad \Rightarrow \quad C_2 \le \frac{2}{11}\xi. \tag{A.4}$$

Let us now analyse the second case $p + l \ge 2$.

As we can see, we can rewrite the factor $e^{-\frac{\xi}{4}q_n(p+l)}$ as follows:

$$e^{-\frac{\xi}{4}q_n(p+l)} = e^{-\frac{\xi}{4}q_n}e^{-\frac{\xi}{4}q_n(p+l-1)}.$$

Since the momentum of the root line is such that $|\nu| < q_n$ and since $q_n \geq \frac{\log \frac{1}{\varepsilon}}{C_2}$, by observing that $p+l-1 \geq 1$, it follows:

$$e^{-\frac{\xi}{4}q_n}e^{-\frac{\xi}{4}q_n(p+l-1)} \le e^{-\frac{\xi}{4}|\boldsymbol{\nu}|}\varepsilon^{\frac{\xi}{4C_2}}.$$

The function $\Delta_0(m, p, l, r, s, u)$ can be bounded by using the condition $p + l \ge 2$:

$$\Delta_0(m, p, l, r, s, u) \ge \frac{32m + 8r - 25s + 11u - 8}{12} \ge -\frac{25}{12}s - \frac{2}{3}s - \frac{2$$

Then the thesis follows if

$$\eta^{\Delta_{0}(m,p,l,r,s,u)} e^{-\frac{\xi}{4} \left(\sum_{j=1}^{m} |\boldsymbol{\nu}_{\ell_{j}}|\right) - \frac{\xi}{2} \left(\sum_{j=1}^{r} |\boldsymbol{\nu}_{\tilde{\ell}_{j}}| + \sum_{j=1}^{s} |\boldsymbol{\nu}_{\tilde{\ell}_{j}'}|\right)} e^{-\frac{\xi}{4} q_{n}(p+l-1)} \leq \\ \leq \left(\eta^{-\frac{2}{3}} \varepsilon^{\frac{\xi}{4C_{2}}}\right) \left(\eta^{-\frac{25}{12}} \varepsilon^{\frac{\xi}{2C_{2}}}\right)^{s} \leq \left(\eta^{-\frac{2}{3} + \frac{\xi}{4C_{2}}}\right) \left(\eta^{-\frac{25}{12} + \frac{\xi}{2C_{2}}}\right)^{s} \leq 1,$$

i.e. if we require $\eta^{-\frac{25}{12}+\frac{\xi}{2C_2}} \leq 1$ and $\eta^{-\frac{2}{3}+\frac{\xi}{4C_2}} \leq 1$. These inequalities are satisfied without requiring any other condition on C_2 since $C_2 \leq \frac{2}{11}\xi$, see equation (A.4). Indeed:

$$\eta^{-\frac{25}{12}+\frac{\xi}{2C_2}} \le \eta^{\frac{2}{3}} \le 1, \qquad \eta^{-\frac{2}{3}+\frac{\xi}{4C_2}} \le \eta^{\frac{17}{24}} \le 1.$$

Let us focus on the third case, (3), p + l = 0, that is $m + r + s + u \ge 3$. First of all notice that we can rewrite the exponential part as follows

$$e^{-\frac{\xi}{4} \left(\sum_{j=1}^{m} |\boldsymbol{\nu}_{\ell_{j}}|\right) - \frac{\xi}{2} \left(\sum_{j=1}^{r} |\boldsymbol{\nu}_{\tilde{\ell}_{j}}| + \sum_{j=1}^{s} |\boldsymbol{\nu}_{\tilde{\ell}'_{j}}|\right)} = e^{-\frac{\xi}{4} \left(\sum_{j=1}^{m} |\boldsymbol{\nu}_{\ell_{j}}| + \sum_{j=1}^{r} |\boldsymbol{\nu}_{\tilde{\ell}_{j}}| + \sum_{j=1}^{s} |\boldsymbol{\nu}_{\tilde{\ell}'_{j}}|\right)} \times e^{-\frac{\xi}{4} \left(\sum_{j=1}^{r} |\boldsymbol{\nu}_{\tilde{\ell}_{j}}| + \sum_{j=1}^{s} |\boldsymbol{\nu}_{\tilde{\ell}'_{j}}|\right)}$$

So, from the conservation law of $\boldsymbol{\nu}$, i.e. $\boldsymbol{\nu} = \sum_{j=1}^{m} \boldsymbol{\nu}_{\ell_j} + \sum_{j=1}^{r} \boldsymbol{\nu}_{\tilde{\ell}_j} + \sum_{j=1}^{s} \boldsymbol{\nu}_{\tilde{\ell}'_j}$, we have

$$e^{-\frac{\xi}{4}\left(\sum_{j=1}^{m}|\boldsymbol{\nu}_{\ell_{j}}|+\sum_{j=1}^{r}|\boldsymbol{\nu}_{\tilde{\ell}_{j}}|+\sum_{j=1}^{s}|\boldsymbol{\nu}_{\tilde{\ell}_{j}'}|\right)} \le e^{-\frac{\xi}{4}|\boldsymbol{\nu}|}.$$

Hence we have to prove

$$\eta^{\frac{32m+8r-25s-24+11u}{12}} \times e^{-\frac{\xi}{4} \left(\sum_{j=1}^{r} |\boldsymbol{\nu}_{\tilde{\ell}_{j}}| + \sum_{j=1}^{s} |\boldsymbol{\nu}_{\tilde{\ell}'_{j}}|\right)} \le 1$$

If s = 0, the thesis follows since $\frac{32m+8r+11u-24}{12} \ge \frac{24m+3u}{12} \ge 0$. If $s \ge 1$ we can reason as before by noticing that

$$\Delta_0(m, 0, 0, r, s, u) \ge -\frac{11}{4}s$$

and the thesis is satisfied by requiring $\eta^{-\frac{11}{4}+\frac{\xi}{4C_2}} \leq 1$, i.e. $C_2 \leq \frac{1}{11}\xi$. By comparing this condition with the one in (A.4), it follows

$$\begin{cases} C_2 \le \frac{1}{11}\xi \\ C_2 \le \frac{2}{11}\xi \end{cases} \text{ and thus } C_2 \le \frac{1}{11}\xi. \end{cases}$$
(A.5)

II case: $\ell_0 \in L_{>,0}(\vartheta)$.

Let us now analyse the trees of order k with root line ℓ_0 such that $\ell_0 \in L_{\geq,0}(\vartheta)$. We want to prove:

$$|\bar{\mathscr{V}}(\vartheta)| \le \rho C^k \eta^{\frac{k}{12} + \frac{8}{3}} e^{-\frac{\xi}{4}q_n}.$$

Since $\eta := \max{\{\varepsilon, |\zeta|\}}$, by combining (5.3), (5.4) and by induction it follows that

$$|\bar{\mathcal{V}}(\vartheta) \le \rho C^k \, \widetilde{C}^{-1} \, \eta^{\frac{k}{12} + \frac{8}{3}} \, \eta^{\Delta(m,p,l,r,s,u)} \, e^{-\frac{\xi}{4} q_n(p+l)} e^{-\frac{\xi}{4} \sum_{j=1}^m |\boldsymbol{\nu}_{\ell_j}| - \frac{\xi}{2} \left(\sum_{j=1}^r |\boldsymbol{\nu}_{\tilde{\ell}_j}| + \sum_{j=1}^s |\boldsymbol{\nu}_{\tilde{\ell}_j'}| \right)}$$

with

$$\Delta_0(m, p, l, r, s, u) := \frac{32m + 32p + 8l + 8r - 25s - 24 + 11u}{12}$$

As before we can distinguish among three different cases:

- (1) p+l=1,
- (2) $p+l \ge 2$,

(3)
$$p+l=0$$
,

and since the function $\Delta_0(m, p, l, r, s, u)$ is the same as the previous case, the thesis can be checked by following the late argument. The only difference is that now the root line is such that $|\boldsymbol{\nu}| \geq q_n$, so a term $e^{-\frac{\xi}{4}q_n}$ has to appear in every listed case.

If $p+l \ge 2$, we have trivially $e^{-\frac{\xi}{4}q_n(p+l)} \le e^{-\frac{\xi}{4}q_n}$.

If p + l = 0, we extract the factor

$$e^{-\frac{\xi}{4}\left(\sum_{j=1}^{m}|\boldsymbol{\nu}_{\ell_{j}}|+\sum_{j=1}^{r}|\boldsymbol{\nu}_{\tilde{\ell}_{j}}|+\sum_{j=1}^{s}|\boldsymbol{\nu}_{\tilde{\ell}_{j}'}|\right)}$$

and we use the definition and the bound of $|\nu|$ in the following way:

$$e^{-\frac{\xi}{4}\left(\sum_{j=1}^{m} |\boldsymbol{\nu}_{\ell_{j}}| + \sum_{j=1}^{r} |\boldsymbol{\nu}_{\tilde{\ell}_{j}}| + \sum_{j=1}^{s} |\boldsymbol{\nu}_{\tilde{\ell}'_{j}}|\right)} \le e^{-\frac{\xi}{4}|\boldsymbol{\nu}|} \le e^{-\frac{\xi}{4}q_{n}}.$$

III case: $\ell_0 \in L_{\geq,1}(\vartheta)$.

Let us now consider a tree of order k with the root line ℓ_0 such that $\ell_0 \in L_{\geq,1}(\vartheta)$. We want to prove:

$$\left|\bar{\mathscr{V}}(\vartheta)\right| \le \rho C^k \eta^{\frac{k}{12} + \frac{8}{3}} \eta^{-2} e^{-\frac{\xi}{4}q_n}.$$

By induction on the order of the tree, we know

$$\begin{aligned} |\bar{\mathscr{V}}(\vartheta)| &\leq \rho^{(m+p+l+r+s+u)} C^{k-1} \frac{\Gamma}{A} \rho^{-(m+p+l+r+s+u)} \eta^{\frac{k-r-s-u-1}{12} + \frac{8}{3}(m+p+l)} \eta^{-2l-2s-2} \\ &\times \varepsilon^{\frac{3}{4}r} |\zeta|^{u} e^{-\frac{\xi}{4} \sum_{j=1}^{m} |\boldsymbol{\nu}_{\ell_{j}}|} e^{-\frac{\xi}{4} q_{n}(p+l)} e^{-\frac{\xi}{2} \left(\sum_{j=1}^{r} |\boldsymbol{\nu}_{\tilde{\ell}_{j}}| + \sum_{j=1}^{s} |\boldsymbol{\nu}_{\tilde{\ell}_{j}}| \right)}. \end{aligned}$$

Now from the definition of η and \tilde{C}_1 in (5.15a), our thesis becomes:

$$\widetilde{C}_{1}^{-1} \eta^{\Delta_{1}(m,p,l,r,s,u)} \times e^{-\frac{\xi}{4} \sum_{j=1}^{m} |\boldsymbol{\nu}_{\ell_{j}}| - \frac{\xi}{4} q_{n}(p+l) - \frac{\xi}{2} \left(\sum_{j=1}^{r} |\boldsymbol{\nu}_{\tilde{\ell}_{j}}| + \sum_{j=1}^{s} |\boldsymbol{\nu}_{\tilde{\ell}_{j}'}| \right)} \le e^{-\frac{\xi}{4} q_{n}(p+l) - \frac{\xi}{2} \left(\sum_{j=1}^{r} |\boldsymbol{\nu}_{\tilde{\ell}_{j}}| + \sum_{j=1}^{s} |\boldsymbol{\nu}_{\tilde{\ell}_{j}'}| \right)} \le e^{-\frac{\xi}{4} q_{n}(p+l) - \frac{\xi}{2} \left(\sum_{j=1}^{r} |\boldsymbol{\nu}_{\tilde{\ell}_{j}}| + \sum_{j=1}^{s} |\boldsymbol{\nu}_{\tilde{\ell}_{j}'}| \right)}$$

where the function $\Delta_1(m, p, l, r, s, u)$ is defined as

$$\Delta_1(m, p, l, r, s, u) := \frac{32m + 32p + 8l + 8r - 25s - 33 + 11u}{12}$$

We start again by analysing the case p + l = 1. If p = 1 and l = 0, we have to prove that

$$\eta^{\frac{32m+8r-25s-1+11u}{12}} \times e^{-\frac{\xi}{4}\sum_{j=1}^{m}|\boldsymbol{\nu}_{\ell_j}|} e^{-\frac{\xi}{2}\left(\sum_{j=1}^{r}|\boldsymbol{\nu}_{\tilde{\ell}_j}| + \sum_{j=1}^{s}|\boldsymbol{\nu}_{\tilde{\ell}'_j}|\right)} \le 1.$$

since $\widetilde{C}_1^{-1} \leq 1$. If s = 0 this is trivially true since $m + r + u \geq 2$. If $s \geq 1$, the function $\Delta_1(m, 1, 0, r, s, u)$ could be negative and it has the following lower bound

$$\Delta_1(m, 1, 0, r, s, u) \ge -\frac{11}{4}s.$$

Then if we take C_2 as in (A.5), the thesis follows:

$$\eta^{\frac{32m+8r-25s-1+11u}{12}} e^{-\frac{\xi}{4}\sum_{j=1}^{m}|\boldsymbol{\nu}_{\ell_{j}}|} e^{-\frac{\xi}{2}\left(\sum_{j=1}^{r}|\boldsymbol{\nu}_{\tilde{\ell}_{j}}|+\sum_{j=1}^{s}|\boldsymbol{\nu}_{\tilde{\ell}_{j}'}|\right)} \leq \left(\eta^{-\frac{11}{4}}e^{-\frac{\xi}{2}q_{n}}\right)^{s} \\ \leq \left(\eta^{-\frac{11}{4}}\varepsilon^{\frac{\xi}{2C_{2}}}\right)^{s} \leq \left(\eta^{-\frac{11}{4}+\frac{\xi}{2C_{2}}}\right)^{s} \leq \eta^{\frac{11}{4}s} \leq 1.$$

If p = 0 and l = 1, the statement becomes:

$$\eta^{\frac{32m+8r-25s-25+11u}{12}} \times e^{-\frac{\xi}{4}\sum_{j=1}^{m} |\boldsymbol{\nu}_{\ell_j}|} e^{-\frac{\xi}{2} \left(\sum_{j=1}^{r} |\boldsymbol{\nu}_{\tilde{\ell}_j}| + \sum_{j=1}^{s} |\boldsymbol{\nu}_{\tilde{\ell}_j'}|\right)} \le 1.$$

If $s \geq 1$ the thesis follows, since we can bound the function $\Delta_1(m, 0, 1, r, s, u)$ as $\Delta_1(m, 0, 1, r, s, u) \geq -\frac{7}{2}s$ and we can notice that $\eta^{-\frac{7}{2} + \frac{\xi}{2C_2}} \leq 1$ because of (A.5). If s = 0 the argument is more delicate.

This situation is possible only if $|\sum_{j=1}^{m} \boldsymbol{\nu}_{\ell_j} + \sum_{j=1}^{r} \boldsymbol{\nu}_{\tilde{\ell}_j}| \ge q_n$. Indeed, if this is not the case, that is if $|\sum_{j=1}^{m} \boldsymbol{\nu}_{\ell_j} + \sum_{j=1}^{r} \boldsymbol{\nu}_{\tilde{\ell}_j}| < q_n$, by using the properties of continued fractions, see (5.1), it follows that $|\boldsymbol{\omega} \cdot (\sum_{j=1}^{m} \boldsymbol{\nu}_{\ell_j} + \sum_{j=1}^{r} \boldsymbol{\nu}_{\tilde{\ell}_j})| \ge \frac{1}{2q_n} \ge \frac{C_1 \sqrt[4]{\varepsilon}}{2}$. By construction we also know that $|\boldsymbol{\omega} \cdot \boldsymbol{\nu}| < \frac{C_1 \sqrt[4]{\varepsilon}}{4}$ and $|\boldsymbol{\omega} \cdot \boldsymbol{\nu}_{\ell_1}'| < \frac{C_1 \sqrt[4]{\varepsilon}}{4}$. Hence we have

$$\frac{C_1\sqrt[4]{\varepsilon}}{2} \le |\boldsymbol{\omega}\cdot\big(\sum_{j=1}^m \boldsymbol{\nu}_{\ell_j} + \sum_{j=1}^r \boldsymbol{\nu}_{\widetilde{\ell}_j}\big)| = |\boldsymbol{\omega}\cdot(\boldsymbol{\nu}-\boldsymbol{\nu}_{\ell_1'})| \le |\boldsymbol{\omega}\cdot\boldsymbol{\nu}| + |\boldsymbol{\omega}\cdot\boldsymbol{\nu}_{\ell_1'}| < \frac{C_1\sqrt[4]{\varepsilon}}{2}$$



Figure A.2: The case of p = 0, l = 1 and s = 0.

that is impossible.

Then it follows that:

$$\begin{split} \eta^{\frac{32m+8r-25+11u}{12}} &\times e^{-\frac{\xi}{4}\sum_{j=1}^{m}|\boldsymbol{\nu}_{\ell_{j}}|} e^{-\frac{\xi}{2}\left(\sum_{j=1}^{r}|\boldsymbol{\nu}_{\tilde{\ell}_{j}}|\right)} \\ &\leq \eta^{-\frac{3}{4}} \times e^{-\frac{\xi}{4}\left(\sum_{j=1}^{m}|\boldsymbol{\nu}_{\ell_{j}}|+\sum_{j=1}^{r}|\boldsymbol{\nu}_{\tilde{\ell}_{j}}|\right)} \times e^{-\frac{\xi}{4}\left(\sum_{j=1}^{r}|\boldsymbol{\nu}_{\tilde{\ell}_{j}}|\right)} \\ &\leq \eta^{-\frac{3}{4}} e^{-\frac{\xi}{4}q_{n}} \leq \eta^{-\frac{3}{4}} \varepsilon^{\frac{\xi}{4C_{2}}} \\ &\leq \eta^{-\frac{3}{4}+\frac{\xi}{4C_{2}}} < \eta^{2} < 1, \end{split}$$

where we have used (A.5).

The case $p+l\geq 2$ can be treated by using (5.5) and by verifying that

$$\widetilde{C}_{1}^{-1}\eta^{\Delta_{1}(m,p,l,r,s,u)} \times e^{-\frac{\xi}{4}\sum_{j=1}^{m}|\boldsymbol{\nu}_{\ell_{j}}| - \frac{\xi}{4}q_{n}(p+l-1) - \frac{\xi}{2}\left(\sum_{j=1}^{r}|\boldsymbol{\nu}_{\tilde{\ell}_{j}}| + \sum_{j=1}^{s}|\boldsymbol{\nu}_{\tilde{\ell}_{j}'}|\right)} \leq 1.$$

In fact

$$\begin{split} \widetilde{C}_{1}^{-1} \eta^{\Delta_{1}(m,p,l,r,s,u)} \times e^{-\frac{\xi}{4} \sum_{j=1}^{m} |\boldsymbol{\nu}_{\ell_{j}}| - \frac{\xi}{4} q_{n}(p+l-1) - \frac{\xi}{2} \left(\sum_{j=1}^{r} |\boldsymbol{\nu}_{\tilde{\ell}_{j}}| + \sum_{j=1}^{s} |\boldsymbol{\nu}_{\tilde{\ell}_{j}'}| \right)} \\ & \leq \eta^{-\frac{17}{12}} \varepsilon^{\frac{\xi}{4C_{2}}} \left(\eta^{-\frac{25}{12}} \varepsilon^{\frac{\xi}{2C_{2}}} \right)^{s} \\ & \leq \eta^{-\frac{17}{12} + \frac{\xi}{4C_{2}}} \left(\eta^{-\frac{25}{12} + \frac{\xi}{2C_{2}}} \right)^{s} \leq \eta^{\frac{4}{3}} \eta^{\frac{41}{12}s} \leq 1 \end{split}$$

where we have used (A.5).

Now we look at the case p + l = 0, that is $m + r + s + u \ge 3$. First of all notice that we can bound the value of the tree in the following way:

$$\begin{split} |\bar{\mathcal{V}}(\vartheta)| &\leq \rho \, C^k \, \widetilde{C}_1^{-1} \, \eta^{\frac{32m+8r-25s-33+11u}{12}} e^{-\frac{\xi}{4} \left(\sum_{j=1}^m |\boldsymbol{\nu}_{\ell_j}| + \sum_{j=1}^r |\boldsymbol{\nu}_{\tilde{\ell}_j}| + \sum_{j=1}^s |\boldsymbol{\nu}_{\tilde{\ell}_j'}| \right)} \\ &\times e^{-\frac{\xi}{4} \left(\sum_{j=1}^r |\boldsymbol{\nu}_{\tilde{\ell}_j}| + \sum_{j=1}^s |\boldsymbol{\nu}_{\tilde{\ell}_j'}| \right)}. \end{split}$$

By definition of ν it follows that:

$$e^{-\frac{\xi}{4}\left(\sum_{j=1}^{m}|\boldsymbol{\nu}_{\ell_{j}}|+\sum_{j=1}^{r}|\boldsymbol{\nu}_{\tilde{\ell}_{j}}|+\sum_{j=1}^{s}|\boldsymbol{\nu}_{\tilde{\ell}'_{j}}|\right)} \le e^{-\frac{\xi}{4}|\boldsymbol{\nu}|} \le e^{-\frac{\xi}{4}q_{n}}.$$

So, since $\widetilde{C}_1^{-1} \leq 1$, we have to prove

$$\eta^{\frac{32m+8r-25s-33+11u}{12}} \times e^{-\frac{\xi}{4} \left(\sum_{j=1}^{r} |\boldsymbol{\nu}_{\tilde{\ell}_{j}}| + \sum_{j=1}^{s} |\boldsymbol{\nu}_{\tilde{\ell}_{j}'}|\right)} \le 1.$$

This can be done in the following way: if s = 0, that implies $m + r + u \ge 3$, we have the following bound

$$\Delta_1(m,0,0,r,0,u) = \frac{32m + 8r - 33 + 11u}{12} \ge \frac{8m + u - 3}{4}.$$

Then, if $m \ge 1$ the thesis follows as

$$\eta^{\frac{32m+8r-33+11u}{12}} \times e^{-\frac{\xi}{4}\sum_{j=1}^{r} |\boldsymbol{\nu}_{\tilde{\ell}_{j}}|} \le \eta^{\frac{5}{4}} \le 1.$$

If m = 0, that means $r + u \ge 3$, and in particular $r \ge 1$ (otherwise it would be $\boldsymbol{\nu} = \mathbf{0}$) we have

$$\begin{split} \eta^{-\frac{3}{4}} &\times e^{-\frac{\xi}{4}\sum_{j=1}^{r}|\boldsymbol{\nu}_{\tilde{\ell}_{j}}|} \leq \eta^{-\frac{3}{4}}e^{-\frac{\xi}{4}|\boldsymbol{\nu}|} \leq \eta^{-\frac{3}{4}}e^{-\frac{\xi}{4}q_{n}} \\ &\leq \eta^{-\frac{3}{4}}\varepsilon^{\frac{\xi}{4C_{2}}} \leq \eta^{-\frac{3}{4}+\frac{\xi}{4C_{2}}} \leq \eta^{2} \leq 1 \end{split}$$

where we have used (A.5) and the thesis follows once again.

If $s \ge 1$, one has $\Delta_1(m, 0, 0, r, s, u) \ge -\frac{7}{2}s$. Then:

$$\eta^{\frac{32m+8r-25s-33+11u}{12}} e^{-\frac{\xi}{4} \left(\sum_{j=1}^{r} |\boldsymbol{\nu}_{\tilde{\ell}_{j}}| + \sum_{j=1}^{s} |\boldsymbol{\nu}_{\tilde{\ell}_{j}'}|\right)} \\ \leq (\eta^{-\frac{7}{2}} e^{-\frac{\xi}{4}q_{n}})^{s} \leq (\eta^{-\frac{7}{2}} \varepsilon^{\frac{\xi}{4C_{2}}})^{s} \leq (\eta^{-\frac{7}{2}+\frac{\xi}{4C_{2}}})^{s}$$

and if we request $\frac{\xi}{4C_2} \geq \frac{7}{2}$, i.e. $C_2 \leq \frac{\xi}{14}$ we obtain the wished bound. By comparing this condition on C_2 with (A.5), we finally have:

$$\begin{cases} C_2 \le \frac{\xi}{14} \\ C_2 \le \frac{\xi}{11} \end{cases} \quad \Rightarrow \quad C_2 \le \frac{\xi}{14}. \tag{A.6}$$

Then, if we take C_2 as

$$C_2 = \frac{\xi}{14},\tag{A.7}$$

both (A.2) and (A.3) are satisfied and the proof of Lemma A.2 is completed. \Box

Appendix B

Zeroes of even order

In this section we discuss what we anticipated in Remark 1.1, that is what happens when the equation $g(x) = f_0$ has zeroes of even order.

Lemma B.1. Let c be a zero of even order of the equation (1.3). Then there is no quasi-periodic solution reducing to c when ε goes to 0.

Proof. We focus on the bifurcation equation (2.6) in the case of c_0 a zero of even order of equation (1.3). As we have seen, we can rewrite the bifurcation equation as

$$[g(c_0 + \zeta + X(\cdot;\varepsilon,\zeta,c))]_{\mathbf{0}} - f_{\mathbf{0}} = g_{\mathfrak{n}}[(\zeta + X)^{\mathfrak{n}}]_{\mathbf{0}} + [O(\zeta + X)^{\mathfrak{n}+1}]_{\mathbf{0}} = 0,$$
(B.1)

where $g_{\mathfrak{n}}$ is as in (2.1) and $g_{\mathfrak{n}} \neq 0$. As usual, we denote by $[\cdot]_{\mathbf{0}}$ the Fourier component with label $\boldsymbol{\nu} = \mathbf{0}$.

Since \mathfrak{n} is even, if $\varepsilon = O(\zeta)$ then we have $|g_{\mathfrak{n}}|[(\zeta + X)^{\mathfrak{n}}]_{\mathbf{0}} \ge C\varepsilon^{\mathfrak{n}}$, for some positive constant C and $O((\zeta + X)^{\mathfrak{n}+1}) = O(\varepsilon^{\mathfrak{n}+1})$, so that (B.1) cannot be satisfied for ε small enough.

If $\varepsilon = o(\zeta)$, then

$$[(\zeta + X)^{\mathfrak{n}}]_{\mathbf{0}} = \sum_{k=0}^{\mathfrak{n}} {\mathfrak{n} \choose k} \zeta^{k} [X^{\mathfrak{n}-k}]_{\mathbf{0}} = \zeta^{\mathfrak{n}} + o(\zeta^{\mathfrak{n}}), \qquad (B.2)$$

for ε small enough. On the other hand, $O((\zeta + X)^{n+1}) = O(\zeta^{n+1})$ and hence once more there is no solution to (B.1) because of (B.2).

The case $\zeta = o(\varepsilon)$ can be discussed in a similar way.

Bibliography

- D.V. Anosov, Limit cycles in systems of differential equations with a small parameter in the highest derivatives, Math. Sb. 50 (92) (1960), no. 3, 299–334. English translation: Amer. Math. Soc. Transl. Ser. 2 33 (1963), 233–276.
- [2] A. Avila, B. Fayad, R. Krikorian, A KAM scheme for SL(2,R) cocycles with Liouvillean frequencies, Geom. Funct. Anal. 21 (2011), no. 5, 1001–1019.
- [3] F. Axisa, J. Antunes, *Fluid-structure interaction*, Elsevier, Oxford (2007).
- [4] A. Azzouz, R. Duhr, M. Hasler, Transition to chaos in a simple nonlinear circuit driven by a sinusoidal voltage source, IEEE Trans. Circuit and Systems 30 (1983), no. 12, 913–914.
- [5] A. Azzouz, R. Duhr, M. Hasler, Bifurcation diagram for a piecewise-linear circuit, IEEE Trans. Circuits and Systems 31 (1984), no. 6, 587–588.
- [6] A. Azzouz, M. Hasler, Chaos in the R-L-diode circuit, Circuit theory and design 87 (1987), 295–300.
- [7] V. Baladi, D. Smania, Linear response for smooth deformations of generic nonuniformly hyperbolic unimodal maps, Ann. Sci. Éc. Norm. Supér. (4) 45 (2012), no. 6, 861-926.
- [8] M.V. Bartuccelli, J.H.B. Deane, G. Gentile and L. Marsh. Invariant sets for the varactor equation. Prc. R. Soc. Lond. Ser. A Math. Phys. Eng. Sci. 462 (2006), 439– 457.
- [9] M.V. Bartuccelli, J.H.B. Deane, G. Gentile Globally and locally attractive solutions for quasi-periodically forced systems, J. Math. Anal. Appl. 328 (2007), no. 1, 699–714.
- [10] M.S. Berger, Y.Y. Chen, Forced quasiperiodic and almost periodic oscillations of nonlinear Duffing equations, Nonlinear Anal. 19 (1992), no. 3, 249–257.
- [11] M.S. Berger, Y.Y. Chen, Forced quasiperiodic and almost periodic solution for nonlinear systems, Nonlinear Anal. 21 (1993), no. 12, 949–965.

- [12] M.S. Berger, L. Zhang, New method for large quasiperiodic nonlinear oscillations with fixed frequencies for the nondissipative second type Duffing equation, Topol. Methods Nonlinear Anal. 6 (1995), no. 2, 283–293.
- [13] U. Bessi, An analytic counterexample to the KAM theorem, Ergodic Theory Dynam. Systems 20 (2000), no. 2, 317–333.
- [14] Yu.N. Bibikov, V.R. Bukaty, Multifrequency oscillations of singularly perturbed systems, Differ. Uravn. 48 (2012), no. 1, 21-26. English translation: Differ. Equ. 48 (2012), no. 1, 19–25.
- [15] K. B. Blyuss, Chaotic behaviour of solutions to a perturbed Korteweg-de Vries equation, Rep. Math. Phys. 49 (2002), no. 1, 29–38.
- [16] H.W. Broer, G. Vegter, Bifurcational aspects of parametric resonance, Dynam. Report. Expositions Dynam. Systems (1992), no. 1, Springer, Berlin, 1–53.
- [17] H.W. Broer, M. Golubitsky, G. Vegter, The geometry of resonance tongues: a singularity theory approach, Nonlinearity 16 (2003), no. 4, 1511–1538.
- [18] H.W. Broer, H. Hanßmann, A. Jorba, J. Villanueva, F. Wagener, Normal-internal resonances in quasi-periodically forced oscillators: a conservative approach, Nonlinearity 16 (2003), no. 5, 1751–1791.
- [19] A.D. Bryuno, Analytic form of differential equations. I, II (Russian), Trudy Moskov.
 Mat. Obšč. 25 (1971), 119–262; ibid. 26 (1972), 199–239. English translation: Trans.
 Moscow Math. Soc. 25 (1971), 131–288 (1973); ibid. 26 (1972), 199–239 (1974).
- [20] R. Calleja, A. Celletti, R. de la Llave, Construction of response functions in forced strongly dissipative systems, Discrete Contin. Dyn. Syst. 33 (2013), no. 10, 4411– 4433.
- [21] R. Calleja, A. Celletti, R. de la Llave, Domains of analyticity and Lindstedt expansions of KAM tori in some dissipative perturbations of Hamiltonian systems, Nonlinearity 30 (2017), no. 8, 3151-3202.
- [22] K.W. Chang, Almost periodic solutions of singularly perturbed systems of differential equations, J. Differential Equations 4 (1968), 300–307.
- [23] A. R. Champneys, G. W. Hunt, J. M. T. Thompson, Localization and solitary waves in solid mechanics, Philos. Trans. Roy. Soc. London Ser. A 355 (1997), no. 1732, 2077–2081.
- [24] D. N. Cheban, Asymptotically almost periodic solutions of differential equations. Hindawi Publishing Corporation, New York, (2009).

- [25] S.N. Chow, J.K. Hale, Methods of bifurcation theory, Grundlehren der Mathematischen Wissenschaften 251 (1982), Springer, New York-Berlin.
- [26] M.C. Ciocci, A. Litvak-Hinenzon, H. Broer, Survey on dissipative KAM theory including quasi-periodic bifurcation theory, London Math. Soc. Lecture Note Ser. 306 (2005), Geometric mechanics and symmetry, Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, 303–355.
- [27] W.A. Coppel, Almost periodic properties of ordinary differential equations, Ann. Mat. Pura Appl. 76 (1967), 27–49.
- [28] L. Corsi, R. Feola, G. Gentile, Domains of analyticity for response solutions in strongly dissipative forced systems, J. Math. Phys. 54 (2013), no. 12, 122701, 7 pp.
- [29] L. Corsi, R. Feola, G. Gentile, Convergent series for quasi-periodically forced strongly dissipative systems, Commun. Contemp. Math. 16 (2014), no. 3, 1350022, 20 pp.
- [30] L. Corsi, G. Gentile, Melnikov theory to all orders and Puiseux series for subharmonic solutions, J. Math. Phys. 49 (2008), no. 11, 112701, 29 pp.
- [31] C. J. de la Vallée Poussin, Integralés de Lebesgue, fonctions d'ensemble, classes de Baire, Gauthier-Villars (1916).
- [32] J.H.B. Deane, L. Marsh, Nonlinear dynamics of the RL-varactor circuit in the depletion region, International Symposium on Nonlinear Theory and its Applications (NOLTA 2004), Fukuoka, Japan (2004), 159–162.
- [33] J. H. B. Deane, L. Marsh, Unstable periodic orbit detection for ODEs with periodic forcing, Phys. Lett. 359 (2006), no. 6, 555–558.
- [34] M. Fečkan, *Bifurcation and chaos in discontinuous and continuous systems*, Higher Education Press, Beijing; Springer, Heidelberg (2011).
- [35] A.M. Fink, Almost periodic differential equations, Lecture Notes in Mathematics 377, Springer, Berlin (1974).
- [36] L. Flatto, N. Levinson, Periodic solutions of singularly perturbed systems, J. Rational Mech. Anal. 4 (1955), 943–950.
- [37] A. Figalli, J. Serra, On the fine structure of the free boundary for the classical obstacle problem, Invent. Math. 215 (2019), no. 1, 311-366.
- [38] G. Forni, Analytic destruction of invariant circles, Ergodic Theory Dynam. Systems 14 (1994), no. 2, 267–298.
- [39] G. Gallavotti, G. Gentile, A. Giuliani, Fractional Lindstedt series, J. Math. Phys. 47 (2006), no. 1, 012702, 33 pp.

- [40] R.F. Gans, *Mechanical Systems*, Springer, Heidelberg (2015).
- [41] G. Gentile, M.V. Bartuccelli, J.H.B. Deane, Summation of divergent series and Borel summability for strongly dissipative differential equations with periodic or quasiperiodic forcing terms, J. Math. Phys. 46 (2005), no. 6, 062704, 21 pp.
- [42] G. Gentile, M.V. Bartuccelli, J.H.B. Deane, Quasiperiodic attractors, Borel summability and the Bryuno condition for strongly dissipative systems, J. Math. Phys. 47 (2006), no. 7, 072702, 10 pp.
- [43] G. Gentile, Degenerate lower-dimensional tori under the Bryuno condition, Ergodic Theory Dynam. Systems 27, (2007), 427–457.
- [44] G. Gentile, Quasi-periodic motions in strongly dissipative forced systems, Ergodic Theory Dynam. Systems 30 (2010), no. 5, 1457–1469.
- [45] G. Gentile, Quasi-periodic motions in dynamical systems: review of a renormalisation group approach, J. Math. Phys. 51 (2010), no. 1, 015207, 34 pp.
- [46] G. Gentile, Construction of quasi-periodic response solutions in forced strongly dissipative systems, Forum Math. 24 (2012), 791–808.
- [47] G. Gentile, F. Vaia Response solutions for forced systems with large dissipation and arbitrary frequency vectors, J. Math. Phys. 58 (2017), 022703, 14 pp.
- [48] G. Gentile, A. Mazzoccoli, F. Vaia Forced quasi-periodic oscillations in strongly dissipative systems of any finite dimension, Commun. Contem. Math. 21 (2019), No. 7, 1850064, 22 pp.
- [49] M. Golubitsky, D. Schaeffer, Singularities and groups in bifurcation theory. Vol. I, Applied Mathematical Sciences 51, Springer-Verlag, New York (1985).
- [50] J.L. Hale, G. Seifert, Bounded and almost periodic solutions of singularly perturbed equations, J. Math. Anal. Appl. 3 (1961), 18–24.
- [51] H. Hanßmann, A Survey on Bifurcations of Invariant Tori, New Advances in Celestial Mechanics and Hamiltonian systems, Guanajuato 2001 (eds. J. Delgado et al.) Kluwer/Plenum (2004), 109–121.
- [52] H. Hanßmann, Local and Semi-Local Bifurcations in Hamiltonian Dynamical Systems Results and Examples, LNM 1893, Springer (2007).
- [53] H. Hanßmann, C. Simó, Dynamical stability of quasi-periodic response solutions in planar conservative systems, Coherent Structures in Dynamical Systems, Leiden 2011 (eds. F.J. Beron Vera et al.) Indagationes Mathematicae 23 (2012), no. 3, 151–166.

- [54] H. Hanßmann, J. Si, Quasi-periodic solutions and stability of the equilibrium for quasiperiodically forced planar reversible and Hamiltonian systems under the Bruno condition, Nonlinearity 23 (2010), no. 3, 555–577.
- [55] G.H. Hardy, E.M. Wright, An introduction to the theory of numbers, Oxford University Press, Oxford (1938).
- [56] Ch. Y. He, Existence of almost periodic solutions of perturbation systems, Ann. Differential Equations 9 (1993), no. 2, 173–181.
- [57] A. Ya. Khincin, *Continued fractions*, The University of Chicago Press, Chicago (1964).
- [58] Z. Lou, J. Geng, Quasi-periodic response solutions in forced reversible systems with Liouvillean frequencies, J. Differential Equations 263 (2017), no. 7, 3894–3927.
- [59] S. Marmi, P. Moussa, J.-C. Yoccoz, The Brjuno functions and their regularity properties, Comm. Math. Phys. 186 (1997), no. 2, 265–293.
- [60] S. Marmi, An introduction to small divisors problems, Istituti editoriali e poligrafici internazionali Pisa-Roma, (2000).
- [61] T. Matsumoto, A chaotic attractor from Chua's circuit, IEEE Trans. Circuits and Systems 31 (1984), no. 12, 1055–1058.
- [62] T. Matsumoto, M. Komuro, L. O. Chua, A chaotic attractor from an autonomous 3segment piecewise-linear circuit, The theory of dynamical systems and its applications to nonlinear problems, (1984), 194–198, World Sci. Publishing, Singapore (1984).
- [63] P. Moussa, A. Cassa, S. Marmi, Continued fractions and Brjuno functions, J. Comput. Appl. Math. 105 (1999), no. 1-2, 403–415.
- [64] W. Schmidt, *Diophantine approximations*, Springer, Berlin (1980).
- [65] N. Sidorov, B. Loginov, A. Sinitsyn, M. Falaleev, Lyapunov-Schmidt methods in nonlinear analysis and applications, Mathematics and its Applications 550, Kluwer Academic Publishers, Dordrecht (2002).
- [66] H.L. Smith, On the existence and stability of bounded almost periodic and periodic solutions of a singularly perturbed nonautonomous system, Differential Integral Equations 8 (1995), no. 8, 2125–2144.
- [67] K. J. Spyrou, J. M. T. Thompson, The nonlinear dynamics of ship motions: a field overview and some recent developments. The nonlinear dynamics of ships, R. Soc. Lond. Philos. Trans. Ser. A Math. Phys. Eng. Sci. 358 (2000), no. 1771, 1735–1760.
- [68] J.J. Stoker. Nonlinear Vibrations in Mechanical and Electrical Systems. Interscience Publishers, New York, NY, 1950.

- [69] S. Tanaka, T. Matsumoto, L. O. Chua, A chaotic attractor from a 2-segment piecewise-linear capacitor circuit, The theory of dynamical systems and its applications to nonlinear problems (Kyoto, 1984), 181–193, World Sci. Publishing, Singapore (1984).
- [70] R. Tokunaga, M. Komuro, T. Matsumoto, L. O. Chua, Lorenz attractor from an electrical circuit with uncoupled continuous piecewise-linear resistor, Internat. J. Circuit Theory Appl. 17 (1989), no. 1, 71–85.
- [71] F. Verhulst, *Periodic solutions and slow manifolds*, Internat. J. Bifur. Chaos Appl. Sci. Engrg. 17 (2007), no. 8, 2533–2540.
- [72] L. Virgin, Introduction to experimental nonlinear dynamics, Cambridge University Press, Cambridge (2000).
- [73] F. Wang, R. de la Llave, Response solutions to quasi-periodically forced systems, even to possibly ill-posed PDEs, with strong dissipation and any frequency vectors, arXiv:1907.02835.
- [74] J. Wang, J. You, Q. Zhou, Response solutions for quasi-periodically forced harmonic oscillators (English summary) Trans. Amer. Math. Soc. 369 (2017), no. 6, 4251–4274.
- [75] H. Whitney, Analytic extensions of differentiable functions defined on closed sets, TAMS 36, (1934), 1, 63–89.
- [76] R.J. Wolfe, Periodic solutions of a singularly perturbed differential system with applications to a Belousov-Zhabotinskii reaction, J. Math. Anal. Appl. 68 (1979), no. 2, 488–508.
- [77] Y. Xia, M. Lin, J. Cao, The existence of almost periodic solutions of certain perturbation systems, J. Math. Anal. Appl. 310 (2005), no. 1, 81–96.

Ringraziamenti

Vorrei ringraziare per primo il prof. Guido Gentile per avermi accompagnato con infinita pazienza in questo splendido percorso durato tre anni. La sua disponibilità, la sua grande passione per la ricerca e la sua capacità di trasmettere il sapere hanno reso possibile la stesura di questa tesi. Non lo ringrazierò mai abbastanza per non aver mai perso la fiducia in me e per avermi supportata e sopportata in tutti questi anni.

Ringrazio la mia famiglia che mi sostiene e appoggia ogni mia scelta con immenso amore.

Un ringraziamento speciale va alla mia compagna di viaggio Giulia: sei l'amica che ho sempre desiderato di trovare, grazie per tutte le risate, per tutti i caffè, per tutte le volte che mi hai consolata e sostenuta. Se sono arrivata in fondo a questo cammino è anche grazie a te.